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CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS COUNCIL MEETING - 21 
AUGUST 2018  

Director: Celia Haddock  
Director Corporate Services  

Author: Lisa King 
Manager Governance and Commercial Services 

 

PURPOSE 

To present for confirmation, the minutes of the Ordinary Council Meeting held on 21 
August 2018. 
 

ISSUES SUMMARY 

 Section 93 of the Local Government Act 1989 requires Council to keep minutes of 
each meeting of the Council and Special Committees, and for minutes to be 
submitted to the next appropriate meeting for confirmation. 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Unconfirmed Minutes of the Ordinary Council Meeting held on 21 August 2018 ⇩      
 

OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

That Council confirms the minutes of the Ordinary Council Meeting held on 21 
August 2018. 
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BACKGROUND 

The minutes of meetings remain unconfirmed until the next appropriate meeting of 
Council. 

DISCUSSION/KEY ISSUES 

1. Key Issues 

The Local Government Act 1989 requires Council to confirm its minutes at the next 
appropriate meeting. 

2. Council Policy/Legislation 

Council Plan 2017-2021 

This report contributes to Council’s strategic objectives contained in the Council Plan 
2017-2021 by considering: 

 Strong leadership - lead our changing city using strategic foresight, innovation, 
transparent decision making and well-planned, effective collaboration.  

Legislation 

Local Government Act 1989 

Conflicts of Interest 

No officer responsible for, or contributing to, this report has declared a direct or indirect 
interest in relation to this report. 

Human Rights Consideration 

This report complies with the rights listed in the Victorian Charter of Human Rights and 
Responsibilities Act 2006. 

3. Engagement 

Not applicable. 

4. Resources 

Not applicable. 

5. Environment 

Not applicable. 

CONCLUSION 

The unconfirmed minutes of the Ordinary Council Meeting held on 21 August 2018 are 
presented for confirmation. 
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to be held on 11 September, 2018 

 



 

 

 1. COMMENCEMENT OF MEETING AND WELCOME 
 

The meeting commenced at 6.31pm. 
 
The Chair, Mayor Cr Cuc Lam made the following acknowledgement statement: 
 

“We acknowledge that we are on traditional lands of the Kulin Nation.  We 
offer our respect to the Elders of these traditional lands, and through them to 
all Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples past and present”. 

 
PRESENT 
 
Mayor Councillor Cuc Lam (Chair) 
Councillor Sarah Carter 
Councillor Simon Crawford 
Councillor Catherine Cumming 
Councillor Gina Huynh 
Councillor Mia McGregor 
Councillor Martin Zakharov 

 
 
IN ATTENDANCE 
 
Chief Executive Officer, Stephen Wall 
Director Community Services, Clem Gillings 
Director Corporate Services, Celia Haddock 
Director Infrastructure Services, Steve Hamilton 
Director Planning Services, Nigel Higgins 
Manager Public Affairs and Community Relations, Deidre Anderson 
Manager Governance and Commercial Services, Lisa King 
Governance Support Officer, Adele Woolcock 
 

2. APOLOGIES 
 
Nil. 
 

3. LEAVE OF ABSENCE 
 
Nil. 
 

4. DISCLOSURES OF CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
 
Nil. 
 
 

5. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  
 
Question 
Dr Gary Au, resident of Yarraville, asked the following questions: 
 



 

 

1. What evidence-base did Council use to inform its Residential Parking Permit 
Policy 2014 to define the different numbers of residential permits allowed in its 
broad Footscray, South and Outer Residential Parking Zones? In particular, did 
the South Zone permit allocation take into consideration local parking 
pressures arising from new multi-residence sites in Yarraville? 

2. The Resident Parking Permit Policy 2014 is intended to be reviewed by Council 
in 2019. What specific parking demand and/or planning criteria need to be 
satisfied for Council to update its existing policy? In particular, what are the 
specific criteria for Council to implement no additional residential permits for 
multi-residence sites in Yarraville, given the increasing presence of these sites, 
and Yarraville’s neighbourhood character, which has many houses without 
garages? 

3. Section 9 of Phillip Boyle and Associates’ Destination Parking Management 
Report tabled by Council in February 2016 pointed out the need to define the 
number of bays in Yarraville to support the Destination Parking Management 
Policy. Similarly, to support residential parking policies, what is the specific 
process by which Council defines residential parking supply across Yarraville, 
given the lack of standardised bay definitions for areas outside the Yarraville 
Commercial Zone?  

 
Response 
The Director, Planning Services, Mr Nigel Higgins advised that when the Parking 
Policy was set in 2014, there was a different parking saturation level. Community 
consultation in 2014 provided information on the three different zones of parking, 
Footscray, Southern and Outer Residential Parking Zones. 84% of respondents to 
the community survey panel were satisfied with the level of parking permits 
provided at the time.  
 
Mr Higgins noted that since 2014, there has been extensive development which 
has had a significant impact on parking saturation. Additionally, from 1 July 2018, 
the State Government changed the planning triggers for visitor parking on 
residential, commercial or activity centres that are within 400 metres of a principal 
public transport network.  
 
When the policy is reviewed next year, Council will look at parking in Council’s 
neighbourhood, the density of residents in the neighbourhood and car ownership 
patterns in the neighbourhood. Council will be welcoming suggestions and input 
from the residents when the policy is reviewed next year.  
 
 

6. CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
 

The purpose of this report was to present for confirmation, the minutes of the 
Ordinary Council Meeting held on 24 July 2018. 
 
Council Resolution 
 
That Council confirms the minutes of the Ordinary Council Meeting held on 24 July 
2018. 
 



 

 

Moved: Cr Gina Huynh 
Seconded: Cr Martin Zakharov 
 

CARRIED 
  
7. REPORTS FROM COMMITTEES 
   

Nil. 
 

8. PETITIONS 
   

Nil. 
 

9. OFFICER REPORTS 
 

9.1. Feasibility Study - Removal of Single-Use Plastics 
 
The purpose of this report was to provide a response to Council’s resolution of 
the 22 May 2018 stating: 
 
“That Council request the Chief Executive Officer to prepare a report for the July 
2018 Ordinary Council meeting outlining a plan for the feasibility of the removal of 
single use plastics from all Council delivered or funded events and venues.” 
 
Council Resolution 
 
That Council  

1. Note the officers report 
2. Request that the Chief Executive Officer urgently undertakes the 

Feasibility Study into the removal of single use plastics from all Council 
delivered or funded events and venues 

3. Receives a report and action plan for implementation as soon as possible 
 
Moved: Cr Mia McGregor 
Seconded: Cr Catherine Cumming 
 

CARRIED 
 

9.2. RecWest Footscray Feasibility Study 
 
The purpose of this report was to inform Council of findings of the RecWest 
Footscray Feasibility Study. 
 
To endorse the Feasibility Study and seek approval to commence the next stage 
of the RecWest Footscray redevelopment.   
 
To support the coordinated development of the precinct, a precinct sports 
masterplan will also be undertaken, and to progress planning for indoor courts 
provision across the municipality it is proposed to undertake an Indoor Stadium 
Strategy.   



 

 

  
 
Council Resolution 
 
That Council: 
1. Endorse commencement of concept design stage for a new Community 

Centre at RecWest Footscray 
2. Endorse commencement of precinct sports Masterplan incorporating 

RecWest Footscray site, Shorten Reserve and Johnson Reserve 
3. Endorse commencement of a municipal wide Indoor Stadium Strategy 
 
Moved: Cr Catherine Cumming 
Seconded: Cr Simon Crawford 
 

CARRIED 
 

9.3. Investment Policy 2018 
 
The purpose of this report was to present a revised Investment Policy, which was 
last adopted by Council in August 2013. 
 
Council Resolution 
 
That Council adopts the Maribyrnong City Council Investment Policy 2018. 
 
Moved: Cr Simon Crawford 
Seconded: Cr Sarah Carter 
 

CARRIED 
 

9.4. MAV State Council Motions 
 
The purpose of this report was to present motions for submission to Municipal 
Association of Victoria (MAV) State Council Meeting on 19 October 2018. 
 
Council Resolution 
 
That Council approves motions for submission to the Municipal Association of 
Victoria’s State Council Meeting to be held on 19 October 2018 as follows: 
1. That the Municipal Association of Victoria calls on the Victorian State 

Government to develop an MOU with Local Government in relation to public 
land, its use and transfer for local government use 

2. That the Municipal Association of Victoria calls on the Victorian State 
Government to develop a funding stream for Council’s that are experiencing 
significant population growth but are not considered part of the growth areas 
(GAIC). 

3. That the Municipal Association of Victoria advocates to the Minister for Local 
Government for a review of Councillor allowances to better reflect the time 
commitment, community expectations and minimum wage values.  

4. That the Municipal Association of Victoria calls on the Victorian State 



 

 

Government to publicise a long-term plan for the development of new 
schools to meet the needs of growing communities.  

5. That the Municipal Association of Victoria advocates to the Victorian State 
Government and specifically to Minister Foley, Minister for Housing, 
Disability & Ageing, to commit a meaningful level of funding to a program to 
plan and deliver “age friendly” environments in all Local Government Areas 
and systematically reduce the isolation and loneliness experienced by a 
growing number of older Victorians. 

6. That the Municipal Association of Victoria calls upon State Government to 
commit to strategies to reduce gambling losses and harms and implements 
increased allocation of support funds to communities experiencing large 
gambling losses. 

7. That the Municipal Association of Victoria calls upon State Government to 
invest in demonstration projects which will deliver well designed, well 
connected affordable housing.   

 
Moved: Cr Catherine Cumming 
Seconded: Cr Mia McGregor 
 

CARRIED 
 

9.5. Assembly of Councillors - July 2018 
 
The purpose of this report was to receive and note the record of Assemblies of 
Councillors for July 2018. 
 
Council Resolution 
 
That Council notes the record of Assemblies of Councillors for July 2018. 
 
Moved: Cr Sarah Carter 
Seconded: Cr Gina Huynh 
 

CARRIED 
 

9.6. Delegates Report - July 2018 
 
The purpose of this report was to present the Councillor delegates’ reports for the 
period July 2018. 
 
Council Resolution 
 
That Council notes the Councillor delegates’ reports July 2018 which will be 
made available on Council’s website for the term of the current Council. 
 
Moved: Cr Simon Crawford 
Seconded: Cr Sarah Carter 
 

CARRIED 
  



 

 

10. NOTICES OF MOTION 
  

Nil. 
 

11. URGENT BUSINESS 
 
Nil.  
 

12. CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS 
 
Council Resolution 
 
That Council, in accordance with section 89(2) (d) and (h) of the Local 
Government Act 1989, close the meeting to members of the public at 7.04pm to 
consider Confidential agenda item 12.1, Proposed Property Acquisition, as it 
contains information in relation to contractual matters and any matter which 
Council considers prejudicial to Council or any person.  
  
Moved: Cr Catherine Cumming 
Seconded: Cr Martin Zakharov 
 

CARRIED 
 
CLOSURE OF PUBLIC MEETING 
 
The Chair, Mayor Cr Cuc Lam, declared the meeting closed to members of the 
public at 7.05pm for consideration of confidential agenda item 12.1.  
 
REOPENING OF PUBLIC MEETING 
 
The meeting was reopened to the public at 7.10pm. 
 
The Chair, Mayor Cr Cuc Lam, advised that in accordance with the confidential 
resolution there were no items for release to the public. 

 
13. MEETING CLOSURE 

 
The Chair, Mayor Cr Cuc Lam, declared the meeting closed at 7.10pm. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

_______________________________________ 
To be confirmed at the Ordinary Council Meeting 

to be held on 11 September, 2018. 
 

Chair, Mayor Cr Cuc Lam  
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NOTING OF THE CONFIRMED MINUTES OF SPECIAL COMMITTEES  

Director: Celia Haddock  
Director Corporate Services  

Author: Lisa King 
Manager Governance and Commercial Services 

 

PURPOSE 

To present for noting the confirmed minutes of the Council’s Special Committees 
established under section 86 of the Local Government Act 1989. 
 

ISSUES SUMMARY 

 Council has established Special Committees in accordance with section 86 of the 
Local Government Act 1989. 

 The Terms of Reference for each of the Special Committees require the minutes 
to be presented to Council for noting. 

 Minutes of Special Committees are confirmed at the next scheduled meeting of 
that Special Committee. 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Enterprise Maribyrnong Special Comm⇩ ittee Minutes 8 May 2018  
2. City Development Special Committee Minutes - 29 May 2018 ⇩      
 

OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

That Council notes the confirmed minutes of the Enterprise Maribyrnong Special 
Committee held on 8 May 2018 and the City Development Special Committee held 
on 29 May 2018. 
 
 

  



Ordinary Council Meeting - 11 September 2018 Page 13 

Agenda Item 7.1 

 

BACKGROUND 

In accordance with section 86 of the Local Government Act 1989, Council has 
established Special Committees.  As part of the Terms of Reference for the Special 
Committees, the confirmed minutes are presented to Council for noting. 

DISCUSSION/KEY ISSUES 

1 Key Issues 

The Local Government Act 1989 requires Council to confirm its minutes at the next 
appropriate meeting.  

2 Council Policy/Legislation 

Council Plan 2013-2017 

This report contributes to Council’s strategic objectives contained in the Council Plan 
2013-2017 by considering: 

 Strong leadership - lead our changing city using strategic foresight, innovation, 
transparent decision making and well-planned, effective collaboration.  

Legislation 

 Local Government Act 1989. 

Conflicts of Interest 

No officer responsible for, or contributing to, this report has declared a direct or indirect 
interest in relation to this report. 

Human Rights Consideration 

This report complies with the rights listed in the Victorian Charter of Human Rights and 
Responsibilities Act 2006. 

3. Engagement 

Not applicable. 

4. Resources 

Not applicable. 

5. Environment 

Not applicable. 
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CONCLUSION 

The confirmed minutes of the Enterprise Maribyrnong Special Committee held on 8 May 
2018 and the City Development Special Committee held on 29 May 2018, established in 
accordance with section 86 of the Act are presented to Council for noting. 
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NOTING OF CONFIRMED AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES - 24 
APRIL 2018  

Director: Celia Haddock  
Director Corporate Services  

Author: Mark Connor 
Manager Finance 

 

PURPOSE 

To present for noting the confirmed minutes of the Council’s Audit and Risk Committee 
established under section 139 of the Local Government Act 1989. 
 

ISSUES SUMMARY 

 Council has established an Audit and Risk Committee in accordance with section 
139 of the Local Government Act 1989. 

 The Terms of Reference for the Committee require the minutes to be presented to 
Council for noting. 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Audit & Risk Committee Signed Minutes - 24 April 2018 ⇩      
 

OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

That Council notes the adopted minutes of Audit and Risk Committee Meeting 
held on 24 April 2018. 
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BACKGROUND 

In accordance with section 139 of the Local Government Act 1989, Council has 
established an Audit and Risk Committee.  As part of the Terms of Reference for this 
Committee, the confirmed minutes are presented to Council for noting. 

DISCUSSION/KEY ISSUES 

1. Key Issues 

That Council notes the adopted minutes of the Audit and Risk Committee Meeting held 
on 24 April 2018. 

2. Council Policy/Legislation 

Council Plan 2017-2021 

This report contributes to Council’s strategic objectives contained in the Council Plan 
2017-2021 by considering: 

 Strong leadership - lead our changing city using strategic foresight, innovation, 
transparent decision making and well-planned, effective collaboration.  

Legislation 

Local Government Act 1989 

Conflicts of Interest 

No officer responsible for, or contributing to, this report has declared a direct or indirect 
interest in relation to this report. 

Human Rights Consideration 

This report complies with the rights listed in the Victorian Charter of Human Rights and 
Responsibilities Act 2006. 

3. Engagement 

Not applicable. 

4. Resources 

Not applicable. 

5. Environment 

Not applicable. 
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CONCLUSION 

The confirmed minutes of the Audit and Risk Committee Meeting held on 24 April 2018 
established in accordance with section 139 of the Act are presented to Council for 
noting. 
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IN-PRINCIPLE APPROVAL OF THE DRAFT 2017/2018 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND PERFORMANCE STATEMENT  

Director: Celia Haddock  
Director Corporate Services  

Author: Mark Connor 
Manager Finance 

 

PURPOSE  

To seek in-principle approval for the draft 2017/2018 Financial Statements and 
Performance Statement (the Statements), and for Council to appoint two Councillors to 
certify these statements after completion of the review by the Auditor-General. 
 

ISSUES SUMMARY 

 The Local Government Act 1989 (the Act) requires Council to approve, in-
principle, the Statements, prior to submission to the Minister for Local 
Government. 

 Council must authorise two Councillors to certify the statements in their final form 
following any changes required by the Auditor-General. 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Financial Statements 2017/2018 ⇩   
2. Performance Satement 2017/2018 ⇩      
 

OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

That Council: 

1. Approves, in-principle, Maribyrnong City Council’s 2017/2018 Financial 
Statements and Performance Statement. 

2. Appoints Councillors Carter and Crawford to certify the Financial Statements 
and Performance Statement in their final form, following any changes 
recommended, or agreed to, by the Auditor-General. 
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BACKGROUND 

Section 131 of the Act requires Council to prepare an annual report in respect of each 
financial year. 
 
The annual report must contain the following: 
 
1. A report of Council’s operations during the financial year  
2. Audited performance statement  
3. Audited financial statements  
4. A copy of the auditor’s report on the performance statement prepared under Section 

132 of the Act 
5. A copy of the auditor’s report on the financial statements under part 3 of the Audit 

Act 1997. 
 
Council cannot submit its Financial and Performance statements to the Auditor-General 
and the Minister for Local Government, unless Council has passed a resolution giving 
in-principle approval. 
 
Council must also authorise two Councillors to certify the statements once amendments 
or changes requested by the Auditor-General have been made. 

DISCUSSION/KEY ISSUES 

1. Key Issues 

The Audit and Risk Committee reviewed Council's draft Financial and Performance 
statements at its meeting held on Tuesday 21 August, 2018 focusing on: 
 
 Accounting policies and practices 
 The process used in making significant accounting estimates 
 Significant adjustments to the financial report (if any) arising from the audit 

process 
 Compliance with accounting standards and other reporting requirements 
 Consideration of the Auditor’s closing report to the Audit and Risk Committee 

and final management letter for the financial year ended 30 June 2018 
 Consideration of Local Government Performance Reporting Framework 

(LGPRF) indicators. 
 

Following this review, the Audit and Risk Committee made the following 
recommendation to Council: 
 
“That the Audit and Risk Committee, following consideration of the Draft Financial 
Statements for the year ended 30 June 2018, recommend to Council that it gives its 
“in principle agreement” to sign the Financial Statements as presented, subject to the 
inclusion of non-material and cosmetic changes following the completion of the 
external auditors review.” 
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“That the Audit and Risk Committee, following consideration of the Draft Performance 
Statement including LGPRF for the year ended 30 June 2018, recommend to Council 
that it gives its “in principle agreement” to sign the Performance Statement as presented 
subject to the inclusion of non-material and cosmetic changes following the completion 
of the external auditors review.” 

2. Council Policy/Legislation 

Council Plan 2017-2021 

This report contributes to Council’s strategic objectives contained in the Council Plan 
2017-2021, by considering: 

 Strategic Objective: 
- Strong leadership - lead our changing city using strategic foresight, 

innovation, transparent decision making and well-planned, effective 
collaboration. 

Legislation 

Council must comply with the following sections of the Act. 
 
Section 132(2) states that: 
 
“The Council, after passing a resolution giving its approval in principle to the 
performance statement and financial statements, must submit the statements to the 
auditor for reporting on the audit.” 

 
Section 132(5) states that: 

 
“The Council must ensure that the performance statement and financial 
statements, in their final form after any changes recommended or agreed by the 
auditor have been made, are certified in accordance with the regulations by— 
 
a. 2 Councillors authorised by the Council for the purposes of this subsection; 

and 
b. Any other prescribed persons." 

Conflicts of Interest 

No officer responsible for, or contributing to, this report has declared a direct or indirect 
interest in relation to this report. 

Human Rights Consideration 

This report complies with the rights listed in the Victorian Charter of Human Rights and 
Responsibilities Act 2006. 
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3. Engagement 

Not applicable. 

4. Resources 

Financial implications are outlined in the financial statements. 

5. Environment 

Not applicable. 

CONCLUSION 

The 2017/2018 Draft Financial Statements and Draft Performance Statement including 
LGPRF Indicators are presented for Council’s consideration. 
 



Maribyrnong City Council   
Ordinary Council Meeting - 11 September 2018 Page 34 

Agenda Item 9.1 - Attachment  1 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2018 
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Certification of the Financial Statements 
 
 
In my opinion the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Local 
Government Act 1989, the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014, Australian Accounting 
Standards and other mandatory professional reporting requirements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Mark Connor (MIPA)  
Principal Accounting Officer 
11 September 2018 
Footscray 

 
 
In our opinion the accompanying financial statements present fairly the financial transactions of Maribyrnong City 
Council for the year ended 30 June 2018 and the financial position of the Council as at that date.   
 
As at the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars in the 
financial statements to be misleading or inaccurate. 
 
We have been authorised by the Council and by the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 
2014 to certify the financial statements in their final form. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Simon Crawford Sarah Carter Stephen Wall 
Councillor Councillor Chief Executive Officer 
11 September 2018 
Footscray 

11 September 2018 
Footscray 

11 September 2018 
Footscray 
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Comprehensive Income Statement 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2018 
 

 Note 2018 2017 
  $'000 $'000 
Income    
Rates and charges 2.1 96,335 92,789 
Statutory fees and fines 2.2 13,868 12,742 
User fees 2.3 10,578 10,577 
Grants – operating 2.4 8,422 9,674 
Grants – capital 2.4 3,026 1,887 
Contributions - monetary 2.5 3,688 3,790 
Contributions - non monetary 2.5 268 228 
Other income 2.7 3,305 8,408 

Total income  139,490 140,095 

   
 Expenses   
 Employee costs 3.1 52,781 51,554 

Materials and services 3.2 49,298 48,870 
Depreciation and amortisation 3.3 18,581 17,902 
Bad and doubtful debts 3.4 1,900 525 
Borrowing costs 3.5 - 144 
Net loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and 
equipment 

2.6 
1,066 3,721 

Other expenses 3.6 1,414 1,822 

Total expenses   125,040 124,538 

   
 Surplus/(deficit) for the year  14,450 15,557 

   
 Other comprehensive income   
 Items that will not be reclassified to surplus or deficit in future periods 

Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) 5.1 157,265 31,083 

Total comprehensive result  171,715 46,640 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The above comprehensive income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Balance Sheet 
as at 30 June 2018 

 
 

  
Restated Restated 

 Note 2018 2017 2016 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 

Assets    
 Current assets    

 Cash and cash equivalents 4.1 71,922 17,746 32,349 
Other financial assets 4.1 18,000 54,000 32,000 
Trade and other receivables 4.1 12,798 10,664 10,643 
Inventories 4.2 6 8 11 
Other assets 4.2 1,006 1,607 1,316 

Total current assets  103,732 84,025 76,319 

    
 Non-current assets    
 Trade and other receivables 4.1 177 164 165 

Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment  5.1 1,254,446 1,104,277 1,064,239 

Total non-current assets  1,254,623 1,104,441 1,064,404 

Total assets  1,358,355 1,188,466 1,140,723 

    
 Liabilities    
 Current liabilities    
 Trade and other payables 4.3 8,429 10,735 6,860 

Trust funds and deposits 4.3 3,382 3,092 3,277 
Provisions 4.4 13,586 13,428 13,308 
Interest-bearing liabilities  - - 2,673 

Total current liabilities  25,397 27,255 26,118 

    
 Non-current liabilities    
 Provisions 4.4 991 959 993 

Total non-current liabilities  991 959 993 

Total liabilities  26,388 28,214 27,111 

    
 Net assets  1,331,967 1,160,252 1,113,612 

     
     

Equity     
Accumulated surplus  374,185 381,001 367,249 
Reserves 8.1 957,782 779,251 746,363 

Total Equity  1,331,967 1,160,252 1,113,612 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2018 
 

 
Note 

    
  

Accumulated Revaluation Other 

 
Total Surplus Reserve Reserves 

2018 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
 

     Balance at beginning of the financial 
year 

 
1,160,252 381,001 734,079 45,172 

Surplus for the year 
 

14,450 14,450 - - 
Net asset revaluation increment 

 
157,265 - 157,265 - 

Transfers to other reserves  
 

- (39,429) - 39,429 
Transfers from other reserves 

 
- 18,163 - (18,163) 

Balance at end of the financial 
year 8.1 1,331,967 374,185 891,344 66,438 

      

   
Accumulated Revaluation Other 

  
Total Surplus Reserve Reserves 

2017 
 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
Restated 

     Balance at beginning of the financial 
year 

 
1,113,612 367,249 702,996 43,367 

Surplus for the year 
 

15,557 15,557 - - 
Net asset revaluation increment 

 
31,083 - 31,083 - 

Transfers to other reserves  
 

- (31,145) - 31,145 
Transfers from other reserves 

 
- 29,340 - (29,340) 

Balance at end of the financial 
year 8.1 1,160,252 381,001 734,079 45,172 

      

Previously reported balance as at 
01/07/2016 

 
1,080,240 324,664 712,209 

 
43,367 

Correction of error 8.4 33,372 42,585 (9,213) - 

Restated balance as at 01/07/2016 
 

1,113,612 367,249 702,996 43,367 

     

 

Previously reported balance as at 
01/07/2017 

 
1,126,880 338,416 743,292 

 
45,172 

Correction of error 8.4 33,372 42,585 (9,213) - 

Restated balance as at 01/07/2017 
 

1,160,252 381,001 734,079 45,172 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2018 
 

  
2018 2017 

  
Inflows/ Inflows/ 

  
(Outflows) (Outflows) 

 
Note $'000 $'000 

Cash flows from operating activities 
   

    
Rates and charges 

 
95,779 92,976 

Statutory fees and fines 
 

11,250 11,725 
User fees 

 
11,241 11,598 

Grants - operating 
 

8,422 9,674 
Grants - capital 

 
3,026 1,887 

Contributions - monetary 
 

3,688 3,790 
Interest received 

 
2,154 1,880 

Trust funds and deposits taken 
 

3,811 2,375 
Other receipts 

 
1,418 1,136 

Net GST refund 
 

5,623 6,526 
Employee costs 

 
(52,563) (51,958) 

Materials and services 
 

(56,713) (49,507) 
Trust funds and deposits repaid 

 
(3,521) (2,560) 

Other payments 
 

(1,414) (1,822) 

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities  8.2 32,201 37,720 

    
Cash flows from investing activities 

   
    
Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 5.1 (18,153) (28,507) 
Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 

 
4,128 1,001 

Payments for investments 
 

(23,000) (36,000) 
Proceeds from sale of investments 

 
59,000 14,000 

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities 
 

21,975 (49,506) 

    
Cash flows from financing activities  

   
    
Finance costs 

 
- (144) 

Repayment of borrowings 
 

- (2,673) 

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 
 

- (2,817) 

    
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 

 
54,176 (14,603) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 
 

17,746 32,349 

    
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year  

 
71,922 17,746 

    
Financing arrangements 4.5 

  
Restrictions on cash assets 4.1 

  
 
 

 

 

The above statement of cash flow should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  
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Statement of Capital Works 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2018 
 

 
Note 2018 2017 

  
$'000 $'000 

Property 
   Buildings 
 

1,902 9,587 
Works in progress 

 
1,875 936 

Total buildings 
 

3,777 10,523 

Total property 
 

3,777 10,523 

Plant and equipment 
   Plant, machinery and equipment 
 

1,245 1,321 
Computers and telecommunications 

 
993 766 

Library books 
 

884 481 
Works in progress 

 
19 155 

Total plant and equipment 
 

3,141 2,723 

 
   Infrastructure 
   Roads 
 

2,534 2,664 
Footpaths and cycleways 

 
975 3,221 

Drainage 
 

1,446 1,172 
Recreational, leisure and community facilities 

 
1,104 524 

Waste management 
 

151 - 
Parks, open space and streetscapes 

 
122 1,433 

Off street car parks 
 

199 388 
Other infrastructure 

 
- 506 

Works in progress 
 

5,032 5,353 

Total infrastructure 
 

11,563 15,261 

 
   Total capital works expenditure 
 

18,481 28,507 

 
   Represented by: 
   New asset expenditure 
 

1,017 8,695 
Asset renewal expenditure 

 
10,411 12,018 

Asset upgrade expenditure 
 

127 1,350 
Works in progress 

 
6,926 6,444 

Total capital works expenditure 
 

18,481 28,507 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The above statement of capital works should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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OVERVIEW 
  
Introduction 
Maribyrnong City Council was established by an Order of the Governor in Council on 15 December 1994 and is a 
body corporate. The Council's main office is located at 61 Napier Street Footscray. 
 

 
Statement of compliance  
These financial statements are a general purpose financial report that consists of a Comprehensive Income 
Statement, Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows, Statement of Capital 
Works and Notes accompanying these financial statements. The general purpose financial report complies with 
the Australian Accounting Standards (AAS), other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board, the Local Government Act 1989, and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) 
Regulations 2014. 
 
Significant accounting policies 

 
Basis of accounting 
 
(a)  The accrual basis of accounting has been used in the preparation of these financial statements, whereby 

assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses are recognised in the reporting period to which they relate, 
regardless of when cash is received or paid.  

 
Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying values of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated judgements are 
based on professional judgement derived from historical experience and various other factors that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and also 
in future periods that are affected by the revision. Judgements and assumptions made by management in 
the application of AAS's that have significant effects on the financial statements and estimates relate to: 

 

 the fair value of land, buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment (refer to Note 5.1) 

 the determination of depreciation for buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment (refer to Note 5.1) 

 the determination of employee provisions (refer to Note 4.4) 
 

Unless otherwise stated, all accounting policies are consistent with those applied in the prior year. Where 
appropriate, comparative figures have been amended to accord with current presentation, and disclosure 
has been made of any material changes to comparatives.  
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Note 1 Performance against budget 
 
The performance against budget notes compare Council’s financial plan, expressed through its annual budget, 
with actual performance. The Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 requires 
explanation of any material variances. Council has adopted a materiality threshold of the lower of 10 percent or 
$2.5M where further explanation is warranted. Explanations have not been provided for variations below the 
materiality threshold unless the variance is considered to be material because of its nature. 
 
The budget figures detailed below are those adopted by Council on 20 June 2017. The Budget was based on 
assumptions that were relevant at the time of adoption of the Budget. Council sets guidelines and parameters for 
income and expense targets in this budget in order to meet Council’s planning and financial performance targets 
for both the short and long-term. The budget did not reflect any changes to equity resulting from asset 
revaluations, as their impacts were not considered predictable. 
 
These notes are prepared to meet the requirements of the Local Government Act 1989 and the Local 
Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014. 
 
1.1 Income and expenditure 
 
Income and expenditure 

    
  

Budget Actual Variance 
 

  
2018 2018 2018 

 
  

$'000 $'000 $'000 Ref 

      Income 
     Rates and charges  95,944   96,335  391  

 Statutory fees and fines  14,090   13,868   (222) 
 User fees 

 
 12,305   10,578   (1,727) 1 

Grants - operating  7,818   8,422  604   
Grants - capital  1,046   3,026   1,980  2 
Contributions - monetary -   3,688   3,688  3 

Contributions - non monetary -  268  268  4 
Net gain on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant 
and equipment 951  -   (951) 

5 

Other income  1,792   3,305   1,513  6 

Total income 133,946  139,490   5,544   

     
 

Expenses 
   

 

Employee costs  56,284   52,781   3,503  7 
Materials and services  49,651   49,298  353   
Bad and doubtful debts  2,417   1,900  517  8 
Depreciation and amortisation  17,241   18,581   (1,340)  
Net loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant 
and equipment -   1,066   (1,066) 

5 

Other expenses  1,653   1,414  239  9 

Total expenses  127,246  125,040   2,206  
 

      Surplus/(deficit) for the year  6,700   14,450   7,750  
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Note 1 Performance against budget (cont’d) 
  
(i) Explanation of material variations 
 

Ref Item Variance Explanation 

1 User fees 
A delay in activation of parking ticket machines budgeted to start in 
January 2018, and other actuals related to long term facility hire 
were allocated to other income. 

2 Grants - capital 
Additional non-recurrent grants received in advance (major road 
infrastructure grant, community sports infrastructure and living 
heritage program). 

3 Contributions - monetary 
Contributions received during the year for Open Space & 
Developer Contributions were not budgeted in 2017/18 but have 
been included in 2018/19 budget. 

4 Contributions - non monetary 
Contributed Infrastructure asset transferred to Council 
resulting from new development not budgeted. 

5 
Net loss on disposal of property, 
infrastructure, plant and 
equipment 

Net Loss is due to replacement of infrastructure asset (roads and 
footpaths). 

6 Other income 
Additional interest income on investments, other increase is 
due to WorkCover recovery, budget under user fees for long 
term facility hire. 

7 Employee costs 
Savings in WorkCover insurance premium, employee provisions, 
and vacant positions. 

8 Bad and doubtful debts 
Increase in infringement revenue. Department of Justice and 
Regulation have established Fines Victoria as a single central 
point, payment methods have been affected. 

9 Other expenses Carry forward waste bin audit to 18-19 financial year. 
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Note 1 Performance against budget (cont’d) 
 
1.2 Capital works 
 

  
Budget Actual Variance 

 
  

2018 2018 2018 
 

  
$'000 $'000 $'000 Ref 

      Property 
     Land 
 

1,250 - (1,250) 1 

Total Land  1,250  - (1,250) 
 Buildings 

 
15,965 1,902 (14,063) 2 

Works in progress -  1,875 1,875 3 

Total Buildings  15,965  3,777 (12,188) 
 Total Property  17,215  3,777 (13,438) 
 

      Plant and Equipment 
    Plant, machinery and equipment  1,705  1,245 (460) 4 

Computers and telecommunications  1,360  993 (367) 5 
Library books 850  884 34 

 Works in progress -  19 19 3 

Total Plant and Equipment  3,915  3,141 (774) 
 

 
     Infrastructure 

    Roads 
 

11,880 2,534 (9,346) 6 
Bridges 

 
180 - (180) 7 

Footpaths and cycleways  2,920  975 (1,945) 8 
Drainage 

 
480 1,446 966 9 

Recreational, leisure and community facilities -  1,104 1,104 10 
Waste management 350  151 (199) 11 
Parks, open space and streetscapes  5,671  122 (5,549) 12 
Off street car parks 400  199 (201) 13 
Other infrastructure 678  - (678) 14 
Works in progress -  5,032 5,032 3 

Total Infrastructure  22,559  11,563 (10,996) 
 

 
     Total Capital Works Expenditure  43,689  18,481 (25,208) 

 
 

     Represented by: 
    New asset expenditure  14,951  1,017 (13,934) 

 Asset renewal expenditure  21,961  10,411 (11,550) 
 Asset expansion expenditure 120  - (120) 
 Asset upgrade expenditure  6,657  127 (6,530) 
 Works in progress -  6,926 6,926 
 Total Capital Works Expenditure  43,689  18,481 (25,208) 
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Note 1 Performance against budget (cont’d) 
  
(i) Explanation of material variations 
 
Ref Item Variance Explanation 

             

1 Land Quarry park remediation work was not completed and carried forward 
to next year. Contamination works completed during the year have not 
been capitalised (expensed). 

2 Buildings Strategic Site purchase has not commenced, while other major 
building projects (Town hall Precinct, Recwest, Kingsville Tennis 
Pavilion & Church St) have commenced but not completed this year 
are included as part of work in progress (WIP). 

3 Works in progress WIP are not budgeted as a separate line item but included in the asset 
class. 

4 Plant, machinery and 
equipment 

Monitoring costs for parking sensors is expensed, no additional ticket 
machines were purchased during the year. 

5 Computers and 
telecommunications 

The non-asset related costs were expensed (Licensing & Consulting 
costs). 

6 Roads A number of projects were not finished this year. Some projects were 
deferred due to major utility works and others have been carried 
forward to next year. Drainage works were budgeted as part of the 
road reconstruction program. Other projects commenced this year and 
not completed forms part of the WIP. 

7 Bridges Pipemakers park pedestrian bridge started which is included as part of 
WIP, but not completed this financial year. Bridge renewal program is 
carried forward. 

8 Footpaths and cycleways Medway link bicycle network upgrade commenced but not completed 
this financial year and carried forward to next year. Footpath 
improvement program started included as part of WIP, while balance is 
carried forward to next year. 

9 Drainage Drainage capitalisation was budgeted as part of the road 
reconstruction program. 

10 Recreational, leisure and 
community facilities 

Playgrounds were budgeted under parks, open space and 
streetscapes. Skinner reserve airplane playground completed this 
financial year. 

11 Waste management Repairs & maintenance were expensed while unspent allocations were 
carried forward to next year.  

12 Parks, open space and 
streetscapes 

Works to be completed for Footscray Park, Hopkins St, Maribyrnong 
river edge & Quarry park. Playground actuals are included in 
recreational, leisure and community facilities. Current year’s costs are 
in WIP. Other projects have been carried forward and are due to be 
completed next year. 

13 Off street car parks Hanmer reserve car park is not going ahead due to Westgate tunnel 
and Pennell reserve car park not going ahead due to master plan to be 
completed. Bailey reserve car park completed. 

14 Other infrastructure Riverside Wharf/pontoon started included as part of WIP, while 
balance is carried forward. Savings allocated to complete the public 
toilet strategy implementation next year. 
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Note 2 Funding for the delivery of our services 
 
  

  
2018 2017 

  
  

$'000 $'000 
2.1 Rates and charges     

 

Council uses Net Annual Value (NAV) as the basis of valuation of all properties within the municipal 
district. The NAV of a property is its value of the rent at which the land might reasonably be expected 
to return. 

 
The valuation base used to calculate general rates for 2017/18 was $1,439,821,752 million (2016/17 
$1,404,861 million). The 2017/18 rate in the NAV dollar was 6.582197 (2016/17, 6.453134). 

      

 
General Rates 

  
94,129 90,034 

 
Waste management charge - additional bins 

  
894 774 

 
Supplementary rates and rate adjustments 

  
987 1,668 

 
Interest on rates and charges 

  
325 313 

 
Total rates and charges 

  
96,335 92,789 

      
 

The date of the latest general revaluation of land for rating purposes within the municipal district was 1 
January 2016, and the valuation was applied in the rating year commencing 1 July 2016/17. 

 

Annual rates and charges are recognised as revenues when Council issues annual rates notices.  
Supplementary rates are recognised when a valuation and reassessment is completed and a 
supplementary rates notice issued. 

 
   

  2.2 Statutory fees and fines 
    

 
Infringements and costs 

  
8,134 6,923 

 
Court recoveries 

  
2,498 2,566 

 
Town planning fees 

  
1,347 1,235 

 
Land information certificates 

  
87 88 

 
Permits 

  
1,617 1,738 

 
Other statutory fees 

  
185 192 

 
Total statutory fees and fines 

  
13,868 12,742 

      

 

Statutory fees and fines (including parking fees and fines) are recognised as revenue when the service 
has been provided, the payment is received, or when the penalty has been applied, whichever first 
occurs. 

      2.3 User fees 
    

 
Aged and health services 

  
624 665 

 
Leisure centre and recreation 

  
4,707 4,548 

 
Parking 

  
2,014 1,901 

 
Registration and other permits 

  
517 488 

 
Building services 

  
503 337 

 
Waste management services 

  
15 15 

 
Other fees and charges 

  
2,198 2,623 

 
Total user fees 

  
10,578 10,577 

 

 
User fees are recognised as revenue when the service has been provided or council has otherwise 
earned the income. 

      
2.4 Funding from other levels of government 

    
 

Grants were received in respect of the following : 
    

 
Summary of grants 

    
 

Commonwealth funded grants 
  

5,804 7,248 

 
State funded grants 

  
5,644 4,313 
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2018 2017 
  

  
$'000 $'000 

 
Total grants received 

  
11,448 11,561 

 
 
 

 
 
Funding from other levels of government (cont.) 
 

    
 

(a) Operating Grants 
    

 
Recurrent - Commonwealth Government 

    
 

Financial Assistance Grants - general purpose 
  

2,367 3,417 

 
Health Support Programs 

  
2,431 2,328 

 
Other 

  
- 161 

 
Recurrent - State Government 

    
 

Aged care 
  

1,226 1,044 

 
School crossing supervisors 

  
215 147 

 
Libraries 

  
573 558 

 
Maternal and child health 

  
1,058 1,059 

 
Community safety & health 

  
227 218 

 
Other 

  
89 104 

 
Total recurrent operating grants 

  
8,186 9,036 

      
 

Non-recurrent - Commonwealth Government 
  

  

 
Other 

  
- 33 

 
Non-recurrent - State Government 

    
 

Community safety & health 
  

110 126 

 
Art Festivals 

  
15 107 

 

Myer Foundation - Sustainability and Environment 
Capacity Building Grant 

  
- 100 

 
SSIP Project 

  
- 171 

 
Recyclable Collection 

  
75 - 

 
Other 

  
36 101 

 
Total non-recurrent operating grants 

  
236 638 

 
Total operating grants 

  
8,422 9,674 

      
 

(b) Capital Grants 
    

 
Recurrent - Commonwealth Government 

    
 

Roads to recovery 
  

463 535 

 
Financial Assistance Grants - local roads 

  
543 774 

 
Total recurrent capital grants 

  
1,006 1,309 

 
Non-recurrent - State Government 

    
 

Community Road Infrastructure 
  

1,000 - 

 
Community Infrastructure 

  
840 231 

 
Living Heritage Grant 

  
180 - 

 
Other 

  
- 347 

 
Total non-recurrent capital grants 

  
2,020 578 

 
Total capital grants 

  
3,026 1,887 

      

 

(c) Unspent grants received on condition that they be 
spent in a specific manner 

    
 

Balance at start of year 
  

2,311 578 

 

Received during the financial year and remained unspent at 
balance date 

  
3,767 2,311 

 
Received in prior years and spent during the financial year   (2,311) (578) 

 
Balance at year end   3,767 2,311 
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2018 2017 
  

  
$'000 $'000 

 
   

  

 

Grant income is recognised when Council obtains control of the contribution. Control is normally 
obtained upon receipt (or acquittal) or upon earlier notification that a grant has been secured. 
 
 

 
 

    2.5 Contributions 
  

  

 
Monetary 

  
3,688 3,790 

 
Non-monetary  

  
268 228 

 
Total contributions 

  
3,956 4,018 

 
 

     Contributions of non-monetary assets were received in relation to the following asset classes. 

  
 Land under roads   35 - 

 
Other infrastructure 

  
233 228 

 
Total non-monetary contributions 

  
268 228 

 
 

    
 

Monetary and non-monetary contributions are recognised as revenue when Council obtains control 
over the contributed asset.   

      2.6 Net (loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 
 

 
Proceeds of sale 

  
4,128 1,001 

 
Written down value of assets disposed (excluding WIP) 

  
(5,194) (4,722) 

 

Total net (loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, 
plant and equipment 

  

(1,066) (3,721) 

 
 

     The profit or loss on sale of an asset is determined when control of the asset has passed to the buyer. 

 
 

    2.7 Other income 
    

 
 

    
 

Interest 
  

1,887 1,690 

 
Other rent 

  
373 154 

 
Found assets 

  
- 5,582 

 
Other 

  
1,045 982 

 
Total other income 

  
3,305 8,408 

 
 

     Interest is recognised as it is earned.     

 
Other income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is 
recognised when Council gains control over the right to receive the income. 
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Note 3 The cost of delivering services 
  2018 2017 

  $'000 $'000 
3.1 Employee costs   

 
Wages and salaries 46,640 45,310 

 
WorkCover 927 1,026 

 
Superannuation 4,209 4,163 

 
Fringe benefits tax 275 305 

 
Other 730 750 

 
Total employee costs 52,781 51,554 

 
 

  
 

(b) Superannuation 
  

 
Council made contributions to the following funds: 

  
 

 
  

 
Defined benefit fund 

  

 

Employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund 
(Vision Super) 389 397 

  
389 397 

    
 

Accumulation funds 
  

 

Employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund 
(Vision Super) 2,824 2,999 

 
Employer contributions -  other funds 1,004 771 

  
3,828 3,770 

    
 

Refer to note 8.3 for further information relating to Council's superannuation obligations. 

    3.2 Materials and services 
  

 
Contract payments 27,986 29,578 

 
Building maintenance 2,674 2,436 

 
General maintenance 133 131 

 
Consultants 1,340 879 

 
Office administration 3,542 3,293 

 
Utilities 2,602 2,177 

 
Information technology 2,899 2,670 

 
Insurance 982 918 

 
Community grants 1,013 955 

 
Debt recovery infringement costs 1,801 1,861 

 
Tipping and refuse collections 4,326 3,972 

 
Total materials and services 49,298 48,870 

 
 

  3.3 Depreciation and amortisation 
   Property 3,117 3,030 

 
Plant and equipment 5,353 5,029 

 
Infrastructure 10,111 9,843 

 
Total depreciation 18,581 17,902 

 
Total depreciation and amortisation 18,581 17,902 

    

 
Refer to note 5.1 for a more detailed breakdown of depreciation and amortisation charges and 
accounting policy. 

  
  3.4 Bad and doubtful debts 

  
 

Parking fine debtors 1,900 525 

 
Total bad and doubtful debts 1,900 525 
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  2018 2017 
  $'000 $'000 

    
  

    3.5 Borrowing costs   
 Interest - Borrowings - 144 

 Total borrowing costs - 144 

    
 Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred, except where 

they are capitalised as part of a qualifying asset constructed by Council. 
  

  3.6 Other expenses   
 Auditors' remuneration - VAGO - audit of the financial statements, 

performance statement and grant acquittals 
70 50 

 Auditors' remuneration - Internal 174 167 
 Councillors' allowances 250 231 
 Operating lease rentals 904 1,009 
 Others 16 365 

 Total other expenses 1,414 1,822 

 
Note 4 Our financial position 

  2018 2017 2016 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 

4.1 Financial assets    

 
(a) Cash and cash equivalents    

 
Cash on hand                        10  10 11 

 
Cash at bank                      412  236 3,338 

 
Term deposits                71,500  17,500 29,000 

 
Total cash and cash equivalents                71,922  17,746  32,349 

 
    

 
(b) Other financial assets    

 
Term deposits at amortized cost - current                18,000  54,000 32,000 

 
Total other financial assets                18,000  54,000 32,000 

 
Total financial assets                89,922  71,746 64,349 

  
   

 

Council’s cash and cash equivalents are subject to external restrictions that limit 
amounts available for discretionary use. These include: 

 

   

 
 Trust funds and deposits (Note 4.3) 3,382 3,092 3,277 

  Developer contributions (Note 8.1) 1,971 1,930 2,871 

 
Total restricted funds 5,353 5,022 6,148 

 

Total unrestricted cash and cash 
equivalents  

66,569 12,724 26,201 

 
    

 
Intended allocations    

 

Although not externally restricted the following amounts have been allocated for specific future 
purposes by Council: 
 

 

 Cash held to fund carried forward and 
future capital works (Note 8.1) 

49,891 32,734 34,485 

 
 Grants received in advance (Note 8.1) 3,767 2,311 578 

 
 Mausoleum trust (Note 8.1) 574 574 574 

 
 Open space contributions (Note 8.1) 10,235 7,623 4,859 
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  2018 2017 2016 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 

 
 Long service leave liability (Note 4.4) 9,129 8,875 8,680 

 
 Annual leave liability (Note 4.4) 4,645 4,662 4,767 

 
 Gratuity liability (Note 4.4) 803 850 854 

 
Total funds subject to intended allocations 79,044 57,629 54,797 

 
    

 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits at call, and other highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of 90 days or less, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 

   

 

Other financial assets are valued at fair value, at balance date. Term deposits are measured at original 
cost. Any unrealised gains and losses on holdings at balance date are recognised as either a revenue 
or expense. 

   

 
(c) Trade and other receivables    

  
   

 
Current    

 
Statutory receivables    

 
Rates debtors 3,977 3,434 3,933 

 
Infringement debtors 16,353 13,736 12,719 

 
Provision for doubtful debts -infringements (10,799) (8,900) (8,375) 

 Net GST receivable 1,404 1,408 1,404 

 
Non-statutory receivables    

 
Other debtors 1,863 986 962 

 
Total current trade and other receivables 12,798 10,664 10,643 

 
Non-current    

 
Statutory receivables    

 
Deferred rates debtors 177 164 165 

 

Total non-current trade and other 
receivables 

177 164 165 

 
Total trade and other receivables 12,975 10,828 10,808 

  
   

 

Short term receivables are carried at invoice amount. A provision for doubtful debts is recognised when 
there is objective evidence that an impairment has occurred. Long term receivables are carried at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

  
   

 
(a) Ageing of Receivables 

  
 

 

The ageing of the Council's trade & other receivables (excluding statutory receivables) 
that are not impaired was: 

 

 
Current (not yet due) 1,766 789 238 

 
Past due by up to 30 days 21 55 489 

 
Past due between 31 and 180 days 15 - 10 

 
Past due between 181 and 365 days 39 115 - 

 
Past due by more than 1 year 22 27 225 

 
Total trade & other receivables 1,863 986 962 

  
   

4.2 Non-financial assets    

 
(a) Inventories    

 
Inventories held for sale – at cost 6 8 11 

 
Total inventories 6 8 11 

 
 

  
 

 
Inventories held are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  

 
 

  
 

 
(b) Other assets 
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  2018 2017 2016 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 

 
Prepayments 774 1,108 940 

 
Accrued income 232 499 376 

 
Total other assets 1,006 1,607 1,316 

     
     
     

     

     
4.3 Payables    

 
(a) Trade and other payables    

 
    

 
Trade payables 6,528 8,424 4,695 

 
Accrued expenses 1,901 2,311 2,165 

 
Total trade and other payables 8,429 10,735 6,860 

 
    

 
(b) Trust funds and deposits    

 
    

 
Refundable deposits 2,148 1,839 1,954 

 
Fire services levy 781 773 871 

 
Retention amounts 138 151 151 

 
Other refundable deposits 315 329 301 

 
Total trust funds and deposits 3,382 3,092 3,277 

 
Amounts received as deposits and retention amounts controlled by Council are recognised as trust funds until 
they are returned, transferred in accordance with the purpose of the receipt, or forfeited. Trust funds that are 
forfeited, resulting in council gaining control of the funds, are to be recognised as revenue at the time of forfeit. 
 
Purpose and nature of items 
Refundable deposits - Deposits are taken by council as a form of surety in a number of circumstances, including 
in relation to building works, tender deposits, contract deposits and the use of civic facilities. 
 
Fire Service Levy - Council is the collection agent for fire services levy on behalf of the State Government. 
Council remits amounts received on a quarterly basis. Amounts disclosed here will be remitted to the state 
government in line with that process. 
 
Retention Amounts - Council has a contractual right to retain certain amounts until a contractor has met certain 
requirements or a related warrant or defect period has elapsed. Subject to the satisfactory completion of the 
contractual obligations, or the elapsing of time, these amounts will be paid to the relevant contractor in line with 
Council's contractual obligations. 
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Employee 

  
$’000 

4.4 Provisions  

 
2018  

 
Balance at beginning of the financial year 14,387 

 
Additional provisions 5,057 

 
Amounts used (4,856) 

 
Change in the discounted amount arising because of time and the effect of any 
change in the discount rate (11) 

 
Balance at the end of the financial year 14,577 

   

 
2017  

 
Balance at beginning of the financial year 14,301 

 
Additional provisions 4,497 

 
Amounts used (4,249) 

 
Change in the discounted amount arising because of time and the effect of any 
change in the discount rate (162) 

 
Balance at the end of the financial year 14,387 

 
  2018 2017 2016 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 
 (a) Employee provisions    

 
Current provisions expected to be wholly 
settled within 12 months 

   

 
Annual leave 3,343 3,295 3,366 

 
Retirement gratuity 48 46 50 

 
Long service leave 1,070 1,021 955 

 
 4,461 4,362 4,371 

 
Current provisions expected to be wholly 
settled after 12 months 

   

 
Annual leave 1,302 1,367 1,401 

 
Retirement gratuity 755 804 804 

 
Long service leave 7,068 6,895 6,732 

 
 9,125 9,066 8,937 

 
Total current employee provisions 13,586 13,428 13,308 

 
    

 
Non-current     

 
Long service leave 991 959 993 

 
Total non-current employee provisions 991 959 993 

 
Aggregate carrying amount of employee 
provisions: 

   

 
Current 13,586 13,428 13,308 

 
Non-current 991 959 993 

 
Total aggregate carrying amount of employee 
provisions 14,577 14,387 14,301 

 
The calculation of employee costs and benefits includes all relevant on-costs and are calculated as follows 
at reporting date. 
 
Wages and salaries and annual leave 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulated sick 
leave expected to be wholly settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in the provision 
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for employee benefits in respect of employee services up to the reporting date, classified as current 
liabilities and measured at their nominal values. 
 
Liabilities that are not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in 
the provision for employee benefits as current liabilities, measured at the present value of the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time 
of settlement. 
 
Long service leave  
Liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. LSL is measured 
at present value. Unconditional LSL is disclosed as a current liability. Conditional LSL that has been 
accrued, where an employee is yet to reach a qualifying term of employment, is disclosed as a non - current 
liability. 
 

 2018 2017 
 $'000 $'000 
Key assumptions:   

 discount rate 2.65% 2.61% 

 inflation rate 2.50% 2.50% 

 settlement rate 16 yrs 16 yrs 

   
4.5 Financing arrangements   
 The Council has the following funding arrangements in place as at 30 June. 
 Bank overdraft 200 200 
 Business card facilities 150 150 

 Total facilities 350 350 

    
 Used facilities   
     Bank overdraft - - 
     Business card facilities (35) (39) 

 Total used facilities (35) (39) 

 Unused facilities 315 311 
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4.6  Commitments      
The Council has entered into the following commitments. Commitments are not recognised in the Balance Sheet. Commitments are disclosed at their nominal value and 
presented inclusive of the GST payable. 

2018 
Not later than 1 

year 

Later than 1 year 
and not later than 2 

years 

Later than 2 years 
and not later than 5 

years Later than 5 years Total 

 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Operating 
     Cleaning contracts for council buildings                     1,038                         686                      1,670                             -                        3,394  

Tree Maintenance                        862                             -                               -                               -                           862  
Courier Services                          18                             -                               -                               -                             18  
IT Services                        644                         216                           71                             -                           931  
Co-generation                          91                           91                         272                         234                         688  
Operations & maintenance of Footscray Cemetery                        237                             -                               -                               -                           237  
Library management system                          72                           24                             -                               -                             96  
Hardware rentals                        223                           95                           75                             -                           393  
Consultancies                        957                         130                           76                             -                        1,163  
Other                          82                           68                           32                             -                           182  

Total                     4,224                      1,310                      2,196                         234                      7,964  

 
     Capital 
     Buildings                     5,800                      1,651                             -                               -                        7,451  

Plant & equipment                     1,303                         263                         353                             -                        1,919  
Roads                        211                             -                               -                               -                           211  
Street trees                        616                             -                               -                               -                           616  

Total                     7,930                      1,914                         353                             -                     10,197  
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2017 
Not later than 1 

year 

Later than 1 year 
and not later than 2 

years 

Later than 2 years 
and not later than 5 

years Later than 5 years Total 

 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Operating 
     Cleaning contracts for council buildings                        320                             -                               -                               -                           320  

Tree Maintenance                        926                             -                               -                               -                           926  
Courier Services                          47                           16                             -                               -                             63  
IT Services                        830                         367                              2                             -                        1,199  
Co-generation                          82                           82                         248                        296                         708  
Operations & maintenance of Footscray Cemetery                        258                         215                             -                               -                           473  
Library management system                          36                              6                            -                               -                             42  
Hardware rentals                          95                           90                         154                             -                           339  
Consultancies                        325                         157                              9                            -                           491  
Other                          38                           16                             -                               -                             54  

Total                     2,957                         949                         413                         296                      4,615  

 
     Capital 
     Buildings                        203                           39                             -                               -                           242  

Plant & equipment                        263                         157                         316                             -                           736  
Street trees                        579                         560                             -                               -                        1,139  

Total                     1,045                         756                         316                             -                        2,117  
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2018 2017 

Operating lease commitments $'000 $'000 
   

At the reporting date, the Council had the following obligations under non-cancellable operating leases for the 
lease of equipment and land and buildings for use within Council's activities (these obligations are not 
recognised as liabilities): 

 
   

 
Not later than one year                        998  1,029  

 
Later than one year and not later than five years                     3,446  3,411  

 
Later than five years                       7,160  6,897  

 
                     11,604  11,337  

    
Lease payments for operating leases are required by the accounting standard to be recognised on a straight 
line basis, rather than expensed in the years in which they are incurred. 
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Note 5 Assets we manage 
  
5.1 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 

 Summary of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 
  
  At Fair Value 

30 June 2017 
- restated 

Additions Contributions Revaluation Depreciation Disposal Transfers At Fair Value 
30 June 2018 

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 
         

 
Property 737,098 1,902 35 157,265 (3,117) (3,855) 131 889,459 

 
Plant and equipment 9,165 3,122 - - (5,353) (332) - 6,602 

 
Infrastructure 350,013 6,531 233 - (10,111) (1,007) 2,870 348,529 

 
Work in progress 8,001 6,926 - - - (2,070) (3,001) 9,856 

  
1,104,277 18,481 268 157,265 (18,581) (7,264) - 1,254,446 

 
 
 
 

Summary of Work in Progress Opening WIP Additions Write-off Transfers Closing WIP 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 

     Property                      1,200                    1,875                       (115)                     (131)                  2,829  
Plant and equipment                         155                          19                       (155)                           -                           19  
Infrastructure                      6,646                    5,032                   (1,800)                  (2,870)                  7,008  

Total                       8,001                     6,926                   (2,070)                  (3,001)                   9,856  
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Asset recognition thresholds and depreciation periods 
 Depreciation 

Period 
Threshold 

Limit 

  

$'000 

Property 
 

 

   land n/a                   20  

   land improvements 10-25 years                   20  

   buildings 50-100 years                   10  

   heritage buildings 100 years                   20  

   building improvements 10-25 years                   10  

   leasehold improvements 1-20 years                   20  

Plant and Equipment  

   plant, machinery and equipment 2-10 years                     5  

   computers and telecommunications 3-10 years                     5  

   library books 1-10 years                     5  

Infrastructure  

   road pavements and seals 13-25 years                   10  

   road substructure 50-80 years                   10  

   road kerb, channel and minor culverts 50 years                   10  

   bridges 50-100 years                   10  

   footpaths and cycle ways 50 years                   10  

   drainage 30-100  years                   10  

   recreational, leisure and community facilities 5-50 years                   10  

   waste management 3 years                   10  

   parks, open space and streetscapes 5-40 years                   10  

   off street car parks 20-80  years                   10  
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(a) Property 
 

 

Land - 
specialised 

Land - non 
specialised 

Land 
under 
roads 

Total Land 
Heritage 

buildings 
Buildings - 
specialised 

Buildings - 
non 

specialised 

Leasehold 
improveme

nts 

Total 
Buildings 

Work In 
Progress 

Total 
Property 

 
$'000 

 
$'000 $'000 

  
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

At fair value 1 July 2017 
(previously reported) 

389,352 122,750 513 512,615 47,401 231,033 9,413 1,227 289,074 1,200 802,889 

Correction of error  
(note 8.4) 

39,758 (6,386) - 33,372 - - - - - - 33,372 

At fair value 1 July 2017 
(Restated) 

429,110 116,364 513 545,987 47,401 231,033 9,413 1,227 289,074 1,200 836,261 

Accumulated depreciation 
at 1 July 2017 

- - - - (25,460) (66,776) (4,689) (1,038) (97,963) - (97,963) 

 
429,110 116,364 513 545,987 21,941 164,257 4,724 189 191,111 1,200 738,298 

Movements in fair value            

Additions - - - - 128 1,756 - 18 1,902 1,875 3,777 
Contributions - - 35 35 - - - - - - 35 
Revaluation 96,048 77,545 - 173,593 (1,375) (424) (548) - (2,347) - 171,246 
Disposal (2,269) - - (2,269) - (3,335) (43) - (3,378) (115) (5,762) 

Transfers - - - - - 131 - - 131 (131) - 

 
93,779 77,545 35 171,359 (1,247) (1,872) (591) 18 (3,692) 1,629 169,296 

Movements in 
accumulated depreciation 

           

Depreciation & amortisation - - - - (455) (2,355) (118) (189) (3,117) - (3,117) 
Accumulated depreciation 
of disposals 

- - - - - 1,780 12 - 1,792 - 1,792 

Revaluation - - - - 7,109 (20,105) (985) - (13,981) - (13,981) 

 
- - - - 6,654 (20,680) (1,091) (189) (15,306) - (15,306) 

 
           

At fair value 30 June 2018 522,889 193,909 548 717,346 46,154 229,161 8,822 1,245 285,382 2,829 1,005,557 
Accumulated depreciation 
at 30 June 2018 

- - - - (18,806) (87,456) (5,780) (1,227) (113,269) - (113,269) 

 
522,889 193,909 548 717,346 27,348 141,705 3,042 18 172,113 2,829 892,288 
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(b) Plant and Equipment 
 

 

Plant machinery and 
equipment 

Computers and 
telecomms 

Library books Work In Progress 
Total plant and 

equipment 

 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

At fair value 1 July 2017 10,457 11,475 2,926 155 25,013 
Accumulated depreciation at 1 July 2017 (6,240) (7,670) (1,783) - (15,693) 

 
4,217 3,805 1,143 155 9,320 

Movements in fair value 
     Additions 1,245 993 884 19 3,141 

Disposal (1,666) (305) - (155) (2,126) 

 
(421) 688 884 (136) 1,015 

Movements in accumulated depreciation 
     Depreciation and amortisation (1,140) (3,804) (409) - (5,353) 

Accumulated depreciation of disposals 1,359 280 - - 1,639 

 
219 (3,524) (409) - (3,714) 

      At fair value 30 June 2018 10,036 12,163 3,810 19 26,028 
Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2018 (6,021) (11,194) (2,192) - (19,407) 

 
4,015 969 1,618 19 6,621 
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(c) Infrastructure 
 

 

Roads Bridges 
Footpaths 

and 
cycleways 

Drainage 

Recreationa
l, leisure 

and 
community 

Waste 
Management 

Parks open 
spaces and 

streetscapes 

Off street 
car parks 

Other 
Infrastructure 

Work In 
Progress 

Total 
Infrastructure 

 
 $'000   $'000   $'000   $'000   $'000   $'000   $'000   $'000   $'000   $'000   $'000  

At fair value 1 July 2017 254,469 3,059 76,712 196,115 7,314 186 4,450 14,978 5,912 6,646 569,841 
Accumulated 
depreciation at 1 July 
2017 

(95,911) (1,475) (33,484) (70,996) (3,288) (170) (1,015) (4,501) (2,342) - (213,182) 

 
158,558 1,584 43,228 125,119 4,026 16 3,435 10,477 3,570 6,646 356,659 

Movements in fair value           

Additions 2,534 - 975 1,446 1,104 151 122 199 - 5,032 11,563 
Contributions 154 - 21 58 - - - - - - 233 
Disposal (1,343) - (824) (210) - - - (8) - (1,800) (4,185) 
Transfers 1,834 - 829 14 17 - 38 138 - (2,870) - 

 
3,179 - 1,001 1,308 1,121 151 160 329 - 362 7,611 

Movements in accumulated  
depreciation 

         

Depreciation and 
amortisation 

(5,361) (49) (1,566) (1,593) (503) (16) (197) (187) (639) - (10,111) 

Accumulated 
depreciation of 
disposals 

848 - 422 99 - - - 9 - - 1,378 

 
(4,513) (49) (1,144) (1,494) (503) (16) (197) (178) (639) - (8,733) 

 
           

At fair value 30 June 
2018 

257,648 3,059 77,713 197,423 8,435 337 4,610 15,307 5,912 7,008 577,452 

Accumulated 
depreciation at 30 June 
2018 

(100,424) (1,524) (34,628) (72,490) (3,791) (186) (1,212) (4,679) (2,981) - (221,915) 

 
157,224 1,535 43,085 124,933 4,644 151 3,398 10,628 2,931 7,008 355,537 
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Acquisition 
The purchase method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of assets, being the fair value of assets provided 
as consideration at the date of acquisition plus any incidental costs attributable to the acquisition. Fair value is 
the price that would be received to sell an asset (or paid to transfer a liability) in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date.  
 
Where assets are constructed by Council, cost includes all materials used in construction, direct labour, 
borrowing costs incurred during construction, and an appropriate share of directly attributable variable and fixed 
overheads.  
 
In accordance with Council's policy, the threshold limits have applied when recognising assets within an 
applicable asset class and unless otherwise stated are consistent with the prior year. 
 
Land under roads  
Council recognises land under roads it controls at fair value for all acquisitions after 1 July 2008.  
 
Depreciation and amortisation 
Buildings, land improvements, plant and equipment, infrastructure, and other assets having limited useful lives 
are systematically depreciated over their useful lives to the Council in a manner which reflects consumption of 
the service potential embodied in those assets. Estimates of remaining useful lives and residual values are made 
on a regular basis with major asset classes reassessed annually. Depreciation rates and methods are reviewed 
annually. 
 
Where assets have separate identifiable components that are subject to regular replacement, these components 
are assigned distinct useful lives and residual values and a separate depreciation rate is determined for each 
component. Straight line depreciation is charged based on the residual useful life as determined each year. 
Depreciation periods used are listed below and are consistent with the prior year unless otherwise stated. 
 
Repairs and maintenance  
Where the repair relates to the replacement of a component of an asset and the cost exceeds the capitalisation 
threshold the cost is capitalised and depreciated. The carrying value of the replaced asset is expensed.  
 
Leasehold improvements 
Leasehold improvements are recognised at cost and are amortised over the unexpired period of the lease or the 
estimated useful life of the improvement, whichever is the shorter. At balance date, leasehold improvements are 
amortised over a 1 to 20 year period. 
 
Valuation of land and buildings  
 
Valuation of land and buildings were undertaken by a qualified independent valuer Jesse Cranfield, registration 
no. 3878. The valuation of land and buildings is at fair value, being market value based on highest and best use 
permitted by relevant land planning provisions. Where land use is restricted through existing planning provisions 
the valuation is reduced to reflect this limitation. This adjustment is an unobservable input in the valuation. The 
adjustment has no impact on the comprehensive income statement. 
 
Specialised land is valued at fair value using site values adjusted for englobo (undeveloped and/or un-serviced) 
characteristics, access rights and private interests of other parties and entitlements of infrastructure assets and 
services. This adjustment is an unobservable input in the valuation. The adjustment has no impact on the 
comprehensive income statement. 
 
Any significant movements in the unobservable inputs for land and land under roads will have a significant 
impact on the fair value of these assets. 
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The date of the current valuation is detailed in the following table. 
 
Details of the Council’s land and buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 30 June 2018 are 
as follows: 
 

 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Date of 

Valuation 

Land - 193,909 522,889 Jun-18 
Land under roads - - 548 

 
Heritage Buildings - - 27,348 Jun-18 
Buildings - 3,042 141,705 Jun-18 
Leasehold improvements - - 18 

 
Total - 196,951 692,508 

 
 
Valuation of infrastructure 
     
Valuation of infrastructure assets has been determined in accordance with an internal valuation overseen by the 
Mr. Sam Ortisi (Graduate Diploma - Electrical Engineering and Quality Management).The date of the current 
valuation is detailed in the following table. 
 
The valuation is at fair value based on replacement cost less accumulated depreciation as at the date of 
valuation. 
 
Details of the Council’s infrastructure and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 30 June 2018 are as 
follows: 
 

 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Date of 
Valuation 

Roads - - 157,224 Jun-15 
Bridges - - 1,535 Jun-15 
Footpaths and cycleways - - 43,085 Jun-15 
Drainage - - 124,933 Jul-17 
Recreational, leisure and 
community facilities 

- - 4,644 
 

Waste management - - 151 
 

Parks, open space and 
streetscapes 

- - 3,398 
 

Off street car parks - - 10,628 Jun-16 
Other infrastructure - - 2,931 

 
Total - - 348,529 

  
Description of significant unobservable inputs into level 3 valuations     
     
Specialised land and land under roads is valued using a market based direct comparison technique.  
Significant unobservable inputs include the extent and impact of restriction of use and the market cost of land per 
square metre. The extent and impact of restrictions on use varies and results in a reduction to surrounding land 
values between 0% and 95%. The market value of land varies significantly depending on the location of the land 
and the current market conditions. Currently land values range between $3 and $2,324 per square metre.   
    
Specialised buildings are valued using a depreciated replacement cost technique. Significant unobservable 
inputs include the current replacement cost and remaining useful lives of buildings. Current replacement costs is 
calculated on a square metre basis and ranges from $350 to $28,930 per square metre. The remaining useful 
lives of buildings are determined on the basis of the current condition of buildings and vary from 50 years to 250 
years. Replacement cost is sensitive to changes in market conditions, with any increase or decrease in cost 
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flowing through to the valuation. Useful lives of buildings are sensitive to changes in expectations or 
requirements that could either shorten or extend the useful lives of buildings.     
     
Infrastructure assets are valued based on the depreciated replacement cost. Significant unobservable inputs 
include the current replacement cost and remaining useful lives of infrastructure. The remaining useful lives of 
infrastructure assets are determined on the basis of the current condition of the asset and vary from 5 years to 
100 years. Replacement cost is sensitive to changes in market conditions, with any increase or decrease in cost 
flowing through to the valuation. Useful lives of infrastructure are sensitive to changes in use, expectations or 
requirements that could either shorten or extend the useful lives of infrastructure assets.   
  

 

2018 2017 
Reconciliation of specialised land $'000 $'000 
 Land - specialised                   522,889                   429,110  
 Land under roads                           548                           513  

Total specialised land                  523,437                   429,623  

 
 
  



Maribyrnong City Council   
Ordinary Council Meeting - 11 September 2018 Page 67 

Agenda Item 9.1 - Attachment  1 

 

Note 6 People and relationships 
 

    2018  2017 
  No.  No. 
6.1 Council and key management remuneration 

    
        
 

(a) Related Parties 
     

        
 

Parent entity 
      

 
Maribyrnong City Council is the parent entity. 

    
        

 

Subsidiaries and 
Associates 

     
 

Maribyrnong City Council is a single entity. 
    

        
 

(b) Key Management Personnel 
    

 

Details of persons holding the position of Councillor or other members of key management personnel at 
any time during the year are: 

  

 
Councillors 

 
Mayor, Cuc Lam (Mayor from November 2017) 

  
   

Sarah Carter (Mayor up to November 2017) 
  

   
Simon Crawford 

    
   

Catherine Cumming 
    

   
Gina Huynh 

    
   

Mia McGregor 
    

   
Martin Zakharov 

    
        
 

Total Number of Councillors 
 

7 
 

11 

 
Chief Executive Officer and other Key Management Personnel 

 
6 

 
5 

 
Total Key Management Personnel 

 
13  

 
16 

        
 

(c) Remuneration of Key Management Personnel 
    

     
2018 

 
2017 

   
$'000 

 
$'000 

 Total remuneration of key management personnel was as follows:     

 
Short-term benefits 

  
1,684 

 
1,504 

 
Long-term benefits 

 
322 

 
414 

 
Total 

   
2,006 

 
1,918 

        

 

The numbers of key management personnel whose total remuneration from Council and any related 
entities, fall within the following bands: 

        
 

$1 - $9,999 
  

- 
 

3 

 
$10,000 - $19,999 

  
- 

 
4 

 
$20,000 - $29,999 

  
5 

 
3 

 
$40,000 - $49,999 

  
1 

 
- 

 
$60,000 - $69,999 

  
1 

 
1 

 
$160,000 - $169,999 

  
1 

 
- 

 
$230,000 - $239,999 

  
1 

 
2 

 
$240,000 - $249,999 

  
1 

 
2 

 
$250,000 - $259,999 

  
2 

 
- 

 
$310,000 - $319,999 

  
- 

 
1 

 
$320,000 - $329,999 

  
1 

 
- 

     
13 

 
16 
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    2018  2017 
  No.  No. 

 
 
 
 

 
(d) Senior Officer Remuneration 

    
 

     

 

A Senior Officer is an officer of Council, other than Key 
Management Personnel, who:  

    

 

a) has management responsibilities and reports directly to the Chief 
Executive; or 

    

 
b) whose total annual remuneration exceeds $145,000     

 
       

 

The number of Senior Officers are shown below in their relevant 
income bands: 

 

   
     

   

 
Income Range: 

  
   

 
$145,000 - $149,999 

  
5 

 
6 

 
$150,000 - $159,999 

  
3 

 
11 

 
$160,000 - $169,999 

  
9 

 
9 

 
$170,000 - $179,999 

  
7 

 
2 

 
$180,000 - $189,999 

  
- 

 
1 

    
24 

 
29 

             2018  2017 
     $'000  $'000 

 

Total Remuneration for the reporting year for Senior Officers 
included above, amounted to: 

 

    Short-term benefits  3,928  3,893 
 Long-term benefits  1,081  1,001 

 Total  5,009  4,894 

  
6.2 Related party disclosure 
 
(a) During the year, a legal firm of which the partner of a Councillor is a Principal lawyer, was engaged to provide 
legal services to the Council in respect of enterprise agreement interpretation. Procurement of the services was 
not subject to a tender or minimum quotation process on the basis that legal services are exempt from public 
tender requirements under the Local Government Act. The transactions with related parties were on ordinary 
commercial terms. 
 

Transaction Type 
Nature of transactions 

(on normal commercial terms) 
Transaction 

Amount ($'000) 
Relationship to 

Council 
Supplier Payment Enterprise Agreement Interpretation 63 Councillor - Partner 

 

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties    

There are no known outstanding balances with the related parties other than leave accruals for Key Management 

Personal.   

 

(c) Loans to/from related parties   

There are no known loans to/from council with the related parties.  

  

(d) Commitments to/from related parties   

There are no known commitments to/from council with the related parties.    
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Note 7 Managing uncertainties 
 
7.1 Contingent assets and liabilities 

 
(a) Contingent assets 
 
The only anticipated contingent assets for Council are contributed assets including roads, drains, 
footpaths and parks which may be created in the approval and construction of large scale residential 
developments. On completion of the development they are donated to the Council for ongoing 
maintenance and replacement. Contributed assets are valued at their current replacement cost.  
    
Contributed assets that may be received in 2018/2019 (subject to unknown developments) are unknown 
at this time and are not recognised in this financial report. The contributed assets in 2017/18 were 
$268K and $ 228K in 2016/2017 (note 2.5).     
 
Operating lease receivables 
The Council has entered into commercial property leases on its property, consisting of surplus freehold 
office complexes. These properties held under operating leases have remaining non-cancellable lease 
terms of between 1 and 20 years. Leases include a CPI based revision of the rental charge annually. 
    
Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:  
  

 2018 2017 
 $'000 $'000 
Not later than one year 422 234 
Later than one year and not later than five years 1,409 414 
Later than five years 1,424 584 

 3,255 1,232 

 
(b) Contingent liabilities  
 
Superannuation  
Council has obligations under a defined benefit superannuation scheme that may result in the need to 
make additional contributions to the scheme, matters relating to this potential obligation are outlined 
below. As a result of the volatility in financial markets the likelihood of making such contributions in 
future periods exists.     
    
At this point in time it is not known if additional contributions will be required, their timing or potential 
amount.    
 

7.2 Change in accounting standards 
 

The following new AAS's have been issued that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2018 reporting 
period.  Council has assessed these pending standards and has identified the following potential 
impacts will flow from the application of these standards in future reporting periods.    
 Financial Instruments - Disclosures (AASB 7) (applies 2018/19)    
This Standard requires entities to provide disclosures in their financial statements that enable users to 
evaluate: (a) the significance of financial instruments for the entity’s financial position and performance; 
and (b) the nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments to which the entity is exposed.
    
Financial Instruments (AASB 9) (applies 2018/19)    
The key changes include the simplified requirements for the classification and measurement of financial 
assets, a new hedging accounting model and a revised impairment loss model to recognise impairment 
losses earlier, as opposed to the current approach that recognises impairment only when incurred.
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Revenue from contracts with customers (AASB 15) (applies 2019/20 for LG sector)   
The standard shifts the focus from the transaction-level to a contract-based approach. Recognition is 
determined based on what the customer expects to be entitled to (rights and obligations), while 
measurement encompasses estimation by the entity of the amount expected to be entitled for 
performing under the contract.  The full impact of this standard is not known however it is most likely to 
impact where contracts extend over time, where there are rights and obligations that may vary the 
timing or amount of the consideration, or where there are multiple performance elements.  This has the 
potential to impact on the recognition of certain grant income.     
 
 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferral of AASB 15 for Not-for-Profit Entities 
(AASB 2016-7) (applies 2019/20)    
 This Standard defers the mandatory effective date of AASB 15 for not-for-profit entities from 1 
January  
2018 to 1 January 2019.    
 
Leases (AASB 16) (applies 2019/20)    
The classification of leases as either finance leases or operating leases is eliminated for lessees. 
Leases will be recognised in the Balance Sheet by capitalising the present value of the minimum lease 
payments and showing a ‘right-of-use’ asset, while future lease payments will be recognised as a 
financial liability. The nature of the expense recognised in the profit or loss will change. Rather than 
being shown as rent, or as leasing costs, it will be recognised as depreciation on the ‘right-of-use’ asset, 
and an interest charge on the lease liability. The interest charge will be calculated using the effective 
interest method, which will result in a gradual reduction of interest expense over the lease term. 
   
Income of Not-for-Profit Entities (AASB 1058) (applies 2019/20)    
This standard replaces AASB 1004 Contributions and establishes revenue recognition principles for 
transactions where the consideration to acquire an asset is significantly less than fair value to enable 
the not-for-profit entity to further its objectives.    

 
7.3 Financial instruments 
 

(a) Objectives and policies 
 
The Council's principal financial instruments comprise cash assets, term deposits, receivables 
(excluding statutory receivables), payables (excluding statutory payables) and bank borrowings.  Details 
of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the 
basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each 
class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument is disclosed in the Notes of the financial 
statements.  Risk management is carried out by senior management under policies approved by the 
Council. These policies include identification and analysis of the risk exposure to Council and 
appropriate procedures, controls and risk minimisation.    
 
(b) Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of council financial instruments will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices.  The Council's exposure to market risk is primarily through interest 
rate risk with only insignificant exposure to other price risks and no exposure to foreign currency risk. 
    
  
Interest rate risk  
Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of a financial instrument or cash flows associated with 
the instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. Council’s interest rate liability risk 
arises primarily from long term loans and borrowings at fixed rates which exposes council to fair value 
interest rate risk / Council does not hold any interest bearing financial instruments that are measured at 
fair value, and therefore has no exposure to fair value interest rate risk.  Cash flow interest rate risk is 
the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 



Maribyrnong City Council   
Ordinary Council Meeting - 11 September 2018 Page 71 

Agenda Item 9.1 - Attachment  1 

 

interest rates. Council has minimal exposure to cash flow interest rate risk through its cash and deposits 
that are at floating rates.     
    
 
Investment of surplus funds is made with approved financial institutions under the Local Government 
Act 1989. Council manages interest rate risk by adopting an investment policy that ensures:  
 

- diversification of investment product;    

- monitoring of return on investment; and    

- benchmarking of returns and comparison with budget.    

    
There has been no significant change in the Council's exposure, or its objectives, policies and 
processes for managing interest rate risk or the methods used to measure this risk from the previous 
reporting period.    
    
Interest rate movements have not been sufficiently significant during the year to have an impact on the 
Council's year end result.  
   
(c) Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that a contracting entity will not complete its obligations under a financial 
instrument and cause Council to make a financial loss. Council have exposure to credit risk on some 
financial assets included in the balance sheet. To help manage this risk:    
    

- Council have a policy for establishing credit limits for the entities Council deal with;    

- Council may require collateral where appropriate; and    

- Council only invest surplus funds with financial institutions which have a recognised credit rating 

specified in council's investment policy. 
    
Receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across the ratepayer, business and 
government sectors. Credit risk associated with the Council's financial assets is minimal because the 
main debtor is secured by a charge over the rateable property.     
    
There are no material financial assets which are individually determined to be impaired.  
  
Council may also be subject to credit risk for transactions which are not included in the balance sheet, 
such as when Council provide a guarantee for another party. Details of our contingent liabilities are 
disclosed in Note 7.1(b).    
    
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets is the carrying 
amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the balance sheet and 
notes to the financial statements. Council does not hold any collateral.    
 
(d) Liquidity risk  
 
Liquidity risk includes the risk that, as a result of council's operational liquidity requirements it will not 
have sufficient funds to settle a transaction when required or will be forced to sell a financial asset at 
below value or may be unable to settle or recover a financial asset.      
To help reduce these risks Council:      

- have a liquidity policy which targets a minimum and average level of cash and cash equivalents to 

be maintained;      

- have readily accessible standby facilities and other funding arrangements in place;   

- have a liquidity portfolio structure that requires surplus funds to be invested within various bands of 

liquid instruments;      

- monitor budget to actual performance on a regular basis; and     
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- set limits on borrowings relating to the percentage of loans to rate revenue and percentage of loan 
principal repayments to rate revenue.      

      
The Council's maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial liabilities as 
disclosed on the face of the balance sheet, and is deemed insignificant based on prior periods' data and 
current assessment of risk.      
      
There has been no significant change in Council's exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes for 
managing liquidity risk or the methods used to measure this risk from the previous reporting period.
   
With the exception of borrowings, all financial liabilities are expected to be settled within normal terms of 
trade.  Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value.
      
(e) Sensitivity disclosure analysis  
 
Taking into account past performance, future expectations, economic forecasts, and management's 
knowledge and experience of the financial markets, Council believes the following movements are 
'reasonably possible' over the next 12 months:  
     

- A parallel shift of +1% and -1% in market interest rates (AUD) from year-end rates of 2.52%. 

     
These movements will not have a material impact on the valuation of Council's financial assets and 
liabilities, nor will they have a material impact on the results of Council's operations.   
   

7.4  Fair value measurement  
 
 Fair value hierarchy      
 Council's financial assets and liabilities are not valued in accordance with the fair value hierarchy, 
Council's financial assets and liabilities are measured at amortised cost.     
  
 Council measures certain assets and liabilities at fair value where required or permitted by 
Australian Accounting Standards. AASB 13 Fair value measurement, aims to improve consistency and 
reduce complexity by providing a definition of fair value and a single source of fair value measurement 
and disclosure requirements for use across Australian Accounting Standards.   
   
AASB 13 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Fair value under 
AASB 13 is an exit price regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using 
another valuation technique.  
      
 All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements 
are categorised within a fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:  
     
Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
 Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and      
Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable.      
 
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, Council has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the 
basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value 
hierarchy as explained above.      
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In addition, Council determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-
assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.      
         
 Revaluation      
 Subsequent to the initial recognition of assets, non-current physical assets, other than plant and 
equipment, are measured at their fair value, being the price that would be received to sell an asset (or 
paid to transfer a liability) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 
date.  At balance date, the Council reviewed the carrying value of the individual classes of assets 
measured at fair value to ensure that each asset materially approximated its fair value.  Where the 
carrying value materially differed from the fair value at balance date, the class of asset was revalued.
      
Fair value valuations are determined in accordance with a valuation hierarchy.  Changes to the 
valuation hierarchy will only occur if an external change in the restrictions or limitations of use of an 
asset result in changes to the permissible or practical highest and best use of the asset. In addition, 
Council undertakes a formal revaluation of land, buildings, and infrastructure assets on a regular basis 
ranging from 2 to 5 years.  The valuation is performed either by experienced council officers or 
independent experts.      
         
Where the assets are revalued, the revaluation increments are credited directly to the asset revaluation 
reserve except to the extent that an increment reverses a prior year decrement for that class of asset 
that had been recognised as an expense in which case the increment is recognised as revenue up to 
the amount of the expense.  Revaluation decrements are recognised as an expense except where prior 
increments are included in the asset revaluation reserve for that class of asset in which case the 
decrement is taken to the reserve to the extent of the remaining increments.  Within the same class of 
assets, revaluation increments and decrements within the year are offset.     
 Impairment of assets      
 At each reporting date, the Council reviews the carrying value of its assets to determine whether 
there is any indication that these assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset's fair value less costs of disposal and 
value in use, is compared to the assets carrying value. Any excess of the assets carrying value over its 
recoverable amount is expensed to the comprehensive income statement, unless the asset is carried at 
the revalued amount in which case, the impairment loss is recognised directly against the revaluation 
surplus in respect of the same class of asset to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the 
amount in the revaluation surplus for that same class of asset.      
         

7.5 Events occurring after balance date       
  
No matters have occurred after balance date that require disclosure in the financial report.   
         

7.6 Rounding      
 
Unless otherwise stated, amounts in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest thousand 
dollars. Figures in the financial statement may not equate due to rounding.    
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Note 8 Other matters 
 

8.1 Reserves 

Balance at 
beginning of 

reporting period 
Increment 

(decrement) 
Balance at end of 

reporting period 
 (a) Asset revaluation reserves $'000 $'000 $'000 
 

     2018 
    Property 
    Land 420,098 173,592 593,690 

 Buildings 103,632 (16,327) 87,305 

 
 

523,730 157,265 680,995 
 Infrastructure 

    Roads 112,480 - 112,480 
 Bridges 738 - 738 
 Footpaths and cycleways 18,975 - 18,975 
 Drainage 78,156 - 78,156 

 
 

210,349 - 210,349 

 Total asset revaluation reserves 734,079 157,265 891,344 

 
     2017 

    Property 
    Land 420,098 - 420,098 

 Buildings 103,633 (1) 103,632 

 
 

523,731 (1) 523,730 
 Infrastructure 

    Roads 112,480 - 112,480 
 Bridges 738 - 738 
 Footpaths and cycleways 18,975 - 18,975 
 Drainage 47,072 31,084 78,156 

 
 

179,265 31,084 210,349 

 Total asset revaluation reserves 702,996 31,083 734,079 

 
The asset revaluation reserve is used to record the increased (net) value of Council's assets over time. 
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Balance at 
beginning of 

reporting period 

Transfer from 
accumulated 

surplus 

Transfer to 
 accumulated  

surplus 

Balance at end 
of reporting 

period 

 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

(b) Other reserves 
     

    2018 
    Mausoleum trust 574 - - 574 

Open space 7,623 3,553 (941) 10,235 
DC reserves 1,930 61 (20) 1,971 
Carried forward grants 2,311 3,767 (2,311) 3,767 
Carried forward Council funds 9,323 9,507 (9,323) 9,507 
Major projects 23,411 22,541 (5,568) 40,384 

Total Other reserves  45,172 39,429 (18,163) 66,438 

      
    2017 
    Mausoleum trust 574 - - 574 

Open space 4,859 5,541 (2,777) 7,623 
DC reserves 2,871 978 (1,919) 1,930 
Carried forward grants 578 2,311 (578) 2,311 
Carried forward Council funds 10,679 9,323 (10,679) 9,323 
Major projects 23,806 12,992 (13,387) 23,411 

Total Other reserves  43,367 31,145 (29,340) 45,172 

 

 The purpose of the mausoleum trust reserve is for the future maintenance of the cemetery. 

 The open space reserve is to segregate the levies collected until required for major works.  

 The developer contributions (DC) reserves segregate the levies collected until required.  

 The purpose of carried forwards is to segregate unspent project funds for future expenditure. 

 The purpose of the major projects is to segregate funds until commencement of works. 

 Reserve balances/movements are determined through budgeting process and changes are reflected 

through reporting throughout the year. 
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 2018 2017 

  $'000 $'000 

8.2 
Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to 
surplus/ (deficit) 

  

    

 
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 14,450 15,557 

 Depreciation/amortisation 18,581 17,902 
 Loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 1,066 3,721 
 Contributions - Non-monetary assets (268) (228) 
 Found assets - (5,582) 
 Finance costs - 144 
 Other - previous year WIP expensed 2,070 2,739 
 

 
 

  Change in assets and liabilities:  
  (Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (2,147) (20) 

 Decrease/(Increase) in prepayments 334 (168) 
 Decrease/(Increase) in accrued income 267 (123) 
 Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables (2,634) 3,874 
 Decrease/(Increase) in trust funds and deposits 290 (185) 
 Decrease in inventories 2 3 
 Decrease in provisions 190 86 

 Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 32,201 37,720 

 
8.3 Superannuation  

Council makes the majority of its employer superannuation contributions in respect of its employees to 
the Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (the Fund). This Fund has two categories of membership, 
accumulation and defined benefit, each of which is funded differently. 
 
Obligations for contributions to the Fund are recognised as an expense in Comprehensive Operating 
Statement when they are made or due. 
 
Accumulation 
The Fund's accumulation categories, Vision MySuper/Vision Super Saver, receives both employer and 
employee contributions on a progressive basis. Employer contributions are normally based on a fixed 
percentage of employee earnings (for the year ended 30 June 2018, this was 9.5% as required under 
Superannuation Guarantee (SG) legislation). 
 
Defined Benefit 
Council does not use defined benefit accounting for its defined benefit obligations under the Fund's 
Defined Benefit category. This is because the Fund's Defined Benefit category is a pooled multi-
employer sponsored plan. 
 
There is no proportional split of the defined benefit liabilities, assets or costs between the participating 
employers as the defined benefit obligation is a floating obligation between the participating employers 
and the only time that the aggregate obligation is allocated to specific employers is when a call is made. 
As a result, the level of participation of Council in the Fund cannot be measured as a percentage 
compared with other participating employers. Therefore, the Fund Actuary is unable to allocate benefit 
liabilities, assets and costs between employers for the purposes of AASB 119. 
 
Funding arrangements 
Council makes employer contributions to the Defined Benefit category of the Fund at rates determined 
by the Trustee on the advice of the Fund Actuary. 
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As at 30 June 2017, a triennial/full actuarial investigation was completed. The vested benefit index (VBI) 
of the Defined Benefit category of which Council is a contributing employer was 103.1%. The financial 
assumptions used to calculate the VBIs were: 
  

 Net investment returns 6.5% pa 

 Salary information 3.5% pa  

 Price inflation (CPI) 2.5% pa. 
 
Vision Super has advised that the estimated VBI at 30 June 2018 was 106.0%. 
 
The VBI is used as the primary funding indicator. Because the VBI was above 100%, the 30 June 2017 
actuarial investigation determined the Defined Benefit category was in a satisfactory financial position 
and that no change was necessary to the Defined Benefit category’s funding arrangements from prior 
years.  
  
Employer contributions 
Regular contributions 
On the basis of the results of the 2017 full actuarial investigation conducted by the Fund Actuary, 
Council makes employer contributions to the Fund’s Defined Benefit category at rates determined by the 
Fund’s Trustee. For the year ended 30 June 2018, this rate was 9.5% of members' salaries (9.5% in 
2016/2017). This rate will increase in line with any increases in the SG contribution rate. 
 
In addition, Council reimburses the Fund to cover the excess of the benefits paid as a consequence of 
retrenchment above the funded resignation or retirement benefit. 
 
Funding calls 
If the Defined Benefit category is in an unsatisfactory financial position at an actuarial investigation or 
the Defined Benefit category‘s VBI is below its shortfall limit at any time other than the date of the 
actuarial investigation, the Defined Benefit category has a shortfall for the purposes of SPS 160 and the 
Fund is required to put a plan in place so that the shortfall is fully funded within three years of the 
shortfall occurring. The Fund monitors its VBI on a quarterly basis and the Fund has set its shortfall limit 
at 97%. 
 
In the event that the Fund Actuary determines that there is a shortfall based on the above requirement, 
the Fund’s participating employers (including [Council]) are required to make an employer contribution 
to cover the shortfall. 
 
Using the agreed methodology, the shortfall amount is apportioned between the participating employers 
based on the pre-1 July 1993 and post-30 June 1993 service liabilities of the Fund’s Defined Benefit 
category, together with the employer’s payroll at 30 June 1993 and at the date the shortfall has been 
calculated. 
 
Due to the nature of the contractual obligations between the participating employers and the Fund, and 
that the Fund includes lifetime pensioners and their reversionary beneficiaries, it is unlikely that the 
Fund will be wound up. 
 
If there is a surplus in the Fund, the surplus cannot be returned to the participating employers. 
In the event that a participating employer is wound-up, the defined benefit obligations of that employer 
will be transferred to that employer’s successor. 
  
2017 triennial actuarial investigation surplus amounts 
The Fund’s full actuarial investigation as at 30 June 2017 identified the following for the Defined Benefit 
category of which Council is a contributing employer: 
  

 A VBI surplus of $69.8 million 
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 A total service liability surplus of $193.5 million.  

 A discounted accrued benefits surplus of $228.8 million.  
  
The VBI surplus means that the market value of the fund’s assets supporting the defined benefit 
obligations exceed the vested benefits that the defined benefit members would have been entitled to if 
they had all exited on 30 June 2017. 
 
The total service liability surplus means that the current value of the assets in the Fund’s Defined 
Benefit category plus expected future contributions exceeds the value of expected future benefits and 
expenses as at 30 June 2017. 
 
The discounted accrued benefit surplus means that the current value of the assets in the Fund’s Defined 
Benefit category exceeds the value of benefits payable in the future but accrued in respect of service to 
30 June 2017. 
 
Council was notified of the 30 June 2017 VBI during August 2017. 
  
2018 interim actuarial investigation 
An interim actuarial investigation is being conducted for the Fund’s position as at 30 June 2018 as the 
Fund provides lifetime pensions in the Defined Benefit category. It is anticipated that this actuarial 
investigation will be completed by October 2018. 
 
Superannuation contributions 
Contributions by Council (excluding any unfunded liability payments) to the above superannuation plans 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2018 are detailed below: 
 

  

 

2018 2017 
Scheme Type of scheme Rate $'000 $'000 

Vision Super Defined benefits 9.50% 389 397 
Vision Super Accumulation 9.50% 2,824 2,999 
Other Funds Accumulation 9.50% 1,004 771 
  
 There were no contributions outstanding and no loans issued from or to the above schemes as at 
30 June 2018. 
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8.4 Correction of errors 
   

 

During 2018, Maribyrnong City Council discovered that council land was incorrectly stated in the Financial 
Statements of previous years due to incorrect validation of land areas by valuers and the omission of 
gifted assets received by Council in 2016. The errors have been corrected by restating financial statement 
line items for prior periods. The following table summarises the impacts on the Maribyrnong City Council's 
Financial Statements. Accrued GST has moved out of current liabilities and is shown as current assets to 
improve disclosure. 

  

 
Statement of Financial Position    

 

 Reported 
Previously Adjustments As restated 

 
2016    

 
Total Current Assets 75,947 372 76,319 

 
Non-current assets    

 
Trade and other receivables 165 - 165 

 
Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment  1,030,867 33,372 1,064,239 

 
Total non-current assets 1,031,032 33,372 1,064,404 

 
Total Assets 1,106,979 33,744 1,140,723 

 
Total Liabilities 26,739 372 27,111 

 
Accumulated Surplus 324,664 42,585 367,249 

 
Revaluation Reserve 712,209 (9,213) 702,996 

 
Other Reserves 43,367 - 43,367 

 
Total Equity 1,080,240 33,372 1,113,612 

 
    

 
2017    

 
Total Current Assets 83,353 672 84,025 

 
Non-current assets    

 
Trade and other receivables 164 - 164 

 
Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment  1,070,905 33,372 1,104,277 

 
Total non-current assets 1,071,069 33,372 1,104,441 

 
Total Assets 1,154,422 34,044 1,188,466 

 
Total Liabilities 27,542 672 28,214 

 
Accumulated Surplus 338,416 42,585 381,001 

 
Revaluation Reserve 743,292 (9,213) 734,079 

 
Other Reserves 45,172 - 45,172 

 
Total Equity 1,126,880 33,372 1,160,252 
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MARIBYRNONG CITY COUNCIL 

 

 

PERFORMANCE STATEMENT 

For the year ended 30 June 2018 

 

 

Description of municipality 
 

The City of Maribyrnong is located just seven kilometres west of Melbourne CBD and covers an area of 

32 square kilometres. Maribyrnong has an estimated residential population of approximately 89,705 (id 

Community Profile Estimated Residential Population 2017). 

Maribyrnong has a diverse population. According to the 2016 census, 40 per cent of population were 

born overseas and 42 per cent speak a language other than English at home. The city also continues to 

attract new cultural groups who bring with them diversity and a new dynamic. More than 78 languages 

are now spoken in Maribyrnong. The top six countries of birth groups outside of Australia are, Vietnam 

(9.3%)  India (4%), China (2.8%), United Kingdom (2.5%), New Zealand (2.0%) and the Philippines 

(1.3%). 

Maribyrnong City Council provides more than 80 high quality services and facilities across a range of 

areas including community, health and wellbeing, environment, planning and building, parks and 

gardens, customer services and more. The existing open space network comprises 151 open space 

reserves that are accessible to the public at all times, covering 307.9 hectares of land area, which 

equates to 9.9 per cent of the municipality. 
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Sustainable Capacity Indicators 
For the year ended 30 June 2018 

 

INDICATOR / MEASURE RESULTS MATERIAL VARIATIONS 

 2015 2016 2017 2018  

POPULATION 

Expenses per head of municipal 
population 

[Total expenses / Municipal 
population] 

$1,274.84 $1,427.52 $1,478.01 $1,393.90  

Infrastructure per head of 
municipal population 

[Value of infrastructure / Municipal 
population] 

$5,916.12 $6,205.50 $6,546.86 $5,987.40  

Population density per length of 
road 

[Municipal population / Kilometres 
of local roads] 

267.51 273.82 279.27 293.59  

OWN-SOURCE REVENUE  

Own-source revenue per head 
of municipal population 

[Own-source revenue / Municipal 
population] 

$1,325.94 $1,427.65 $1,477.75 $1,383.27  

RECURRENT GRANTS  

Recurrent grants per head of 
municipal population 

[Recurrent grants / Municipal 
population] 

$125.06 $89.60 $121.31 $102.47 Recurrent grants are less due to an 
advanced Victorian Grants 

Commission (VGC) payment in 
2016-17. 

DISADVANTAGE 

Relative socio-economic 
disadvantage 

[Index of Relative Socio-economic 
Disadvantage by decile] 

3 3 3 7 The City of Maribyrnong is a diverse 
and vibrant community that is 

experiencing significant population 
growth. The SEIFA ranking and 

deciles only change every five years 
with each Census so this change 

presents both opportunities for 
economic growth and prosperity, 

and challenges through the level of 
disadvantage that occur. The City of 

Maribyrnong is the sixth most 
disadvantaged municipality in 
metropolitan Melbourne with a 
SEIFA index ranking of 995. 

 
Definitions 
"adjusted underlying revenue" means total income other than:  
(a) non-recurrent grants used to fund capital expenditure; and  
(b) non-monetary asset contributions; and  
(c) contributions to fund capital expenditure from sources other than those referred to above  
“infrastructure” means non-current property, plant and equipment excluding land  
"local road" means a sealed or unsealed road for which the council is the responsible road authority under the Road Management 
Act 2004  
"population" means the resident population estimated by council  
"own-source revenue" means adjusted underlying revenue other than revenue that is not under the control of council (including 
government grants)  
"relative socio-economic disadvantage", in relation to a municipality, means the relative socio-economic disadvantage, expressed 
as a decile for the relevant financial year, of the area in which the municipality is located according to the Index of Relative Socio-
Economic Disadvantage (Catalogue Number 2033.0.55.001) of SEIFA  
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"SEIFA" means the Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas published from time to time by the Australian Bureau of Statistics on its 
Internet website  
"unrestricted cash" means all cash and cash equivalents other than restricted cash.  
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Service Performance Indicators 
For the year ended 30 June 2017 
 

SERVICE / INDICATOR / 
MEASURE 

RESULTS MATERIAL VARIATIONS 

 2015 2016 2017 2018  

AQUATIC FACILITIES 

Utilisation 

Utilisation of aquatic facilities 

[Number of visits to aquatic facilities 
/ Municipal population] 

11.85 10.58 10.02 9.95  

ANIMAL MANAGEMENT 

Health and safety 

Animal management 
prosecutions 

[Number of successful animal 
management prosecutions] 

2.00 4.00 6.00 3.00 
Court prosecutions remain low with 

718 matters resolved through notices. 

FOOD SAFETY 

Health and safety 

Critical and major non-
compliance notifications 

[Number of critical non-compliance 
notifications and major non-
compliance notifications about a 
food premises followed up / 
Number of critical non-compliance 
notifications and major non-
compliance notifications about food 
premises] x100 

NA 82.25% 100.00% 101.13%  

GOVERNANCE 

Satisfaction 

Satisfaction with council 
decisions 

[Community satisfaction rating out 
of 100 with how council has 
performed in making decisions in 
the interest of the community] 

60.00 63.70 62.00 62.90  

HOME AND COMMUNITY CARE 

Participation 

Participation in HACC service 

[Number of people that received a 
HACC service / Municipal target 
population for HACC services] x100 

23% 23.79% N/A NA 

Reporting on HACC ceased on 1 July 
2016 due to the introduction of the 

Commonwealth Government's NDIS 
and CHSP programs 

Participation 

Participation in HACC service 
by CALD people 

[Number of CALD people who 
receive a HACC service / Municipal 
target population in relation to 
CALD people for HACC services] 
x100 

15% 19.51% N/A NA 

Reporting on HACC ceased on 1 July 
2016 due to the introduction of the 

Commonwealth Government's NDIS 
and CHSP programs 

LIBRARIES 

Participation 

Active library members 

[Number of active library members / 

18.00% 18.37% 17.34% 16.45%  
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Municipal population] x100 
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MATERNAL AND CHILD HEALTH 

Participation 

Participation in the MCH 
service 

[Number of children who attend the 
MCH service at least once (in the 
year) / Number of children enrolled 
in the MCH service] x100 

79.00% 79.53% 71.31% 75.01%  

Participation 

Participation in the MCH 
service by Aboriginal children 

[Number of Aboriginal children who 
attend the MCH service at least 
once (in the year) / Number of 
Aboriginal children enrolled in the 
MCH service] x100 

67.00% 62.96% 61.67% 70.37% 
The increase is likely due to natural 
variation in enrolments as families 

move in and out of the service. 
Enrolments varied from 30 to 27, with 

19 children attending. As numbers 
are low, small variations reflect higher 

percentages 

ROADS  

Satisfaction 

Satisfaction with sealed local 
roads 

[Community satisfaction rating out 
of 100 with how council has 
performed on the condition of 
sealed local roads] 

63.00 65.00 67.00 65.70 

 

STATUTORY PLANNING 

Decision making 

Council planning decisions 
upheld at VCAT 

[Number of VCAT decisions that did 
not set aside council’s decision in 
relation to a planning application / 
Number of VCAT decisions in 
relation to planning applications] 
x100 

70.00% 79.31% 67.86% 80.95% 
The increased number of decisions 

upheld at VCAT demonstrates 
decisions are highly supported. It 
further acknowledges that Council 

decisions are well considered and in 
accord with the Maribyrnong Planning 

Scheme despite increased 
timeframes in decision making. 

WASTE COLLECTION 

Waste diversion 

Kerbside collection waste 
diverted from landfill 

[Weight of recyclables and green 
organics collected from kerbside 
bins / Weight of garbage, 
recyclables and green organics 
collected from kerbside bins] x100 

34.00% 34.13% 34.30% 33.15% 

 

 

Definitions 
"Aboriginal child" means a child who is an Aboriginal person  
"Aboriginal person" has the same meaning as in the Aboriginal Heritage Act 2006  
"active library member" means a member of a library who has borrowed a book from the library  
"annual report" means an annual report prepared by a council under sections 131, 132 and 133 of the Act  
“CALD” means culturally and linguistically diverse and refers to persons born outside Australia in a country whose national 
language is not English  
“class 1 food premises” means food premises, within the meaning of the Food Act 1984, that have been declared as class 1 food 

premises under section 19C of that Act  
“class 2 food premises” means food premises, within the meaning of the Food Act 1984, that have been declared as class 2 food 
premises under section 19C of that Act  
"Community Care Common Standards "means the Community Care Common Standards for the delivery of HACC services, 
published from time to time by the Commonwealth  
"critical non-compliance outcome notification" means a notification received by council under section 19N(3) or (4) of the Food Act 
1984, or advice given to council by an authorized officer under that Act, of a deficiency that poses an immediate serious threat to 
public health  
"food premises" has the same meaning as in the Food Act 1984  
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"HACC program" means the Home and Community Care program established under the Agreement entered into for the purpose of 
the Home and Community Care Act 1985 of the Commonwealth  
"HACC service" means home help, personal care or community respite provided under the HACC program  
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Financial Performance Indicators 
For the year ended 30 June 2018 

 

Dimension / indicator / 
measure 

Results Forecasts Material Variations 

 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022  

EFFICIENCY 

Revenue level  

 
Average residential rate per 
residential property 
assessment 

$1,815.38 $1,866.14 $1,951.48 $1,992.60 $2,097.63 $2,144.48 $2,192.64 $2,241.98 

[Total expenses / Number of property assessments] 

Expenditure level 

 
Expenses per property 
assessment 

$2,746.24 $2,895.69 $3,183.20 $3,126.00 $3,292.10 $3,268.67 $3,319.76 $3,358.61 

[Total expenses / Number of property assessments]  

Workforce turnover          
This result is reflective of the natural 

variation in resignations, terminations, 
retirements and redundancies. There has 

been no significant event affecting 
staffing. 

Resignations and 
terminations compared to 
average staff 

13.12% 14.10% 14.37% 11.96% 12.59% 12.59% 20.91% 13.82% 

[Number of permanent staff resignations and terminations / Average number of permanent staff for the financial year] x100 

LIQUIDITY 

Working capital          

This continues to be a strong result 
enabling Council to meet its future 

commitments. 

Current assets compared to 
current liabilities 

297.96% 294.99% 313.56% 408.44% 211.01% 204.38% 170.19% 185.56% 

[Current assets / Current liabilities] x100 

Unrestricted cash         

This continues to be a strong result 
enabling Council to fund major projects 

listed in the City Infrastructure Plan. 

Unrestricted cash compared 
to current liabilities 

142.95% 160.36% 176.40% 238.16% 122.58% 121.38% 90.69% 95.52% 

[Unrestricted cash / Current liabilities] x100 
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OBLIGATIONS 

Asset renewal          

The result is due to works in progress 
and capital projects carried forward for 

completion in 2018-19 

Asset renewal compared to 
depreciation 

79.32% 80.90% 67.86% 56.03% 135.47% 121.97% 102.15% 96.72% 

[Asset renewal expenses / Asset depreciation] x100 

Loans and borrowings          

As Council resolved to be debt free in 
2016, there were no loans in 2017-18. 

Loans and borrowings 
compared to rates 

4.17% 3.05% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 9.24% 12.92% 11.77% 

[Interest bearing loans and borrowings / Rate revenue] x100 

Loans and borrowings          

As Council resolved to be debt free in 
2016, there were no borrowings in 2017-

18. 

Loans and borrowings 
repayments compared to 
rates 

1.17% 1.11% 3.07% 0.00% 0.00% 0.93% 1.37% 1.31% 

[Interest and principal repayments on interest bearing loans and borrowings / Rate revenue] x100 

Indebtedness           

Non-current liabilities 
compared to own source 
revenue 

3.34% 0.88% 0.76% 0.80% 0.83% 7.35% 10.17% 9.32% 

[Non-current liabilities / Own source revenue] x100 

OPERATING POSITION 

Adjusted underlying result         Adjusted underlying revenue is less due 
to a comprehensive drainage 

assessment in 2016-17 finding other 
assets (drainage pits) listed in other 

income. 

Adjusted underlying surplus 
(or deficit) 

12.93% 6.88% 8.00% 6.35% 8.78% 15.06% 15.20% 17.40% 

[Adjusted underlying surplus (deficit)/ Adjusted underlying revenue] x100 

STABILITY 

Rates concentration           

Rates compared to adjusted 
underlying revenue 

69.24% 72.25% 66.94% 71.48% 68.72% 65.51% 65.79% 64.72% 
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[Rate revenue / Adjusted underlying revenue] x100 

Rates effort           

Rates compared to property 
values 

0.37% 0.39% 0.34% 0.35% 0.30% 0.28% 0.27% 0.25% 

[Rate revenue / Capital improved value of rateable properties in the municipality ] x100 
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Definitions  
"adjusted underlying revenue" means total income other than:  
(a) non-recurrent grants used to fund capital expenditure; and  
(b) non-monetary asset contributions; and  
(c) contributions to fund capital expenditure from sources other than those referred to above  
"adjusted underlying surplus (or deficit)" means adjusted underlying revenue less total expenditure  
"asset renewal expenditure" means expenditure on an existing asset or on replacing an existing asset that returns the service 
capability of the asset to its original capability  
“current assets” has the same meaning as in the AAS  
"current liabilities" has the same meaning as in the AAS  
“non-current assets” means all assets other than current assets  
"non-current liabilities" means all liabilities other than current liabilities  
“non-recurrent grant” means a grant obtained on the condition that it be expended in a specified manner and is not expected to be 
received again during the period covered by a council's Strategic Resource Plan 
"own-source revenue" means adjusted underlying revenue other than revenue that is not under the control of council (including 
government grants  
"population "means the resident population estimated by council  
“rate revenue” means revenue from general rates, municipal charges, service rates and service charges  
"recurrent grant "means a grant other than a non-recurrent grant  
"residential rates" means revenue from general rates, municipal charges, service rates and service charges levied on residential 
properties  
"restricted cash" means cash and cash equivalents, within the meaning of the AAS, that are not available for use other than for a 
purpose for which it is restricted, and includes cash to be used to fund capital works expenditure from the previous financial year  
"unrestricted cash" means all cash and cash equivalents other than restricted cash.  

 
Other Information 
For the year ended 30 June 2018 

 
1. Basis of preparation 

Council is required to prepare and include a performance statement within its annual report. The 
performance statement includes the results of the prescribed sustainable capacity, service performance 
and financial performance indicators and measures together with a description of the municipal district and 
an explanation of material variations in the results. This statement has been prepared to meet the 
requirements of the Local Government Act 1989 and Local Government (Planning and Reporting) 
Regulations 2014. 
 
Where applicable the results in the performance statement have been prepared on accounting bases 
consistent with those reported in the Financial Statements. The other results are based on information 
drawn from council information systems or from third parties (e.g. Australian Bureau of Statistics). 
 
The performance statement presents the actual results for the current year and for the prescribed financial 
performance indicators and measures, the results forecast by the council’s strategic resource plan. The 
Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 requires explanation of any material 
variations in the results contained in the performance statement. Council has adopted materiality thresholds 
relevant to each indicator and measure and explanations have not been provided for variations below the 
materiality thresholds unless the variance is considered to be material because of its nature. 
 
The forecast figures included in the performance statement are those adopted by council in its strategic 
resource plan on 28 June 2017 and which forms part of the council plan. The strategic resource plan 
includes estimates based on key assumptions about the future that were relevant at the time of adoption 
and aimed at achieving sustainability over the long term. Detailed information on the actual financial results 
is contained in the General Purpose Financial Statements. The strategic resource plan can be obtained by 
contacting council.
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Certification of the Performance Statement 
 
Dated: 11 September 2018 
 

 

In my opinion, the accompanying performance statement has been prepared in accordance with the 
Local Government Act 1989 and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Mark Connor, (MIPA) 
Principal Accounting Officer 
11 September 2018 
Footscray 
 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying performance statement of Maribyrnong City Council for the year 
ended 30 June 2018 presents fairly the results of council’s performance in accordance with the Local 
Government Act 1989 and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014. 
 
The performance statement contains the relevant performance indicators, measures and results in 
relation to service performance, financial performance and sustainable capacity. 
 
At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances that would render any particulars in the 
performance statement to be misleading or inaccurate. 
 
We have been authorised by the council and by the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) 
Regulations 2014 to certify this performance statement in its final form. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Simon Crawford 
Councillor 
11 September 2018 
Footscray 
 
 

Sarah Carter 
Councillor 
11 September 2018 
Footscray 
 
 

Stephen Wall 
Chief Executive Officer 
11 September 2018 
Footscray  
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MARIBYRNONG 2040 COMMUNITY PLAN  

Director: Celia Haddock  
Director Corporate Services  

Author: Deidre Anderson 
Manager Public Affairs and Community Relations 

 

PURPOSE  

To present the Maribyrnong 2040 Community Plan for endorsement. 
 

ISSUES SUMMARY 

 The development of the 2017 – 21 Council Plan identified the opportunity to 
develop a long term community vision to guide future service and infrastructure 
planning. 

 Strategy 4.7 of the 2017-18 Priority Action Plan is to ‘develop a community plan to 
capture the community’s vision and aspirations to 2040.’ 

 A comprehensive community engagement plan was developed to achieve this 
strategy.  

 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Maribyrnong 2040 - Community Engagement Findings 

2. Maribyrnong 2040 Community Plan ⇩      

 

OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

That Council endorse the Maribyrnong 2040 Community Plan.  
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BACKGROUND 

The City of Maribyrnong will experience enormous change and growth in the next 20 
years. Now more than ever a shared community plan is needed to bring about the best 
outcomes for our future. Maribyrnong 2040 will be the first Community Plan for the City 
of Maribyrnong. It will be an overarching strategic document that will guide Councils 
long term planning and the development of the four year Council Plans. Uniquely, the 
Maribyrnong 2040 Community Plan will be written by the community, for the community.  
 
In May 2018 Council received an update on the results of the broad community 
engagement campaign undertaken from December 2017 – March 2018, to inform the 
development of the community plan by an independently recruited community panel.  
 
To ensure a broad range of perspectives from the community were captured, a wide 
range of techniques were utilised to uncover their priorities for the future. These 
methods included: 

 an online survey hosted on Council’s Your City, Your Voice digital platform 

 Community Conversation kits provided to interested community members and 
made available at community centres 

 a ‘wishing tree’ mural developed over three days as a public creative visioning 
project in partnership with a community artist and Council staff facilitating public 
participation 

 ‘wishing tree’ decals at a variety of Council facilities inviting public comment 

 Engaging young people through facilitated workshops with 100 Story Building. 
The 30 member community panel was recruited to represent a range of demographics 
and suburbs across the municipality. The Panel was convened over four Saturdays from 
April to June and was independently facilitated by Liminal By Design. 

DISCUSSION/KEY ISSUES 

1. Key Issues 

To develop the Maribyrnong 2040 Community Plan the panel were charged with 
considering a wide range of data including: 

 community engagement findings from the Maribyrnong 2040 campaign 

 community engagement findings from the development of the 2017 – 21 Council 
Plan 

 City of Maribyrnong Community Profile (.id report based on ABS data) 

 Maribyrnong 2040 Conversation Kit Fact Sheets 

 Population and Household Forecast Report (.id) 

 Health and Wellbeing Profile (Maribyrnong City Council, 2016)  

 Maribyrnong Economic Development Strategy Update (2016) 

 Annual Community Survey Report (2017) 
 
The panel were also empowered to request additional information to be provided by 
Council staff and/or external experts. To respond to these requests the Community 
Engagement team arranged the following presenters over the four sitting days: 

 Ryan James (.id, Consulting) 
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 Deidre Anderson and Lauren Holst (Public Affairs and Community Relations, 
Maribyrnong City Council) 

 Nigel Higgins (Planning Services, Maribyrnong City Council) 

 Dr Jo Brown (Climate Scientist, Bureau of Meteorology) 

 Professor Roz Hansen (Urban and Regional Planner, Hansen Consulting) 

 Simon Kuestenmacher (Director of Research, The Demographics Group) 
 
The panel also collectively developed a set of values and decision making criteria 
which provided the lens through which decisions about the contents of the document 
would be made. This criteria included ensuring the document is future focussed, 
representing Maribyrnong as a whole, maintaining an awareness of the global context, 
balancing a range of interests, and understanding that the panel made decisions about 
content based on the best information available at the time. 
 
The vision developed by the panel is for ‘a city where history and differences are 
embraced, forming the foundations from which vibrant, diverse and sustainable 
communities thrive.’ 
 
The panel identified five guiding themes which strongly align with the themes developed 
in the 2017-21 Council Plan. These themes are: 

 Enabling active citizenship - A strong local democracy with active citizenship 
demonstrates a culture that promotes justice, fairness and social inclusion. 

 Living well - Our City will be a healthy community where diversity is maintained, 
equity is promoted and the emphasis of wellbeing is embraced. 

 Linking people and places - For a sense of connection, we need access to 
services, employment, education, shops, cafes, parks and open space.   

 Shaping our natural and built environments - Our city will be a place where 
people can experience nature as part of their everyday lives.  

 Working and learning - Our city will be a city where you spend where you live. 
We believe a strong education infrastructure is fundamental to building a robust 
economy which means a happy and healthy community. 

 
Maribyrnong 2040 will be used to inform future strategic directions of Maribyrnong 
Council and can also be used by the wider community to guide civic participation and 
engagement. 
 

2. Council Policy/Legislation 

Council Plan 2017-2021 

This report contributes to Council’s strategic objectives contained in the Council Plan 
2017-2021, by considering: 

 Strategic Objective: 
- Strong leadership - lead our changing city using strategic foresight, 

innovation, transparent decision making and well-planned, effective 
collaboration. 

- Growth and prosperity - support diverse, well-planned neighbourhoods and a 
strong local economy. 
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Legislation 

While current legislation does not require this, changes to the Local Government Act are 
expected to include a requirement for the preparation of a Community Plan. 

Conflicts of Interest 

No officer responsible for, or contributing to, this report has declared a direct or indirect 
interest in relation to this report. 

Human Rights Consideration 

This report complies with the rights listed in the Victorian Charter of Human Rights and 
Responsibilities Act 2006. 
 

3. Engagement 

A comprehensive community engagement plan was developed for the development of 
Maribyrnong 2040 and was presented to Council in December 2017. A key component 
of this engagement plan was the recruitment of an independently selected 
representative panel of community members who committed to a deliberative 
engagement process through which they have collectively drafted the Council’s first 
community plan. 

4. Resources 

Maribyrnong 2040 has been prepared with a budget allocation of $80,000 in the 2017-
18 financial year. 

5. Environment 

There are no implications on the environment. 

CONCLUSION 

Maribyrnong 2040 is a highly valuable document developed through many hours of 
consultation and deliberation with the community that will help guide Council’s planning 
for the next twenty years. Following endorsement the Plan will be designed and 
distributed to key stakeholders.  
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PROPOSED DISCONTINUANCE AND SALE OF PART OF RIGHT OF WAY 
ABUTTING 2 YORK STREET, YARRAVILLE  

Director: Celia Haddock  
Director Corporate Services  

Author: Lisa King 
Manager Governance and Commercial Services 

 

PURPOSE  

To seek Council’s approval to: 

 remove that part of the land contained in certificate of title volume 11837 folio 884 
and shown outlined in red on the plan contained in Attachment 1 of this Report 
(Road) from Council’s register of public roads (Register) pursuant to section 17(4) 
of the Road Management Act 2004 (Vic) (RMA); and  

 commence the statutory procedures under the Local Government Act 1989 (Vic) 
(Act) to consider discontinuing and selling the Road. 

 

ISSUES SUMMARY 

 The owners of 2 York Street, Yarraville have expressed interest in purchasing the 
Road, which directly adjoins their property at 2 York Street, Yarraville. 

 The owners of 2 York Street, Yarraville have enclosed the Road for over 4 years. 

 The Road parcel is approximately 40.85 square metres. 

 The Road is a ‘road’ for the purposes of the Act which Council has the power to 
consider discontinuing under clause 3 of Schedule 10 of the Act. If the Road is 
discontinued, the Road will vest in Council.  

 Council officers have conducted a preliminary investigation regarding the 
proposal to discontinue and sell the Road to the owners of 2 York Street, 
Yarraville, this included a letter and questionnaire sent to the owners of the 
adjoining properties being 202, 204 and 206 Hyde Street, Yarraville to determine 
the current use of the Road. 

 No responses have been received from the owners of adjoining properties. 

 Local statutory authorities and utility companies have been contacted to 
determine whether there are any assets within the Road. City West Water has 
underground assets in the area and has requested for an easement to be 
reserved in its favour if the Road is discontinued and sold to the owners of 2 York 
Street, Yarraville. 

 A valuation obtained on 5 June 2018 has identified the current market value of 
the Road to be $40,000 plus GST. 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Locality Map - Proposed Discontinuance and Sale of Right of Way (ROW) 
adjoining 2 York Street, Yarraville ⇩      
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OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

That Council: 

1. Acting under section 17(4) of the Road Management Act 2004 (Vic) resolves 
that part of the land contained in certificate of title volume 11837 folio 884 
and known to title as Road R1 on Plan of Subdivision 003424, shown 
outlined red in Attachment 1 (Road), be removed from Council’s Register of 
Public Roads on the basis that the Road is no longer reasonably required for 
public use for the following reasons set out below: 

a. The Road is currently fenced into the property at 2 York Street, 
Yarraville, and accordingly, has not been accessible to the public for 
over 4 years; and  

b. The Road is not currently used or required for use by other abutting 
properties for access to their properties. 

2. Acting under section 189(4) and clause 3 of Schedule 10 of the Local 
Government Act 1989 (Act): 

a. resolves that the required statutory procedures be commenced to 
consider discontinuing the Road; 

b. directs that public notice of the proposed discontinuance of the Road 
be given in a local newspaper in accordance with sections 207A and 
223 of the Act and on Council’s website; 

c. resolves that the public notice required to be given under sections 
207A and 223 of the Act should state that if the Road is discontinued, 
Council proposes to sell the Road to the owners of 2 York Street, 
Yarraville for market value; 

d. authorises the Chief Executive Officer or their delegate to undertake the 
administrative procedures necessary to enable Council to carry out its 
functions under section 223 of the Act in relation to this matter;  

e. resolves that any submissions received pursuant to section 223 of the 
Act be heard and considered at a future Council meeting or a 
committee appointed by Council; and   

f. notes that once all section 223 submissions have been considered, a 
further report will be presented to Council to decide whether or not to 
proceed with the proposed discontinuance and sale of the Road. 
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BACKGROUND 

The owners of 2 York Street, Yarraville have expressed interest in purchasing the Road 
adjoining their property and have requested that Council commence the statutory 
procedures to discontinue and sell the Road to them (shown outlined in red in 
Attachment 1).  
 
Council Officers have written to the owners of 202, 204 and 206 Hyde Street, Yarraville 
to obtain their initial feedback regarding the proposal. No responses have been received 
from these adjoining owners. 
 
Statutory authorities and utility companies have been contacted to determine whether 
they have assets in the Road which should be saved under section 207C of the Local 
Government Act 1989 (Vic) (Act). City West Water has underground assets in the area 
and have requested for an easement to be maintained in their favour. 
 

DISCUSSION/KEY ISSUES 

1. Key Issues 

Road Status 
 
The Road is listed on Council’s Register of Public Roads. Accordingly, the Road is a 
‘public road’ for the purposes of the Road Management Act 2004 (Vic) (RMA).  
 
The Road is shown on title as part of Road R1 on plan of subdivision LP3424. As the 
Road is known to title as a ‘road’ and has been constructed and historically used as a 
road, the Road is a ‘road’ for the purposes of the Act which Council has the power to 
consider discontinuing under clause 3 of Schedule 10 of the Act.  
 
Upon being discontinued, the Road will vest in Council.  
 
It is considered that the Road is no longer reasonably required for general public use 
under section 17(4) of the RMA, as the Road is currently enclosed within the property of 
the owners of 2 York Street Yarraville by way of a fence, and accordingly:  
 

 has not been accessible to the public for over 4 years; and  

 is not used or required by the adjoining owners for access to their properties and 

has not been used for a period of time estimated at 12 years.  

 
Valuation 
 
The Road which is proposed to be discontinued and sold is approximately 40.85 square 
metres. 
 
A valuation obtained on 5 June 2018 has identified the current market value of the Road 
abutting 2 York Street, Yarraville as $40,000 plus GST. 
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The Road abutting 2 York Street, Yarraville is encumbered by an active City West 
Water asset. City West Water has requested for an easement to be reserved in its 
favour. 

2. Council Policy/Legislation 

Council Plan 2017-2021 

This report contributes to Council’s strategic objectives contained in the Council Plan 
2017-2021, by considering: 

 Strategic Objective: 
- Quality places and spaces - lead the development of integrated built and 

natural environments that are well maintained, accessible and respectful of 
the community and neighbourhoods. 

Legislation 

 Local Government Act 1989 (Vic) 

 Road Management Act 2004 (Vic) 

 Property Sale, Transfer and Acquisition Policy 2013 

Conflicts of Interest 

No officer responsible for, or contributing to, this report has declared a direct or indirect 
interest in relation to this report. 

Human Rights Consideration 

This report complies with the rights listed in the Victorian Charter of Human Rights and 
Responsibilities Act 2006. 

3. Engagement 

If Council resolves to proceed with the proposal, Council must give public notice of the 
proposed discontinuance and sale in accordance with section 223 of the Act. 
 
The Act provides that a person may, within 28 days of the date of the public notice, 
lodge a written submission regarding the proposed Road discontinuance. 
 
Where a person has made a written submission to Council requesting that he or she be 
heard in support of the written submission, Council must permit that person to be heard 
before a meeting of Council or the Committee which has delegated authority to hear 
those submissions, giving reasonable notice of the date, time and place of the meeting. 
 
Following the completion of the public notice and after hearing any submissions made, 
the matter will be returned to Council to determine whether or not the Road should be 
discontinued and either retained by Council or sold to the owners of 2 York Street, 
Yarraville. 
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4. Resources 

The owners of 2 York Street Yarraville have agreed to acquire the Road for its market 
value (plus GST). 
 
In addition to the market value of the Road (plus GST), the owners of 2 York Street, 
Yarraville have agreed to pay Council’s professional costs and disbursements 
associated with the proposal, including valuation fees, survey costs, advertising costs 
and Land Use Victoria lodgement fees. 

5. Environment 

Not applicable 

CONCLUSION 

It is proposed that Council commence the statutory procedures pursuant to clause 3 of 
Schedule 10 of the Act to discontinue the Road adjoining 2 York Street, Yarraville and 
sell the Road to the owners of 2 York Street, Yarraville. 
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REVIEW OF FRAUD AND CORRUPTION CONTROL POLICY AND PROTECTED 
DISCLOSURE PROCEDURES  

Director: Celia Haddock  
Director Corporate Services  

Author: Lisa King 
Manager Governance and Commercial Services 

 

PURPOSE  

To present the Fraud and Corruption Control Policy (the Policy) and the Protected 
Disclosure Procedure (the Procedure) for consideration. 
 

ISSUES SUMMARY 

 The existing Fraud and Corruption Control Policy was adopted by Council in July 
2013 and last reviewed in 2015. 

 The Policy is required to be reviewed every two years or where there are major 
changes to the Council’s business and/or operations or legislation. 

 The Policy is supported by a range of internal documents including the Fraud and 
Corruption Control Procedures and the Fraud and Corruption Control Framework. 

 The review of the Policy encompassed an update to the Fraud and Corruption 
Control Procedures 

 The existing Protected Disclosure Procedure was adopted in July 2013 and was 
due for review in July 2017 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Fraud and Corruption Control Policy ⇩   
2. Fraud and Corruption Control Procedures 2018 ⇩   
3. Protected Disclosure Procedure 2018 ⇩      
 

OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

That Council: 

1. Adopts the Fraud and Corruption Control Policy and Protected Disclosure 
Procedure. 

2. Notes the Fraud and Corruption Control Procedure as an operational 
procedure that will be made publicly available. 
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BACKGROUND 

The Fraud and Corruption Control and Whistleblowers Policy was adopted by 
Council in 2011, for managing the risk of fraudulent and corrupt behaviour. A previous 
internal audit of Council’s fraud detection and reporting processes and procedures 
highlighted issues which were included in the last review of the policies. One of the 
recommendations was to split the policy into a Fraud and Corruption Policy and a 
Protected Disclosures Procedure.  
 
The current Fraud and Corruption Control Policy was adopted by Council in 2015 and 
Protected Disclosure Procedure was adopted by Council in 2013 and are supported by: 

 Fraud and Corruption Control Procedures – The Procedures comprise the 
documented processes, measures and tools which give effect to the Fraud and 
Corruption Control Policy. 

 Fraud and Corruption Control Framework - The Framework summarises the 
measures in place to limit, identify and investigate fraud across the organisation at 
strategic and operational levels and the actions and responsibilities for 
implementation and monitoring of key fraud control measures. 

 

DISCUSSION/KEY ISSUES 

1. Key Issues 

The purpose of the Fraud and Corruption Control Policy is to demonstrate Council’s 
commitment to the prevention and detection of fraudulent and corrupt behaviour in the 
performance of all Council activities. The Policy applies to all employees, Councillors 
and volunteers engaged directly by the City of Maribyrnong as well as all agents and 
contractors either engaged by Council or by an authorised contractor of the City of 
Maribyrnong.  
 
The Protected Disclosures Procedure has been developed in accordance with s58 of 
the Protected Disclosure Act 2012 and in accordance with the Guidelines of the 
Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission (IBAC) published under s57 of 
the Act. The Procedure will be made available to all staff and members of the public, 
and communication materials and a staff training program are being developed.  
 
Changes have been made to align the Policy and the Procedures to the current 
organisational structure. 
 
As a result of this current review, the Fraud Policy has been amended to include: 

 greater clarity around the expectations at all levels of the organisation in the 
prevention and detection of fraud and corruption 

 updates to the responsibility of the Chief Executive Officer regarding mandatory 
notification to IBAC of suspected corrupt conduct occurring or having occurred  

 introduction of definitions for Fraud and Corruption from the Australian Standards 
AS8001-2008: Fraud and Corruption Control 

 updates to the role of the Audit and Risk Committee to be independently 
reviewing, identifying and advising on preventing, deterring and detecting fraud 
and corruption 
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As a result of the current review, the Fraud and Corruption Control Procedures has 
been amended to include: 

 updates to the responsibility of the Chief Executive Officer regarding mandatory 
notification to IBAC of suspected corrupt conduct occurring or having occurred  

 introduction of definitions for Fraud and Corruption from the Australian Standards 
AS8001-2008: Fraud and Corruption Control 

 recognition of the role of the internal audit in effective identification of the 
indicators of fraud 

 introduction of a step-by-step procedure for reporting and investigating fraud and 
corruption 

 updated references to protected disclosures and their management 

 updated references to the varied roles of IBAC, the Victorian Ombudsman, Local 
Government Investigations and Compliance Inspectorate and Victoria Police in 
fraud and corruption investigations 

 
As a result of this current review, the Protected Disclosure Procedures has been 
amended to include: 

 updated references to requirements under the Protected Disclosure Act and 
IBAC Guidelines 

 greater clarity around the responsibilities at all levels of the organisation to report 
known or suspected incidences of improper conduct 

 updates to align the procedure with the current organisational structure 

 step-by-step guidelines for the making and handling of disclosures  

 further guidance around Council’s commitment to the welfare of disclosers, 
commitment to maintaining confidentiality, and reporting and education and 
training 

2. Council Policy/Legislation 

Council Plan 2017-2021 

This report contributes to Council’s strategic objectives contained in the Council Plan 
2017-2021, by considering: 

 Strategic Objective: 
- Strong leadership - lead our changing city using strategic foresight, 

innovation, transparent decision making and well-planned, effective 
collaboration. 

Legislation 

 Local Government Act 1989 

 Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission Act 2011 

 Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission Regulations 2013 

 Ombudsman Act 1973 

 Crimes Act 1958 (Vic) 

 Protected Disclosures Act 2012 

 Protected Disclosure Regulations 2013 
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Conflicts of Interest 

No officer responsible for, or contributing to, this report has declared a direct or indirect 
interest in relation to this report. 

Human Rights Consideration 

This report complies with the rights listed in the Victorian Charter of Human Rights and 
Responsibilities Act 2006. 

3. Engagement 

A copy of the Policy and Procedures will be available for information on the Council's 
website. 

4. Resources 

There are no resource implications as a result of this report. 

5. Environment 

There are no environmental implications as a result of this report. 

CONCLUSION 

The Fraud and Corruption Control Policy and Procedures will support the commitment 
to preventing, deterring and detecting of fraudulent and corrupt behaviour, in the 
performance of all Council activities. The Protected Disclosure Procedures establish a 
system to facilitate the making of disclosures of improper conduct or detrimental action 
by Council or its employees.  
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Introduction 

Fraud and corruption is not tolerated at Maribyrnong City Council. Council is 
committed to protecting its reputation and assets from any attempt by employees 
or others to gain financial or other benefits by deceit or dishonest conduct.  

Purpose 

The purpose of this Policy is to demonstrate Council’s commitment to the 
prevention, deterrence, detection and investigation of all forms of fraud and 
corrupt conduct.  

Scope 

This policy applies to all employees, Councillors and volunteers engaged directly 
by the City of Maribyrnong as well as all agents and contractors either engaged 
by Council or by an authorised contractor of the City of Maribyrnong.  

Definitions 

 

Term Definition 

Council  means Maribyrnong City Council 

Councillors  means the individuals holding the office of a member of 
Maribyrnong City Council 

Corruption Dishonest activity in which a director, executive, manager, 
employee or contractor of an entity acts contrary to the 
interests of the entity and abuses his/her position of trust in 
order to achieve some personal gain or advantage for him or 
herself or for another person or entity.1  

Corrupt conduct includes asking for, or receiving a benefit of 
any kind, the acceptance of a bribe, in any form, which is 
punishable under law by the Victorian common law offence of 
‘Bribery of a Public Official’ and offences under the Local 
Government Act 1989 (Vic).  

                                            
1 Australian Standards AS8001-2008: Fraud and Corruption Control 
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Discloser means a person who makes a disclosure of improper conduct 
or detrimental action in accordance with the requirements of 
Part 2 of the Protected Disclosure Act 2012 

Fraud Dishonest activity causing actual or potential financial loss to 
any person or entity including theft of moneys or other 
property by employees or persons external to the entity and 
where deception is used at the time, immediately before or 
immediately following the activity. This also includes the 
deliberate falsification, concealment, destruction or use of 
falsified documentation used or intended for use for a normal 
business purpose or the improper use of information or 
position for personal financial benefit. 

The theft of property belonging to an entity by a person or 
persons internal to the entity but where deception is not used 
is also considered ‘fraud’ for the purposes of this definition.2  

Fraud can also involve misuse of confidential information, 
abuse of discretions, facilities or employment conditions, 
redirection of goods or services for personal use and 
inappropriate arrangements with contractors and other third 
parties. 

Offences of fraud may be prosecuted under a number of 
different Victorian laws. The offences are covered under the 
Crimes Act 1958 (Vic). 

Examples of fraud, for the purpose of this Policy, include, but 
are not limited to:  

 Theft and/or misappropriation of Council revenue in 
the form of cash, cheques, money order, electronic 
funds transfer or other negotiable instrument;  

 Unauthorised removal or theft of equipment, parts, 
software, and office supplies from Council premises;  

 Deliberate over-ordering of materials or services to 
allow a proportion to be used for personal purposes;  

 Submission of sham taxation arrangements for an 
employee or contractor to circumvent the Council’s 
procedures for engagement of employees and 
contractors;  

 Submission of fraudulent applications for 
reimbursement;  

                                            
2 Australian Standards AS8001-2008: Fraud and Corruption Control 
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 Payment of fictitious employees or suppliers;  

 Falsification of time records;  

 Damage, destruction or falsification of documents for 
the purpose of material gain;  

 Failure to disclose a conflict of interest in the 
performance of duties as a Councillor, employee or 
contractor of Council;  

 Any computer related activity involving the alteration, 
destruction, forgery or manipulation of data for 
fraudulent purposes or misappropriation of Council 
owned software; and  

 Misrepresentation of qualifications or previous 
positions held in order to secure a position of 
employment.  

IBAC means the Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption 
Commission 

Investigation means a search for evidence connecting or tending to 
connect a person (either a natural person or a body 
corporate) with conduct that infringes the criminal law or the 
policies and standards set by the Council 

Responsibilities 

Responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud and corruption and for the 
implementation and operation of controls that minimise fraudulent and corrupt 
activity within their areas of responsibility  rests with all levels of management, 
Councillors, staff, volunteers and agency or contract staff who represent Council.  
All levels of management and employees are responsible 
 
Council employees and Councillors are to be mindful that the inappropriate 
acceptance of a gift or hospitality may be seen as acceptance of a bribe. Refer to 
Council’s Gifts and Hospitality Policy, Employee Code of Conduct, Councillor 
Code of Conduct and the Department of Environment, Land, Water and 
Planning: “Conflict of Interest – a guide for Councillors October 2012”, for further 
guidance.  
 
Councillors  
Councillors have a statutory responsibility to abide by the Local Government Act 
1989 and their Code of Conduct. Councillors need to keep in mind the Code of 
Conduct when considering reports, making decisions and scrutinising Council’s 
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activities. Council will support all policies and measures taken to prevent, deter, 
detect and resolve suspected instances of fraud and corruption. 
 
Chief Executive Officer 
The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for maintaining an ongoing fraud 
control/prevention program to ensure the efficient and effective implementation of 
this Policy (refer Fraud and Corruption Control Procedures). The Chief Executive 
Officer, as the relevant principal officer, must under section 57 of the IBAC Act 
mandatorily and immediately notify IBAC of any matter they suspect, on 
reasonable grounds, to involve corrupt conduct occurring or having occurred.  
 
Executive Management Team 
The Executive Management Team must, upon notification from an employee or 
manager of suspected fraud or corrupt conduct, or if they have reason to suspect 
that fraud or corrupt conduct has occurred, immediately advise the Chief 
Executive Officer.  
 
Managers and Supervisors 
Manager have a responsibility to: 

 Identify risk exposures to corrupt and fraudulent activities within their 
Departments/Units 

 Establish controls and procedures for prevention and detection of such 
activities 

 Provide guidance and instruction to all staff relative to responsibilities and 
fraud and corrupt conduct reporting requirements 

 Maintain effective auditing and reporting on key financial systems 

 Undertake a risk assessment on fraud and corrupt conduct every 6 
months or when a major change occurs 

 Implement action plans identified in risk assessments to eliminate or 
reduce the risk of fraud and corrupt conduct 

 Monitor and actively manage excessive outstanding leave of staff in risk 
exposure areas 

 
Managers will ensure that all contractors working for their Department/Unit are 
aware of Council’s Fraud and Corruption Control Policy and that it is incorporated 
into the relevant contract and will ensure that the contractor’s staff are made 
aware of their responsibilities and unacceptable behaviours.  
 
All employees supervising staff are responsible for the coordination, monitoring, 
ongoing review and communication of Council’s fraud risks. All employees 
supervising staff are responsible for exercising due diligence and control to 
prevent, detect and report acts of fraud, shall set an example, and advise 
employees of the acceptability or otherwise of their conduct. 
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Managers and Supervisors upon notification from an employee of suspected 
fraud or corrupt conduct, or if a Manager or Supervisor has reason to suspect 
that fraud or corrupt conduct has occurred, shall immediately notify the relevant 
Director.  
 
Employee/Contractors/Volunteers 
Employees/contractors/volunteers will assist in the identification of risk exposures 
to corrupt or fraudulent activities in the workplace and the immediate reporting of 
possible activities.  
 
Employees/contractors/volunteers are responsible for acting with propriety in all 
Council activities. They must not use their position with Council to gain personal 
advantages or to confer advantage or disadvantage, or any other person. 
 
Employees/contractors/volunteers are responsible for the safeguarding of 
Council entrusted assets against theft, misuse or improper use, and are required 
to report any suspicion of fraud or corrupt behaviour. Reference to this Policy 
must be included in all documentation provided to contractors.  
 
Audit 
The role of Internal Audit is to assist Council management and employees to 
achieve satisfactory control over all Council activities. This will be achieved by: 

 Independently reviewing systems, procedures and controls to ensure that 
there are adequate safeguards to prevent, deter and detect fraud and 
corruption 

 Identify areas of concern through specific audits and testing of systems 

 Advising of the production of rules, regulations and policies which deter 
fraud and corruption 

 
External audit is conducted by the Victorian Auditor General’s Office verifying the 
Council’s annual reported financial and performance statements. External audit 
also has a responsibility to report any irregularities identified during the audit 
process in accordance with relevant legislation and accounting standards.  
 
The Audit Committee will receive a report annually, as a minimum, relating to the 
implementation of the Policy and any matters reported to the Chief Executive 
Officer under this Policy. 
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Risk Management and Fraud Control Group  
The Risk Management and Fraud Control Group (RMFCG) is an internal group 
that has been established to monitor, report and guide the implementation of this 
Policy. Refer to the RMFCG Terms of Reference for details of the Group’s scope, 
objectives, key tasks and responsibilities.  
 
Governance and Commercial Services Department  
In conjunction with the RMFCG the Governance and Commercial Services 
Department will monitor and review the risk register, provide reports on fraud and 
corruption risk controls and treatments to EMT and the Audit Committee. The 
Department will assist in the investigation and recovery of any identified fraud 
incidents and update the Fraud and Corruption Control Policy.  
 
Disciplinary  
Council will ensure breaches of this Policy or procedure will result in the 
appropriate disciplinary action and/or summary dismissal in line with the 
Maribyrnong City Council Disciplinary Procedures. 
 

Policy 

The City of Maribyrnong is committed to protecting its revenue, expenditure and 
assets from any attempt by members of the public, contractors, agents, 
intermediaries, volunteers, Councillors or its own employees to gain financial or 
other benefits by deceit, bias or dishonest conduct.  
 
The City of Maribyrnong’s commitment to fraud and corruption control will be 
managed by ensuring that fraudulent or corrupt activity is prevented, conflicts of 
interest are avoided, and auditing systems are in place to deter and/or identify 
corrupt activities.  
 
In accepting its responsibility for good governance of the municipality, Council 
will set the example for transparency and integrity in the provision of services to 
the community and the management of the Council organisation.  
 
All reports received will be fully investigated and appropriate action taken.  
 
Councillors and employees must be aware of the Council’s intention to suspend 
or dismiss employees, report internal and/or external fraudulent or corrupt activity 
to Police and prosecute Councillors or employees and any other parties to the 
matter, found to be involved in fraudulent and/or corrupt behaviour. Council may 
pursue recovery of any financial loss through civil proceedings. 
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Key Stakeholders 

Key Stakeholders have been identified and include: 

 Councillors 

 Council staff 

 Contractors 

 Volunteers 

Related Legislation 

Local Government Act 1989 

Crimes Act 1958 (Vic) 

Independent Broad-based Anti-Corruption Commission Act 2011 

Ombudsman Act 1973 

Protected Disclosure Act 2012  

Related Documents 

Employee Code of Conduct 

Councillor Code of Conduct 

Procurement Policy 

Risk Management Policy 

Gifts and Hospitality Policy 

Protected Disclosure Procedures 

Recruitment and Selection Guidelines and Policy Check Policy 

Register of Interests Policy 

Fraud and Corruption Control Procedures 

Audit Committee Charter 

Risk Management and Fraud Control Group Terms of Reference 

Risk Management Principles and Guidelines AS/NZS ISO 31000-2009 

Australian Standard on Fraud Control and Corruption Control (AS8001:2008) 
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Review of Policy 

This policy will be reviewed in two years from the date of endorsement, or as 
legislation required, or Council determines a need has arisen.  
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Supporting Policy 

Fraud and Corruption Control Policy  
 

Purpose 

Council is committed to preventing, deterring and detecting fraudulent and corrupt 
behaviour in the performance of all Council activities. The intention of the Fraud 
and Corruption Control Procedures is to implement a range of strategies and 
procedures across the organisation for managing the risks of fraud and 
corruption.  

 

Definitions 

 

Term Definition 

Council  means Maribyrnong City Council 

Councillors  means the individuals holding the office of a member 
of Maribyrnong City Council 

Corruption Dishonest activity in which a director, executive, 
manager, employee or contractor of an entity acts 
contrary to the interests of the entity and abuses 
his/her position of trust in order to achieve some 
personal gain or advantage for him or herself or for 
another person or entity.3  

Corrupt conduct includes asking for, or receiving a 
benefit of any kind, the acceptance of a bribe, in any 
form, which is punishable under law by the Victorian 
common law offence of ‘Bribery of a Public Official’ 
and offences under the Local Government Act 1989 
(Vic).  

Discloser means a person who makes a disclosure of improper 
conduct or detrimental action in accordance with the 

                                            
3 Australian Standards AS8001-2008: Fraud and Corruption Control 
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requirements of Part 2 of the Protected Disclosure 
Act 2012 

Fraud Dishonest activity causing actual or potential financial 
loss to any person or entity including theft of moneys 
or other property by employees or persons external to 
the entity and where deception is used at the time, 
immediately before or immediately following the 
activity. This also includes the deliberate falsification, 
concealment, destruction or use of falsified 
documentation used or intended for use for a normal 
business purpose or the improper use of information 
or position for personal financial benefit. 

The theft of property belonging to an entity by a 
person or persons internal to the entity but where 
deception is not used is also considered ‘fraud’ for the 
purposes of this definition.4  

Fraud can also involve misuse of confidential 
information, abuse of discretions, facilities or 
employment conditions, redirection of goods or 
services for personal use and inappropriate 
arrangements with contractors and other third parties. 

Offences of fraud may be prosecuted under a number 
of different Victorian laws. The offences are covered 
under the Crimes Act 1958 (Vic). 

IBAC means the Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption 
Commission 

Investigation means a search for evidence connecting or tending to 
connect a person (either a natural person or a body 
corporate) with conduct that infringes the criminal law 
or the policies and standards set by the Council 

 

Responsibilities 

The officer responsible for document management is the Manager 
Governance and Commercial Services. 
 

                                            
4 Australian Standards AS8001-2008: Fraud and Corruption Control 
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The Risk Management and Fraud Control Group (RMFCG) is responsible for 
reviewing all fraud procedures to ensure currency and effectiveness to identify, 
investigate and minimise fraud across the organisation. 

 
The Chief Executive Officer as the relevant principal officer must mandatorily and 
immediately notify IBAC of any matter they suspect, on reasonable grounds, to 
involve corrupt conduct.  

 
All employees supervising staff are responsible for the coordination, monitoring, 
ongoing review and communication of Council’s fraud risks. All employees 
supervising staff are responsible for exercising due diligence and control to 
prevent, detect and report acts of fraud, shall set an example, and advise 
employees of the acceptability or otherwise of their conduct. 
 
Managers and Supervisors upon notification from an employee of suspected 
fraud or corrupt conduct, or if a Manager or Supervisor has reason to suspect that 
fraud or corrupt conduct has occurred, shall immediately notify the relevant 
Director.  
 

All Councillors and staff are responsible for following all fraud control 
procedures including monitoring and reporting of any suspected fraud. 
 

Refer to the Fraud and Corruption Control Policy section in relation to 
‘Responsibilities’ for further information. 

Scope 

This procedure applies to all employees, Councillors and volunteers engaged 
directly by the City of Maribyrnong as well as all agents and contractors either 
engaged by Council or by an authorised contractor of the City of Maribyrnong. All 
levels of management and employees are responsible for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and corruption and for the implementation and operation of 
controls that minimise fraudulent and corrupt activity within their areas of 
responsibility. 

Procedures 

Council is committed to preventing, deterring and detecting fraudulent and corrupt 
behaviour in the performance of all Council activities. The intention of the Fraud 
and Corruption Control Procedures is to implement a range of strategies and 
procedures across the organisation for managing the risks of fraud and 
corruption. 
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1. Code of conduct 
This Procedure is to be read in conjunction with the Maribyrnong City Council 
Employee and Councillor Codes of Conduct.  
 
All new employees will be required to sign off on the Employee Code of Conduct 
before commencing employment with Council. Existing employees will be 
reminded of their responsibilities under the Code of Conduct at their annual 
review.  
 
Councillors endorse and sign their Councillor Code of Conduct following each 
general municipal election, and use it as the guiding document for their conduct 
for the duration of their term of office. 
 
2. Relationship with the Council Plan 
The Fraud and Corruption Control Policy supports the Council Plan 2017-2021, 
including the Strategic Resource Plan. 
 
3. Roles and accountabilities 
Responsibility for fraud and corrupt conduct prevention rests with all levels of 
management, Councillors, staff, volunteers and agency or contract staff who 
collectively must accept ownership of the controls relative to this procedure, and 
the Fraud and Corruption Control Policy.  
 
All Maribyrnong City Council employees are responsible for controlling the risk of 
fraud and corrupt behaviour within their area of responsibility. Employees at all 
levels are responsible for exercising due diligence and control to prevent, detect, 
and report acts of fraud. 
 
Directors, Managers and Coordinators shall set an example across the 
organisation, and advise employees of their responsibilities. 
 
4. Risk Management and Fraud Control Group 
It is the role of the Risk Management and Fraud Control Group (RMFCG) to 
ensure compliance with the Fraud and Corruption Control Policy. Refer to the 
Risk Management and Fraud Control Group Terms of Reference for the 
objectives, key tasks and membership of this group. 
 

5. Internal audit activity in the control of fraud 

While the primary responsibility for the identification of fraud within Council rests 
with management, Council recognises that internal audit activity can be, in the 
context of addressing all business risks, an effective part of the overall control 
environment to identify the indicators of fraud.  
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As such, Council officers will work closely with Council’s appointed internal 
auditor. The internal auditor should perform a risk assessment of Council’s 
operations and recommend an internal audit program to cover these aspects. 
The Audit and Risk Advisory Committee is responsible for reviewing and 
recommending to Council the Annual Internal Audit Plan.  

 
6. Procedures for Reporting Fraud and Corruption 
Any person to whom the Policy applies that has knowledge of a fraud and 
corruption incident, or has reason to suspect that fraud or corruption has 
occurred, has an obligation to immediately report the matter. The matter can be 
reported generally, or as a protected disclosure.  
 
6.1 Employees 
Where an employee suspects that fraudulent or corrupt conduct is occurring, or 
has occurred, the employee should report those suspicions to their 
Manager/Supervisor.  
 
Where the employee does not feel comfortable reporting their suspicions to their 
Manager/Supervisor, they should report such matters to the relevant Director.  
 
6.2 Manager/Director 
On receiving a report of suspected fraud or corrupt conduct, the Manager/Director 
must record details of the report, including the time and date the report is made 
and details of the matters raised.  
 
Where the issue may involve disciplinary action against an employee, the 
Manager Organisational Development must be advised.  
 
6.3 Notifying the Chief Executive Officer 
Except where it has been reported as a disclosure pursuant to the Protected 
Disclosure Act 2012 which is ‘protected’ under that Act, all reported incidents of 
suspected fraud or corrupt conduct must be immediately reported to the Chief 
Executive Officer by the Director or Manager prior to any investigation of such 
allegations being undertaken.  
 
6.4 Contractors 
Contractors or other people involved in the contracting process may become 
aware of, or have information indicating, fraudulent or unfair activity in relation to 
the tender processes or service provision. Contractors may feel reluctant to report 
suspected fraud or corrupt conduct or other behaviour that is intimidatory or 
grossly unfair, for fear of repercussions affecting their future business dealings 
with Council. If these circumstances arise, contractors are requested to contact 
the relevant Contract Manager, Director or Chief Executive Officer.  
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6.5 Protected Disclosure 
The Protected Disclosure Act 2012 protects persons who report improper conduct 
by public officers against reprisals. To support this process, Council has adopted 
Protected Disclosure Procedures. The Protected Disclosure Coordinator should 
be contacted should you wish to avail yourself of the protections afforded by the 
Protected Disclosure Act. The Chief Executive Officer must notify IBAC of any 
matter which they suspect on reasonable grounds that corrupt conduct has 
occurred or is occurring. 
 
No person acting on behalf of the Council shall: 
 

 Dismiss or threaten to dismiss an employee; 

 Discipline or suspend or threaten to discipline or suspend an employee 

 Impose any penalty upon an employee, or 

 Intimidate or coerce an employee, 

because the employee has acted in accordance with the requirements of the 
Protected Disclosure Procedures. The violation of this section may result in 
discipline up to and including termination of employment.  
 
Employees and officers of the Council or other persons who wish to make a 
protected disclosure may make that disclosure to: 
 

 One of Council’s Protected Disclosure Officers: 
 

 Protected Disclosure Coordinator 
 Manager Governance and Commercial Services 
 Lisa King 
 Ph: 9688 0302 
  
 Protected Disclosure Officer 
 Coordinator Governance 
 Danny Bilaver 
 Ph: 9688 0354 
  
 Welfare Manager 
 Coordinator Human Resource Management 
 Paul Anstey 
 Ph: 9688 0112 
  

 IBAC 
 Level 1, North Tower  
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 459 Collins Street 
 Melbourne VIC 3000 
 Postal address: GPO Box 24234 
 Telephone: 1300 735 135 
 Website: www.ibac.vic.gov.au 

 
The Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission (IBAC) has overall 
responsibility for administration of the Protected Disclosure Act 2012 and is the 
body responsible for determining whether a disclosure is a protected disclosure 
complaint. Once it has assessed a protected disclosure complaint, IBAC 
determines if it will investigate the protected disclosure complaint or refer it to 
another body, such as the Victorian Ombudsman, to investigate.  
 
If IBAC refers a protected disclosure complaint to the Victorian Ombudsman, the 
investigation is conducted under Part IV of the Ombudsman Act 1973. Before 
investigating a protected disclosure complaint, the Victorian Ombudsman may 
make enquiries to determine if the investigation is warranted. 
 
For further information refer to Council’s Protected Disclosure Procedures.  

 
7. Procedures for Fraud Investigation 
 
7.1 Internal Investigation  

Where information received by the CEO is assessed to warrant investigation, 
arrangements for such an investigation will be made with the relevant Director. In 
cases where the matter is handled internally, the CEO may appoint an 
appropriate Officer to be responsible for conducting the investigation and 
ensuring the matter is dealt with comprehensively and fairly to all parties involved. 
The investigator may call upon assistance from legal advisors, forensic 
accountants and/or forensic IT, and other specialised subject matter experts as 
required. 

 
This arrangement will include securing all related documentation and may include 
suspension of employee(s) being investigated.  
 
Reports will be received in confidence and the person reporting the suspected 
fraud or corrupt conduct will be protected from any adverse repercussions, 
provided that there is no evidence of malice.  
 
Any person contacted by an investigator is to cooperate with the process.  
 
 

http://www.ibac.vic.gov.au/
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7.2 External Investigation  
Depending on the nature of the allegations, investigations involving instances of 
fraud or corrupt conduct may be referred to an independent third party for 
investigation. All protected disclosure reports will be mandatorily reported to IBAC 
for investigation.  
 
7.3 Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission (IBAC) or 
Victorian Ombudsman 
IBAC is responsible for exposing and preventing corrupt conduct in the public 
sector. It deals with serious corruption and misconduct involving council 
employees and councillors. 
 
The Victorian Ombudsman investigates the actions, decisions or conduct of 
public sector organisations and their staff. It also looks at whether a public sector 
organisation has acted in accordance with the Charter of Human Rights and 
Responsibilities Act 2006. 
 
IBAC or the Victorian Ombudsman may determine whether an investigation will 
take place, and either conduct the investigation itself, or refer the complaint to 
another agency to conduct the investigation.  
 
7.4 Local Government Investigations and Compliance Inspectorate 
The Local Government Investigations and Compliance Inspectorate is the 
dedicated integrity agency for local government in Victoria. 
 
The Inspectorate investigates matters related to council operations including 
criminal offences involving councillors, senior council officers or any person 
subject to the conflict of interest provisions of the Local Government Act 1989. 
 
When a complaint is received, the Inspectorate will determine if the matter is 
within its jurisdiction. The Inspectorate will determine whether an investigation will 
take place, and either conduct the investigation itself, or refer the complaint to 
another agency to conduct the investigation.  
 

7.5 Criminal Investigation - Victoria Police 
The reporting of fraudulent and corrupt behaviour to the Victorian Police for 
criminal investigation is the responsibility of the CEO. Council will provide all 
assistance possible to Police investigators. 
 
If a criminal investigation is pending, care must be taken with evidence. Where 
possible, the original documents and information should be securely retained at 
Maribyrnong City Council and the chain of evidence maintained. Verified copies 
of evidence should be supplied to external investigators, unless otherwise 

https://www.humanrightscommission.vic.gov.au/human-rights/the-charter
https://www.humanrightscommission.vic.gov.au/human-rights/the-charter
http://www9.austlii.edu.au/cgi-bin/viewdb/au/legis/vic/consol_act/lga1989182/
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instructed by a court of law. For more information, refer to MCC’s Protected 
Disclosures Procedures. 
 
In all cases confidentiality, will be maintained and the principles of natural justice 
adhered to. 

 
7.6 Maribyrnong City Council's Human Rights and Social Justice 
Framework  
All investigations will comply with the Maribyrnong City Council Human Rights 
and Social Justice Framework. Council respects people’s right to privacy as 
outlined in the Human Rights Charter and Responsibilities Act 2006, the Privacy 
and Data Protection Act 2014 and the Commonwealth Privacy Act 1988.  
 

7.7 Documentation of the results of the investigation 
The results of an investigation will be documented and kept as a confidential 
corporate record for up to 15 years in accordance with the requirements of the 
Public Records Office of Victoria (PROV) General Retention and Disposal 
Authority PROS 07/01.The recorded information will contain all the findings, 
actions, recoveries and any disciplinary actions that may have arisen from the 
investigation. 
 

8. Fraud and Corruption Control 
 
Maribyrnong City Council will provide tailored fraud risk awareness training 
programs for all staff and across all levels of management, which shall include: 

 

 Provision of training and support material for staff and management that 
includes: 

 Identification of types of fraud and corrupt behavior that may occur 

 Internal controls to be used to assist control of types of fraud 

 Clarity of responsibilities and accountabilities with regard to prevention, 
detection and reporting 

 Responsibilities and processes for reporting fraud 
 

Both the Fraud and Corruption Control Policy and Employee Code of Conduct will 
be included in the Induction Program for new employees. 
 
The Councillor Code of Conduct forms an integral component of the Induction 
Program for all Councillors following an election. 

 
8.1 Internal control review following discovery of fraud 
In the event that fraud or corrupt activity is discovered, the CEO will immediately - 
by way of internal review - undertake a full appraisal of all internal controls and 
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systems in the business. The CEO may appoint external subject matter experts 
where required to assist with strengthening documented controls. 
 
8.2 Fraud and corruption risk management 
All identified fraud and corruption risks are to be entered on to the Fraud Risk 
Register. Risk assessments are a management responsibility and are undertaken 
in accordance with AS/NZ/ISO 31000:2018. 
 
8.3 Regular program for fraud risk assessment 
Managers will bi-annually, or as a result of a change in their business practices or 
legislation, or the outcomes of regular business audits, assess their exposure to 
fraud and corruption-related risk. 
 

Each Manager is responsible for the identification of the potential exposure to 
fraud risk in their work area and the development, implementation and monitoring 
of internal controls (systems, processes and procedures) to minimise these risks. 
 
8.4 Ongoing review of fraud control strategies 
Management will bi-annually, or as a result of a change in their business 
practices or legislation, or the outcomes of regular business audits, assess the 
effectiveness of the fraud and corruption control strategies to ensure that the 
controls remain effective. 
 
8.5 Fraud risk assessment 
Fraud-related risk will be assessed using the adopted Maribyrnong City Council 
Risk Matrix to determine likelihood and consequence. 
 
8.6 Implementation of proposed controls/actions 
All fraud and corruption-related risk, as recorded in Council’s risk register, will 
have a risk treatment plan developed by the relevant risk owner. These 
treatments will be reviewed regularly for effectiveness against any residual risk 
remaining after the treatments have been completed. 
 

The fraud and corruption risk register will be reviewed annually, unless there is a 
change of the operating/legislative environment that may require a review of the 
fraud exposures. 
 
9. Recovery of the proceeds of fraudulent or corrupt conduct 

 
There are three possible avenues to recover losses arising from fraudulent or 
corrupt conduct: 
 

 Internal recovery 



Maribyrnong City Council   
Ordinary Council Meeting - 11 September 2018 Page 178 

Agenda Item 9.4 - Attachment  2 

 

 Insurance 

 Police asset recovery 
 

Council maintains fidelity guarantee insurance to insure Council against the risk 
of loss arising from internal fraudulent conduct.  

 Review of Procedures 

These Procedures will be reviewed every two years. The review will be managed 
by the Manager Governance and Commercial Services and endorsed by the Risk 
Management and Fraud Control Group. 
 

The Procedures will also be reviewed in circumstances where there are major 
changes to the Council’s business and/or operations or legislation. 
 

The review will take into consideration any changes to the business conditions, 
outcomes of risk assessments conducted and outcomes to detected fraud and/or 
corruption events. 

Related Legislation 

Local Government Act 1989 

Crimes Act 1958 (Vic) 

Independent Broad-based Anti-Corruption Commission Act 2011 

Ombudsman Act 1973 

Protected Disclosure Act 2012  

Related Documents 

Employee Code of Conduct 

Councillor Code of Conduct 

Fraud and Corruption Policy  

Procurement Policy 

Risk Management Policy 

Gifts and Hospitality Policy 

Protected Disclosure Procedures 
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Recruitment and Selection Guidelines and Policy Check Policy 

Register of Interests Policy 

Audit Committee Charter 

Risk Management and Fraud Control Group Terms of Reference 

Risk Management Principles and Guidelines AS/NZS ISO 31000-2009 

Australian Standard on Fraud Control and Corruption Control (AS8001:2008) 

 



Maribyrnong City Council   
Ordinary Council Meeting - 11 September 2018 Page 180 

Agenda Item 9.4 - Attachment  3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Protected Disclosures Procedure 
 

 
Records 
number: 
 

 
 
18/89451 

 
Endorsed by: 

 
Council 

Date 
Endorsed: 
 

TBC Policy Author: Manager 
Governance and 
Commercial 
Services 

Policy Owner: 
 
 
Procedure 
Status: 
 

Manager Governance and 
Commercial Services 
 
Active 
 

Review date 
 
Policy type 

July 2020 
 
Council 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
REVISION RECORD 
 
Date Version Revision Description 

3/7/2012 1 New procedure superseding Fraud and Corruption Control and 
Whistleblower Policy and Procedure 2011 

June 2018 2 Review 

   

   



Maribyrnong City Council   
Ordinary Council Meeting - 11 September 2018 Page 181 

Agenda Item 9.4 - Attachment  3 

 

 

Table of Contents 
 

Introduction ........................................................................................................... 1 

Purpose ................................................................................................................ 1 

Scope .................................................................................................................... 1 

Definitions ............................................................................................................. 2 

Responsibilities ..................................................................................................... 6 

Procedures ........................................................................................................... 8 

Related Legislation ............................................................................................. 25 

Related Documents ............................................................................................ 26 

Review of Procedure ........................................................................................... 26 

Appendix 1 - Process for Making a Disclosure ................................................... 27 

Appendix 2 - Where to report disclosures ........................................................... 28 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Maribyrnong City Council   
Ordinary Council Meeting - 11 September 2018 Page 182 

Agenda Item 9.4 - Attachment  3 

 

Introduction 

Maribyrnong City Council is committed to the aims and objectives of the 
Protected Disclosure Act 2012. It does not tolerate corrupt or improper conduct 
by its employees, officers, or Councillors, nor the taking of reprisals against those 
who disclose such conduct.  
 
Council recognises the value of transparency and accountability in its 
administrative and management practices and supports the making of 
disclosures that: 
 

a) Reveal corrupt conduct, such as conduct involving a substantial 
mismanagement of public resources, or 

b) Conduct involving a substantial risk to public health and safety or the 
environment 

 
Council will take all reasonable steps to protect and support people who make 
such disclosures from any detrimental action in reprisal for making the disclosure.  

Purpose 

Maribyrnong City Council is required to establish and publish procedures under 
s58 of the Protected Disclosure Act 2012 and in accordance with the Guidelines 
of the IBAC published under s57 of the Act. Council is required to ensure these 
procedures are readily available to members of the public as well as to all 
Councillors and employees of Council.  

 

These procedures establish a system to facilitate the making of disclosures of 
improper conduct or detrimental action by Council or its employees pursuant to 
the obligations on Council under the Act. It specifies the procedures for the 
handling of disclosures and, where appropriate, notification to the IBAC. It also 
provides for protection from detrimental action to any person affected by a 
protected disclosure whether it is a person who makes a disclosure, a witness, or 
a person who is the subject of an investigation.  

Scope 

These procedures apply to all Councillors, employees, volunteers, contractors 
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and consultants of Council.  

 

Disclosures may be made by employees, Councillors or by members of the 
public. A disclosure cannot be made by a business or company.  

 

Maribyrnong City Council Councillors, employees or contractors and members of 
the public are encouraged to raise matters of improper conduct, including 
suspected fraud, corruption, substantial mismanagement of public resources, risk 
to public health and safety, risk to the environment, or detrimental action. 

 

Reports of improper conduct can be made via Council’s public complaints 
process, fraud and corruption control procedures and/or, if made in accordance 
with the Act, through this Procedure. 

 

Disclosures about improper conduct or detrimental action by Maribyrnong City 
Council Councillors must be made directly to IBAC or the Victorian Ombudsman. 

Definitions 

 

Term Definition 

Act Protected Disclosure Act 2012 

Assessable disclosure A disclosure that must be made directly, or notified, 
to IBAC, that the notifier considers may be a 
protected disclosure 

Belief A disclosure has to be more than a suspicion – the 
belief must be based on reasonable grounds 

Corrupt Conduct Includes conduct: 

 of any person that adversely affects the honest 

performance by a public officer of a public body 

of his/her/its functions 

 of a public officer or public body that constitutes 

or involves knowingly or recklessly breaching 

public trust 
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 of a public officer or public body that constitutes 

or involves knowingly or recklessly breaching 

public trust 

 of a public officer or public body that involves 

the misuse of information or material acquired 

in the course of the performance of his/her 

functions 

that would, if the facts were found proved beyond a 
reasonable doubt, constitute a relevant offence5.  

Detrimental Action It is an offence for a person to take or threaten 
action in reprisal when: 

 a protected disclosure has been made 

 a person believes a protected disclosure has 

been made 

 a person believes that another person intends 

to make a protected disclosure 

 Detrimental action includes: 

 Actions causing injury, loss or damage 

 Intimidation or harassment 

 Discrimination, disadvantage or adverse 

treatment in relation to a person’s employment, 

career, profession, trade or business, including 

the taking of disciplinary action (if the person 

can prove the substantial reason is because of 

the disclosure).  

Discloser A person who makes a disclosure of improper 
conduct or detrimental action, in accordance with 
the requirements of Part 2 of the Protected 
Disclosure Act 2012 

Entity that can receive a 
disclosure 

A public service body within the meaning of section 
4(1) of the Public Administration Act 2004, a 
Council (established under the Local Government 
Act 1989), a public body or public officer prescribed 
for the purposes of section 13 of the Protected 

                                            
5 As defined in Section 4 of the Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission Act 2011 
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Disclosure Act 2012.  

IBAC Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption 
Commission 

Improper Conduct Improper conduct means 

a) corrupt conduct, or 

b) conduct specified in section 4(2) of the 
Protected Disclosure Act 2012 that would 
constitute a criminal offence, or reasonable 
grounds for dismissing, dispensing with, or 
otherwise terminating the services of the officer 
who was, or is engaged in the conduct.  

Improper conduct can also refer to any person 
whose conduct adversely affects the honest 
performance of a public officer or public official.  

Investigating entity Only the following entities can investigate a 
protected disclosure complaint: 

 IBAC  

 Victorian Ombudsman  

 Chief Commissioner of Police, and  

 Victorian Inspectorate  

Notifier The officer responsible for notifying IBAC of an 
assessable disclosure 

Protected Disclosure A disclosure made in accordance with Part 2 of the 
Protected Disclosure Act 2012. A Protected 
Disclosure is one which is made by a natural 
person or group of people who has reasonable 
grounds for the belief that a public officer or public 
body has engaged in, or intends to engage in 
improper conduct in their official capacity, or 
detrimental action. 

 

To be a protected disclosure, a disclosure must 
satisfy the following criteria: 

 Is it made by an individual, or group of people 

(joint disclosure)? 
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 Has it been made verbally (in private) or in 

writing? 

 Is it made to the right body? 

 Is it about a public body or officer acting in their 

official capacity? 

 Does the information show or tend to show 

there is improper conduct or detrimental action? 

 Does the discloser believe on reasonable 

grounds that the information shows or tends to 

show there is improper conduct or detrimental 

action? 

Protected Disclosure 
complaint 

A disclosure that has been determined by IBAC 
under section 26 of the Protected Disclosure Act 
2012 to be a protected disclosure complaint. A 
Protected Disclosure that has been determined 
warrants investigation. 

Protected Disclosure 
Coordinator/Officer 

The officer of the public body responsible for 
assessing if a disclosure is an assessable 
disclosure, and notifying IBAC, based on the 
information received by a discloser or specified 
officer. 

Public Body A public body within the meaning of section 6 of 
the Independent Broad-based Anti- corruption Act 
2011, IBAC or any other body or entity prescribed 
for the purposes of this definition. 

Public officer A public officer within the meaning of section 6 of 
the Independent Broad-based Anti- corruption Act 
2011, an IBAC officer or any other person 
prescribed for the purposes of this definition. 

Reasonable grounds Reasonable grounds for a state of mind required 
the existence of facts which are sufficient to induce 
that state of mind in a reasonable person. 

Regulations Protected Disclosure Regulations 2012 

Specified conduct As defined in section 4(2) of the Protected 
Disclosure Act 2012 and includes conduct of a 
public officer in his/her capacity as a public officer, 
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or a public body in its capacity as a public body, 
that involves: 

 substantial mismanagement of public resources 

 substantial risk to public health or safety 

 substantial risk to the environment, 

Where such conduct would, if proved, give rise to a 
criminal offence or reasonable grounds for 
terminating the services of the officer engaging in 
the conduct. 

Specified persons Officers at the public body that have been 
nominated in this procedure, to accept a 
disclosure. 

Welfare Manager The officer of the public body responsible for 
managing the welfare of witnesses, either directly 
or through and EAP program 

Witnesses A term that can refer to a discloser, the subject of a 
disclosure, or witnesses for an investigation 
relating to a Protected Disclosure Complaint 

Responsibilities 

Employees and Councillors are encouraged to raise matters of concern in 
relation to Council, including about any employee or Councillors. In particular, 
employees and Councillors are encouraged to report known or suspected 
incidences of improper conduct or detrimental action in accordance with these 
procedures, whether such conduct or action has taken place, is suspected will 
take place, or is still occurring. Disclosures may also be made about conduct that 
occurred prior to the commencement of the Act on 10 February 2013.  
 
Chief Executive Officer 
 
The CEO will: 
 

 Be responsible for ensuring Maribyrnong City Council carries out its 
responsibilities under the Act and guidelines 

 Liaise with IBAC (or referred authority) in regard to cooperating with any 
investigations 
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 Be responsible for actioning any investigation outcomes, and providing 
relevant information to the Protected Disclosure Coordinator for reporting 
requirements 

 Be responsible for instigating and overseeing any actions in response to 
concerns about detrimental actions or reprisals for a person making a 
disclosure 

 Receive a disclosure in accordance with this Procedure and the Act, and 
refer to the Protected Disclosure Coordinator or Officer for assessment as 
soon as practicable 

 Take all necessary steps to ensure the identity of the witness/es is kept 
confidential 

 
Protected Disclosure Coordinator  
 
The Protected Disclosure Coordinator has a central role in the internal reporting 
system and maintains oversight over the system.  
 
The Protected Disclosure Coordinator will: 

 Receive and assess a disclosure, in accordance with this Procedure and 
the Act, to determine whether it is an assessable disclosure 

 Notify all assessable disclosures to IBAC 

 Notify a discloser 

 Coordinate training for specified officers 

 Be a contact point for general advice about this Procedure and the Act 

 Contact the welfare manager to notify of a witness/es requiring welfare 
support 

 Hear and take notes of any concerns about detrimental action by the 
witness/es, and notify the CEO 

 Establish and maintain a confidential filing system 

 Collate and publish statistics in the Annual Report 

 Take all necessary steps to ensure the identity of the witness/es is kept 
confidential 

 Liaise with the Maribyrnong City Council CEO. 
 
The Protected Disclosure Coordinator appointed by Council is: 

Lisa King, Manager Governance and Commercial Services.  
Telephone: 9688 0200 
Mail: PO Box 58, Footscray, VIC 3011 
Email: disclosure@maribyrnong.vic.gov.au 
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Protected Disclosure Officer 
 

 The Protected Disclosure Officer will: 

 Receive and assess a disclosure, in accordance with this Procedure and 
the Act, to determine whether it is an assessable disclosure 

 Be a contact point for general advice about this Procedure and the Act 

 Contact the welfare manager to notify of a witness/es requiring welfare 
support 

 Establish and maintain a confidential filing system 

 Take all necessary steps to ensure the identity of the witness/es is kept 
confidential 

 
The Protected Disclosure Officer appointed by Council is: 

Danny Bilaver, Coordinator Governance 
Telephone: 9688 0200 
Mail: PO Box 58, Footscray VIC 3011 
Email: disclosure@maribyrnong.vic.gov.au 

 
Welfare Manager  
 
The Welfare Manager is responsible for looking after the general welfare of a 
person making a protected disclosure. The Welfare Manager will: 

 Make initial, and then regular confidential contact with the witness/es to 
provide support, and determine/organise professional counselling through 
EAP, if required 

 Hear and take notes of any concerns about detrimental action by the 
witness/es, and notify the Protected Disclosure Coordinator or CEO 

 Not discuss any aspects of the disclosure or investigation with the 
witness/es 

 Establish and maintain a confidential filing system 

 Take all necessary steps to ensure the identity of the witness/es is kept 
confidential 

 
The Welfare Manager appointed by Council is: 

Paul Anstey, Coordinator Human Resources 
Telephone: 9688 0200 
Mail: PO Box 58, Footscray VIC 3011 

 
Managers and supervisors will: 

 Receive a disclosure in accordance with this Procedure and the Act, and 
refer to the Protected Disclosure Coordinator or Officer for assessment as 
soon as practicable 
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 Attend mandatory training on receiving a disclosure in line with this 
Procedure 

 Establish and maintain a confidential filing system 

 Take all necessary steps to ensure the identity of the witness/es is kept 
confidential 
 

Managers and supervisors can be: 

 Direct or indirect (line) supervisor or manager of the discloser 

 Direct or indirect (line) supervisor or manager of the subject of the 
disclosure 
 

IBAC 
 
IBAC is Victoria’s anti-corruption agency responsible for preventing and exposing 
public sector corruption and police misconduct.  
 

Phone: 1300 735 135 
Mail: GPO Box 24234 Melbourne VIC 3000 
Level 1, North Tower, 459 Collins Street, Melbourne  
Email: info@ibac.vic.gov.au  
Web: www.ibac.vic.gov.au 

 
Procedures 
1. Making a Disclosure 
 
1.1 What is a disclosure? 
A disclosure may be made about two things under the Act: 

 Improper conduct of public bodies or public officers; and 

 Detrimental action taken by public bodies or public officers in reprisal 
against a person for the making of a protected disclosure 

 
The term disclosure is interpreted under the Act in the ordinary sense of the 
word, for example, as a “revelation” to the person receiving it. A complaint or 
allegation that is already in the public domain will not normally be a protected 
disclosure. Such material would, for example, include matters which have 
already been subject to media or other public commentary.  
 
1.2 Who can make a disclosure? 
A disclosure may: 

 Only be made by a natural person (or a group of individuals making joint 
disclosures); 

mailto:infor@ibac.vic.gov.au
http://www.ibac.vic.gov.au/
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 Cannot be made by a company or an organization, but its officers or 
employees can; 

 Be made anonymously 

 Be made even where the discloser is unable to identify precisely the 
individual or the organisation to which the disclosure relates; and 

 Also be a complaint, notification or disclosure (or however described under 
another law) 

 
Anonymous disclosures may create difficulties in Council being able to 
communicate with the discloser, and some of the notification requirements 
imposed on Council in relation to disclosures will not apply in relation to an 
anonymously made disclosure. In addition, it may impede Council’s ability to 
properly assess whether the complaint or allegation is a protected disclosure for 
the purposes of the Act.  
 
The disclosure must relate to Maribyrnong City Council employees, Councillors, 
contractors or organisation (public body), in relation to public duties or functions. 
If the disclosure does not relate to Maribyrnong City Council, then the person 
taking the disclosure should refer the discloser to the appropriate public body or 
IBAC. 
 
1.3 How can a disclosure be made? 
A disclosure must be made in accordance with Part 2 of the Act. Part 2 of the Act 
permits disclosures to be made anonymously, orally or in writing and need not 
identify the person or organization being complained about.  
 
Generally: 
 

 Verbal disclosure may be made: 

o In person; 

o By telephone; 

o By leaving a voicemail message on a particular telephone 

answering machine; or 

o By any other form of non-written electronic communication 

 
An oral disclosure must be made in private. To maintain confidentiality, the 
disclosure can be made at a time and location of the discloser’s choosing. The 
disclosure must be taken in a private environment, and organised in a way that 
protects the confidentiality of the meeting.  
 
If verbal, the person receiving the disclosure must make notes at the time. These 
notes, and/or any supporting evidence provided, must be kept secure and only 
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provided to the Protected Disclosure Coordinator or IBAC. 
 
A person can make a written disclosure via email or letter. A letter must be hand- 
delivered or mailed or emailed. Disclosures cannot be made by fax. 
 
A written disclosure to the IBAC and the Victorian Ombudsman can be made via 
an online form available at each of their respective websites: 

 https://www.ibac.vic.gov.au/reporting-corruption/complaints-form 

 https://www.ombudsman.vic.gov.au/Complaints/Make-a-Complaint 
 
1.4 The disclosure must be made to a body authorised to receive it 
One of the requirements in Part 2 of the Act is that the disclosure has been made 
to a body authorised under the Act to receive the disclosure. 
 
Council can only deal with disclosures which concern Council and its employees. 
 
Disclosures about improper conduct or detrimental action by Council’s 
Councillors must be made to the IBAC or the Victorian Ombudsman. Those 
disclosures must not be made to the Council.  
 
Disclosures about improper conduct or detrimental action by Council or its 
employees and staff may be made to Council or one of four external authorities: 

 IBAC; 

 The Victorian Ombudsman in relation to limited types of disclosures; 

 The Victorian Inspectorate in relation to limited types of disclosures; or 

 The Chief Commissioner of Police in relation to limited types of 
disclosures.  

 

Disclosure relates to: Disclosure can be made to: 

Maribyrnong City Council 
Employee/Contractor/ 
Organisation 

 Protected Disclosure Coordinator 

 Protected Disclosure Officer 

 CEO 

 IBAC 

 Managers or supervisors: 
• Direct or Indirect (Line) Supervisor or 

Manager of the discloser 
• Direct or Indirect (Line) Supervisor or 

Manager of the subject of the disclosure 
Maribyrnong City Council 
Councillor 

 IBAC 

 Victorian Ombudsman 

 
 

https://www.ibac.vic.gov.au/reporting-corruption/complaints-form
https://www.ombudsman.vic.gov.au/Complaints/Make-a-Complaint
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1.5 Making a disclosure to the Council 
Council can only address disclosures that relate to Council or an employee of 
Council. Disclosures about Councillors must be made to IBAC or the Victorian 
Ombudsman.  
 
In accordance with the Regulations, an oral disclosure must be made in private, 
either in person, by telephone or some form of electronic communication not 
involving writing, to: 
 

 The CEO, or 

 Council’s Protected Disclosure Coordinator or Council’s Protected 
Disclosure Officer; or 

 The person’s supervisor or manager (if the person making the disclosure 
is an employee of Council, or the disclosure relates to a person who is an 
employee of Council). 

 
A written disclosure must be: 

 Delivered personally to the office of Council; 

 Sent by post addressed to Council’s office; or 

 Emailed to the CEO or Council’s Protected Disclosure Coordinator or 
Officer at disclosure@maribyrnong.vic.gov.au 

 
1.6 Making a disclosure to IBAC 
An oral disclosure to IBAC must be made in private and may be made: 

 In person 

 By telephone, to 1300 735 135 

 By leaving a voicemail message on the telephone number of one of the 
specified individuals below and to whom an oral disclosure can be made 

 By some other form of non-written electronic communication 
 
The oral disclosure must be made to one of the following persons: 

 The Commissioner of the IBAC; 

 The Deputy Commissioner of the IBAC; 

 The CEO of the IBAC; 

 An employee referred to in s 35(1) of the IBAC Act; or 

 Any staff referred to in s 35(2) of the IBAC Act 
 
A written disclosure to the IBAC must be: 

 Delivered personally to the office of the IBAC, at Level 1, North Tower, 
459 Collins Street, Melbourne, VIC 3001; or 

 Sent by post addressed to the office of the IBAC, at GPO Box 24234, 
Melbourne, VIC 3001 

mailto:disclosure@maribyrnong.vic.gov.au
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 Sent by email to the official email address of a person specified above to 
whom an oral disclosure may be made (i.e the Commissioner, the Deputy 
Commissioner, the CEO, or employee or staff referred to in s 35 of the 
IBAC Act); or 

 Submitted by an online form available from 
https://www.ibac.vic.gov.au/reporting-corruption/complaints-form  

 
1.7 Making a disclosure to the Victorian Ombudsman 
An oral disclosure to the Victorian Ombudsman must be made in private and may 
be made: 

 In person; 

 By telephone, to 9613 6222, or toll free (regional areas only) to 1800 806 
314 

 By leaving a voicemail message on the telephone number of any Victorian 
Ombudsman officer; or 

 By some other form of non-written electronic communication 
 
The oral disclosure may be made to a Victorian Ombudsman officer.  
 
Written disclosure to the Ombudsman must be: 

 Delivered personally to the office of the Victorian Ombudsman, at Level 2, 
570 Bourke Street, Melbourne, VIC 3000; or 

 Sent by post addressed to the office of the Victorian Ombudsman, as 
above; or 

 Sent by email to the official email address of any Victorian Ombudsman 
officer; or 

 Submitted by an online form available from: 
https://www.ombudsman.vic.gov.au/Complaints/Make-a-Complaint  

 
2. Handling Disclosures 
 
2.1 Receiving a disclosure 
When the Council receives a complaint, report or allegation of improper conduct 
or detrimental action, the first step will be to ascertain whether it has been made 
in accordance with Part 2 of the Act.  
 
If the disclosure satisfies Part 2 of the Act, the discloser is entitled to receive 
protections under Part 6 of the Act (see section 3 of these procedures). 
 
At the time of the disclosure being made, the following will be discussed with the 
discloser: 

 The intent of the Act and what constitutes a protected disclosure 

https://www.ibac.vic.gov.au/reporting-corruption/complaints-form
https://www.ombudsman.vic.gov.au/Complaints/Make-a-Complaint
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 The role of Maribyrnong City Council and IBAC 

 Details and evidence of the allegation 

 The expectations of the discloser 

 The options available to the discloser. If the discloser does not want to 
make a protected disclosure at this time, this decision must be confirmed 
in writing  

 
2.2 Assessment of Disclosure 
The person taking a disclosure must, as soon as practicable, provide the details 
of the disclosure – including any notes or supporting evidence – to the Protected 
Disclosure Coordinator or Protected Disclosure Officer in person. 
 
The Protected Disclosure Coordinator will assess the disclosure in accordance 
with the requirements of the Act. If the disclosure satisfies the requirements of 
Part 2 of the Act, Council is required to determine whether the disclosure may be 
a protected disclosure by going through the 2 step assessment process 
recommended by the IBAC as follows.  
 
This will be the case even if the discloser does not refer to the Act or require the 
protections of the Act. The initial assessment is made on the nature of the 
information disclosed or on the belief that the discloser has about the nature of 
the information, and not the discloser’s intention.  
 
2.2.1 First Step 
The first question Council must answer is whether the information disclosed 
shows, or tends to show, that there is improper conduct or detrimental action 
taken in reprisal for the making of a protected disclosure.  
 
This requires the Council to ascertain whether the information satisfied the 
‘elements’ of improper conduct or detrimental action, as defined in the Act and 
whether any of the relevant exceptions apply. This may require Council to: 

 Seek further information; 

 Conduct a discreet initial enquiry; 

 Seek (further) evidence from the discloser; 

 Ascertain whether there is sufficient supporting material to demonstrate 
that the conduct or actions covered by the Act have occurred, are 
occurring or are likely to occur.  

 
If it is not clear that the information disclosed does show or tend to show that 
there is improper conduct or detrimental action, then Council will move to the 
second step below.  
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2.2.2 Second Step 
This requires Council to ask whether the discloser believes on reasonable 
grounds that the information shows or tends to show there is improper conduct or 
detrimental action. That is, does the person actually believe that the information 
shows, or tends to show, there is improper conduct or detrimental action? A 
reasonable belief requires the belief to be based on facts that would be sufficient 
to make a reasonable person believe there was improper conduct or detrimental 
action.  
 
This reasonable belief does not have to be based on actual proof that the 
improper conduct or detrimental action in fact occurred, is occurring, or will occur, 
but there must be some information supporting this belief. The grounds for the 
reasonable belief can leave something to surmise or conjecture, but it must be 
more than just a reasonable suspicion, and the belief must be probable.  
 
According to the IBAC, simply stating that improper conduct or detrimental action 
is occurring, without providing any supporting information, would not be a 
sufficient basis for having a reasonable belief. In the IBAC’s view, a belief cannot 
be based on a mere allegation or conclusion unsupported by any further facts or 
circumstances.  
 
Other matters that the IBAC suggests Council can consider are: 

 The reliability of the information provided by the discloser, even if it is 
second or third-hand. For example, how would the discloser have 
obtained the information? 

 The amount of detail that has been provided in the information 
disclosed; and 

 The credibility of the discloser, or of those people who have provided 
the discloser with information.  

 
2.2.3 Urgent Action 
If the person taking the disclosure believes the disclosure details behaviour or a 
threat requiring urgent action, they should report the relevant details (not the 
discloser’s identity) to their Director or the CEO.  
 
In these cases Council can take immediate action while considering whether or 
not it is an assessable disclosure that must be notified to the IBAC or awaiting 
the IBAC’s decision on a notified matter.  
 
The Director, CEO or Protected Disclosure Coordinator must notify IBAC of any 
urgent action undertaken. 
 
It may also be necessary to report criminal conduct to Victoria Police for 
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immediate investigation, or take management action against an employee to 
prevent future conduct. Reporting the alleged conduct to the Victoria Police as 
criminal conduct, or taking legitimate management action against the subject of 
the disclosure in order to prevent future conduct, may be appropriate courses of 
action in these circumstances.  
 
Examples of this provided by the IBAC include where the disclosure may be 
about: 

 A child protection worker allegedly sexually assaulting children in care; 

 A council worker allegedly lighting bush fires; 

 A person threatening to poison the water supply. 
 
Section 52(3)(a)(iii) of the Act allows Council to disclose the content of the 
disclosure by a person of body “to the extent necessary for the purpose of taking 
lawful action in relation to the conduct that is subject of an assessable disclosure 
including disciplinary process or action”.  
 
2.2.4 Assessment Decisions 
If Council decides it may be a protected disclosure, it must notify the IBAC of the 
disclosure. If the matter is considered not to be an assessable disclosure, then 
the Protected Disclosure Coordinator will notify the discloser and recommend the 
discloser follows up the issue under Council’s complaints procedure, grievance 
procedure or other appropriate avenue. 
 
2.3 Notification to IBAC and Discloser 
Within 28 days of receipt of disclosure by a discloser or specified person at 
Council: 
 
1. The Protected Disclosure Coordinator will notify IBAC in writing via registered 

mail of an assessable disclosure, including relevant details and supporting 
evidence. 

 
The Protected Disclosure Coordinator will also notify the discloser (in writing if 
contact details are available and/or it is not an anonymous disclosure) that: 

 The disclosure has been notified to IBAC for assessment and IBAC will be 
the body responsible for further assessing, and 
dismissing/investigating/referring the disclosure. 

 It is an offence under section 74 of the Act  to disclose that the disclosure 
has been notified to IBAC for assessment under the Act 

 
OR 
 



Maribyrnong City Council   
Ordinary Council Meeting - 11 September 2018 Page 198 

Agenda Item 9.4 - Attachment  3 

 

2. If the Protected Disclosure Coordinator determines the disclosure is not an 
assessable disclosure, they will notify the discloser (in writing if contact 
details are available and/or it is not an anonymous disclosure) that: 

 Council does not consider the disclosure to be a protected disclosure 

 The disclosure has not been notified to IBAC for assessment 

 The protections under Part 6 of the Act apply, regardless of whether the 
disclosure is notified to IBAC for assessment, 

 The options available to pursue the matter, including making the 
disclosure directly to IBAC, or making a complaint/report/allegation 
through Council’s complaints policy, grievance procedure or other 
appropriate avenue. 

 
2.4 Investigations 
It is the responsibility of the CEO to cooperate with, and undertake any actions 
resulting from the findings and outcomes of a Protected Disclosure Complaint 
investigation by IBAC, or referred investigations by the Victorian Ombudsman or 
Victorian Inspectorate. 
 
2.5 Protections for public officers 
A public officer is given specific protections under the Act to provide information 
to other public officers or to the IBAC in dealing with a disclosure they have 
received. When a public officer acts in good faith and in accordance with the Act, 
Regulations and the IBAC’s Guidelines, the public officer does not commit an 
offence under laws imposing a duty to maintain confidentiality or restricting the 
disclosure of information.  
 
3. Welfare management 
3.1 Commitment to protecting people making protected disclosures 
Council is committed to the protection of genuine disclosures against detrimental 
action taken in reprisal for the making of a protected disclosure.  
 
The protection of persons making genuine protected disclosures against 
improper conduct or detrimental action is essential for the effective 
implementation of the Act. In addition, the Act extends the need for welfare 
management to people who have cooperated or intend to cooperate with an 
investigation of a protected disclosure complaint (“cooperators”). Persons who 
are the subject of allegations will also have their welfare looked after.  
 
Council must ensure disclosers and cooperators are protected from direct and 
indirect detrimental action being taken against them in reprisal for the protected 
disclosure. Council will ensure its workplace culture supports disclosers and 
cooperators. Such support will extend to the relevant persons regardless of 
whether they are internal to the organisation (e.g. employees, Councillors, other 



Maribyrnong City Council   
Ordinary Council Meeting - 11 September 2018 Page 199 

Agenda Item 9.4 - Attachment  3 

 

officers) or external members of the public. However, different legislative 
responsibilities (including those external to the Act) apply to persons internal to 
the organisation, and to persons who may be clients or users of Council’s 
services. Those derive from various legislative and administrative obligations to: 

 Ensure the health and wellbeing of employees of a public sector body 
under laws including those relating to Occupational Health and Safety, the 
Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities Act 2006, the Public 
Administration Act 2004, and various Victorian Public Sector Codes of 
Conduct (as relevant); and 

 Comply with various relevant laws, policies and practices when making 
administrative and other decisions or taking particular actions affecting a 
customer, client or user of the public body’s services.  

 
Generally, for employees, Council will ensure a supportive work environment and 
respond appropriately to any reports of intimidation or harassment against these 
persons. For external persons, Council will take reasonable steps to provide 
appropriate support. Council will discuss reasonable expectations with all 
persons receiving welfare management in connection with a protected disclosure.  
 
3.2 Support available to disclosers and cooperators 
Council will support disclosers and cooperators by: 
 

 keeping them informed, by providing: 
o confirmation that the disclosure has been received; 
o the legislative or administrative protections available to the person; 
o a description of any action proposed to be taken; 
o if action has been taken by Council, details about results of the 

action known to Council; 

 providing active support by: 
o acknowledging the person for having come forward 
o assuring the discloser or cooperator that they have done the right 

thing, and Council appreciates it; 
o making a clear offer of support; 
o assuring them that all reasonable steps will be taken to protect 

them; 
o giving them an undertaking to keep them informed as far as Council 

is reasonably able to; 

 managing their expectations by undertaking an early discussion with them 
about: 

o what outcome they seek; 
o whether their expectations are realistic; 
o what Council will be able to deliver; 

 maintaining confidentiality by: 
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o ensuring as far as is possible that other people cannot infer the 
identity of the discloser or cooperator; 

o reminding the discloser or cooperator not to reveal themselves or to 
reveal any information that would enable others to identify them as 
a discloser or cooperator; 

o ensuring that hardcopy and electronic files relating to the disclosure 
are accessible only to those who are involved in managing 
disclosures in Council; 

 proactively assessing the risk of detrimental action being taken in reprisal 
(rather than reactively waiting for a problem to arise and a complaint made 
by the discloser or cooperator), that is, actively monitor the workplace, 
anticipating problems and dealing with them before they develop as far as 
is possible; 

 protecting the discloser or cooperator by: 
o examining the immediate welfare and protection needs of the 

person and seeking to foster a supportive work environment; 
o listening and responding to any concerns the person may have 

about harassment, intimidation or victimisation in reprisal for their 
actions; 

 assessing whether the concerns the person may have about harassment, 
intimidation or victimisation might be due to other causes other than those 
related to the protected disclosure; 

 preventing the spread of gossip and rumours about any investigation into 
the protected disclosure; and 

 keeping contemporaneous records of all aspects of the case management 
of the person, including all contact and follow-up action. 

 
3.3 Welfare Manager 
The welfare manager is responsible for looking after the general welfare of the 
witness/es – including the discloser/s, anyone participating in an investigation, 
and the person who is the subject of a disclosure. The welfare manager will: 

 Examine the immediate welfare and protection needs of a witness, to 
foster a supportive work environment 

 Listen and respond to any concerns of harassment, intimidation or 
victimisation in reprisal for making a disclosure, make notes and advise 
the Protected Disclosure Coordinator, Officer or CEO 

 Organise professional counselling through Council’s Employee Assist 
service provider, if identified as appropriate or requested by the witness 
(not disclosing the details of the matter to the service, beyond it for is a 
protected disclosure witness) 

 Attempt to ensure the expectations of the witness are realistic, and that 
their efforts to maintain confidentiality around the matter will assist in 
ensuring them the protections of the Act. 
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The welfare manager must not divulge any details relating the disclosed matter to 
any person other than the Protected Disclosure Coordinator, or the CEO. All 
meetings between the welfare manager and the witness must be conducted 
discreetly to protect the person’s identity. 
 
3.4 Protections for persons making a protected disclosure 
Part 6 of the Act sets out the protections provided to persons who make a 
disclosure that is a ‘protected disclosure’, i.e., one that is made in accordance 
with Part 2 of the Act. In summary, they are as follows: 

 the discloser is not subject to any civil or criminal liability for making the 
protected disclosure; 

 the discloser is not subject to any administrative action (including 
disciplinary action) for making the protected disclosure; 

 by making the protected disclosure, the discloser is not committing an 
offence against the Constitution Act 1975 or any other law that imposes 
obligations of confidentiality or otherwise restricts the disclosure of 
information; 

 by making the protected disclosure, the discloser is not breaching any 
other obligation (made by oath, rule of law or practice) requiring him or her 
to maintain confidentiality; and 

 the discloser cannot be held liable for defamation in relation to information 
included in a protected disclosure made by him or her. 

 
The protections in Part 6 apply from the time at which the disclosure is made by 
the discloser. They apply even if Council receiving the disclosure does not notify 
the disclosure to the IBAC, and even if the IBAC has determined that the 
protected disclosure is not a protected disclosure complaint. 
 
The protections also apply to further information relating to a protected disclosure 
made by the original discloser, if the further information has been provided, 
verbally or in writing, to:  

 the entity to which the protected disclosure was made;  

 the IBAC; or any investigating entity investigating the protected disclosure. 
 
Sections 52 and 53 of the Act refer specifically to confidentiality obligations of 
persons receiving information connected with an assessable disclosure, or 
leading to the identification of a discloser. Those confidentiality obligations do not 
apply to disclosers. 
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3.4.1 Actions of the discloser constituting offences and leading to 
protections being lost 
A discloser is not protected if they commit an offence under s 72 or s 73 of Act, 
as follows: 
 

 provide false or misleading information, or further information that relates 
to a protected disclosure, that the person knows to be false or misleading 
in a material particular, intending that the information be acted on as a 
protected disclosure; 

 claim that a matter is the subject of a protected disclosure knowing the 
claim to be false; 

 falsely claim that a matter is the subject of a disclosure that IBAC has 
determined to be a protected disclosure complaint. 

 
Similar provisions set out in the IBAC Act, such as in s184, also makes it a 
criminal offence to disclose certain information received from the IBAC. 
 
3.4.2 Other limitations on protections afforded to disclosers 
A discloser is not protected against legitimate management action being taken by 
Council in accordance with the Act. 
 
In addition, although the discloser of a protected disclosure is not subject to 
criminal or civil liability for making the disclosure, the Act specifically provides 
that a person remains liable for their own conduct even though the person has 
made a disclosure of that conduct under the Act. Therefore, the discloser will still 
be held liable for their own conduct that they disclose as part of making a 
protected disclosure. 
 
3.4.3 If the person making the disclosure is implicated in the improper 
conduct or detrimental action that is the subject of the disclosure 
Where a discloser is implicated in improper conduct, Council will handle the 
disclosure and protect the discloser from reprisals in accordance with the Act, the 
IBAC’s guidelines and these procedures. Council acknowledges that the act of 
disclosing should not shield disclosers from the reasonable consequences 
flowing from any involvement in improper conduct. However, in some 
circumstances, an admission may be a mitigating factor when considering 
disciplinary or other action. 
 
The management of the welfare of a discloser may become complicated when 
that person is implicated in misconduct, whether or not that misconduct is related 
to the disclosure. 
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Taking disciplinary or other action against a person who has made a protected 
disclosure invariably creates the perception that it is being taken in reprisal for 
the disclosure. The CEO will make the final decision on the advice of the 
Protected Disclosure Coordinator as to whether disciplinary or other action will be 
taken against a discloser. Where disciplinary or other action relates to conduct 
that is the subject of the disclosure, the disciplinary or other action will only be 
taken after the disclosed matter has been appropriately dealt with. In all cases 
where disciplinary or other action is being contemplated, any such action will not 
be taken without the CEO ensuring that: 
 

 the fact that a person has made a protected disclosure is not a substantial 
reason for the Council taking the action against the employee; 

 there are good and sufficient grounds that would fully justify action against 
any other person in the same circumstances; 

 there are good and sufficient grounds that justify exercising any discretion 
to institute disciplinary or other action. 

 
Council will take all reasonable steps to thoroughly document its decision-making 
process, including recording the reasons why the disciplinary or other action is 
being taken, and the reasons why the action is not being taken in retribution 
against the discloser for making the disclosure, so that it will be able to clearly 
demonstrate that the disciplinary or other action was taken for the appropriate 
and permitted reasons under the Act. 
 
The discloser will be clearly informed of any action proposed to be taken, be 
afforded natural justice and be informed of any mitigating factors that have been 
taken into account. Such communications with the discloser will be made in plain 
English and reasonable steps to provide appropriate support will be offered 
where appropriate. 
 
3.5 Welfare Management of persons who are the subject of protected 
disclosures 
Council will also meet the welfare needs of a person who is the subject of a 
protected disclosure. It is important to remember that until a protected disclosure 
complaint is resolved, the information about the person is only an allegation. 
 
Council will make a decision about whether or when the subject of a disclosure 
will be informed about a protected disclosure involving an allegation made 
against him or her. It is possible that the subject of the disclosure may never be 
told about the disclosure if it is not determined to be a protected disclosure 
complaint, or if a decision is made to dismiss the disclosure. 
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The Act limits the disclosure of information about the content of an assessable 
disclosure and the identity of the discloser to certain specified circumstances set 
out in Part 7 of the Act. Council may give information about the disclosure to the 
subject of the disclosure if it is directed or authorised to do so by the investigative 
entity investigating the protected disclosure complaint, or for the purpose of 
taking action with respect to the conduct alleged, including disciplinary action. 
 
Investigative entities may also inform the subject of the protected disclosure 
complaint in the course of their investigation for the purposes of conducting that 
investigation, or any actions that they propose to take as a result of the 
investigation. 
 
3.5.1 Confidentiality 
Consistently with Council’s confidentiality obligations under the Act as outlined in 
these procedures, the fact that a disclosure has been made, whether it has been 
notified to the IBAC for assessment, any information received from the IBAC or 
another investigative entity and the identities of persons involved will not be 
divulged. 
 
Council will take all reasonable steps to ensure the confidentiality of the subject 
of a disclosure during any assessment and any ensuing investigation. Where the 
disclosure is dismissed or investigations do not substantiate the allegations made 
against the person, the fact that the investigation was undertaken, its results, and 
the identity of the person subject of the disclosure will still be kept confidential. 
See section4 for further information. 
 
3.5.3 Natural justice 
All persons who are the subject of a disclosure are entitled to natural justice, at 
the appropriate time as determined by investigating body, but before a decision is 
made about their conduct). At this time, the person/s will be offered support 
through Council’s Welfare Manager. 
 
The person who is the subject of a Protected Disclosure Complaint will: 

 Be informed about the substance of allegations against them 

 Be given the opportunity to answer the allegation before a final decision is 
made 

 Be informed about the substance of any adverse comments that may be 
included in any report arising from an investigation 

 Have his/her defence set out fairly in any report. 
 

3.5.4 If the allegations are wrong or unsubstantiated 
Council will give its full support to a person who is the subject of a disclosure 
where the allegations contained in a disclosure are wrong or unsubstantiated. In 
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those circumstances, Council and any investigative entity involved will ensure 
that there are no adverse consequences for this person arising out of the 
disclosure or its investigation. This is particularly crucial in a situation where there 
has been publicly disclosed information identifying the subject, but also where 
such information has become well-known across Council and the subject is an 
employee or Councillor. Further, if the matter has been publicly disclosed by 
Council, the CEO will consider any request by that person to issue a statement of 
support setting out that the allegations were clearly wrong or unsubstantiated. 
 
3.6 Occurrence of detrimental action 
If a person who makes a protected disclosure reports an incident of harassment, 
discrimination or adverse treatment that may amount to detrimental action taken 
in reprisal for the making of the disclosure, the Protected Disclosure Coordinator 
will: 
 

 record details of the incident; 

 advise the person making the protected disclosure of his or her rights 
under the Act; and 

 
The taking of detrimental action in reprisal for the making of a disclosure can be 
an offence against the Act as well as grounds for making a further disclosure. 
Where such detrimental action is reported, the Protected Disclosure Coordinator 
will assess the report as a new disclosure under the Act. 
 
If the detrimental action is of a serious nature likely to amount to a criminal 
offence, the Protected Disclosure Coordinator will consider whether to report the 
matter to the police. 
 
Where the Protected Disclosure Coordinator considers that the disclosure may 
be a protected disclosure, he or she will refer it to the IBAC. If the IBAC 
subsequently determines the matter to be a protected disclosure complaint, the 
IBAC may investigate the matter or refer it to another body for investigation as 
outlined in the Act. 
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4. Confidentiality  
 
4.1 General obligation of confidentiality and all individuals 
Maribyrnong City Council will take all reasonable steps to protect the identity of 
witnesses and the content of disclosures. Maintaining confidentiality is crucial in 
ensuring reprisals are not made against a witness. 
 
The Act requires any person who receives a disclosure, or participates in an 
investigation, not to disclose that information except in certain limited 
circumstances. 
 
4.2 Steps taken by Council to ensure confidentiality 
 
4.2.1 Information Management 
Maribyrnong City Council will ensure all files, whether paper or electronic, are 
kept in a secure location and can only be accessed by the Protected Disclosure 
Coordinator, Protected Disclosure Officer, the CEO, or Welfare Manager (in 
relation to welfare matters only). 
 
All printed material will be kept in files that are clearly marked as a ‘Confidential 
Protected Disclosure Act matter – Do not open’ – on the cover, and warn of the 
criminal penalties that apply to any unauthorised divulging information concerning 
a protected disclosure. Printed files must be kept in locked cabinets, and sealed 
in an envelope marked ‘Confidential Protected Disclosure Act matter – Do not 
open’ when relocated to central filing for permanent storage. All electronic files 
must be stored in the corporate Electronic Document Management System with 
secure access controls in place.   
 
Maribyrnong City Council will not email documents relevant to a protected 
disclosure matter and will ensure all phone calls and meetings are conducted in 
private. All correspondence, phone calls and emails from internal or external 
disclosers will be directed to the Protected Disclosure Coordinator or Protected 
Disclosure Officer. 
 
4.2.2 Exemption from the Freedom of Information Act 2982 (“FOI Act”) 
The FOI Act provides a general right of access for any person to seek documents 
in the possession of Council. However, the Act provides that certain information 
related to protected disclosures as contained in documents in the possession of 
Council will be exempt from the application of the FOI Act.  
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Such information excluded from the operation of the FOI Act includes: 

 Any information relating to a disclosure made in accordance with the Act; 

 Any information relating to a disclosure notified to the IBAC by Council 
under s 21 of the Act for assessment; and 

 Any information that is likely to lead to the identification of a discloser 
 
Council is required to contact the IBAC prior to providing any document 
originating from the IBAC or relating to a protected disclosure, if that document is 
sought under the FOI Act.  
 
4.2.3 Penalties apply for unauthorised disclosure of confidentiality 
Disclosure of information in breach of the Act constitutes a criminal offence that is 
punishable by a maximum fine of 120 penalty units or 12 months imprisonment or 
both. 
 
4.2.4 Limited exceptions permitted by the Act 
The limited circumstances in which it is not an offence to disclose information 
connected with a disclosure may include: 

 Where necessary for the purpose of the exercise of functions under this 
Act; 

 By an investigating entity, or an officer of an investigating entity, where 
necessary for the purpose of the exercise of functions under the IBAC Act 

 For the purpose of obtaining legal advice in relation to matters specified in 
the Act 

 Where a person does not have sufficient knowledge of the English 
language, to obtain a translation from an interpreter 

 
However, the Act prohibits the inclusion of particulars in any report or 
recommendation that is likely to lead to the identification of the discloser. The Act 
also prohibits the identification of the person who is the subject of the disclosure 
in any particulars included in an annual report. 
 
5. Reporting – Collection and publishing of statistics 
The Protected Disclosure Coordinator will be responsible for collating and 
publishing statistics for the Annual Report relating to disclosures and 
investigations, as required under the Act. . Special care will be taken to ensure 
any information published does not inadvertently lead to the identification of the 
witness/es. 
 
6. Education and Training 
Maribyrnong City Council will undertake regular education and communication 
activities for this Procedure and Council’s Codes of Conduct, including 
mandatory training for Specified Officers and periodic refresher training courses 
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for existing staff about their rights and obligations under the Act.  
 
In addition, this Procedure will be available for all employees, officers and 
members of the public via Council’s intranet and external website.  
 
7. Criminal Offences 
The Act contains a number of offence provisions relating to unauthorised 
disclosure of information by either disclosers or persons who have received 
disclosures. The relevant penalties include imprisonment, financial payments or 
both.  
 
The criminal offences set out in the Act relating to confidentiality include: 

 Divulging information obtained in connection or as a result of the handling 
or investigation of a protected disclosure without legislative authority.  

 Disclosing that a disclosure has bene notified to the IBAC for assessment 
under the Act.  

 Disclosing that a disclosure has been assessed by the IBAC or the 
Victorian Inspectorate to be a protected disclosure.  
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Related Legislation 

 Protected Disclosure Act 2012  

 Protected Disclosure Regulations 2013  

 Local Government Act 1989 

 Independent Broad-Based Anti-corruption Commission Act 2011  

 Independent Broad-Based Anti-corruption Commission Regulations 2013  

 Public Administration Act 2004 (for definitions) 

 Freedom of Information Act 1982 

Related Documents 

 Fraud and Corruption Control Policy  

 Fraud and Corruption Control Procedures  

 Councillor Code of Conduct  

 Councillor Support and Expenses Policy  

 Staff Code of Conduct 

 Relevant Council policies and procedures, including the Internal Grievance 

Procedure and Complaints Resolution Policy. 

Review of Procedure 

This Procedure will be reviewed in two years from the date of endorsement, or as 
otherwise required by legislative amendments or the issuing of IBAC guidelines 
or advice. 
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Appendix 1 - Process for Making a Disclosure 

 

 
Discloser contacts specified 

officer with information 

Specified officer meets with 
Protected Disclosure 

Coordinator and provides 
information 

Protected Disclosure 
Coordinator assessed 

disclosure 

Protected Disclosure 
Coordinator contacts IBAC if 

‘assessable’ disclosure 

IBAC determines if Protected 
Disclosure/Complaint and 

notifies discloser 

Protected Disclosure 
Coordinator contacts Welfare 

Manager to determine 
discloser support 
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Appendix 2 - Where to report disclosures 
 

6

                                            
6 Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission, Guidelines for making and handling protected 
disclosures, October 2016.  
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REVIEW OF COUNCIL DELEGATIONS  

Director: Celia Haddock  
Director Corporate Services  

Author: Lisa King 
Manager Governance and Commercial Services 

 

PURPOSE  

To present the outcomes of a review of Council’s Instruments of Delegation in 
accordance with the Local Government Act 1989 (the Act). 
 

ISSUES SUMMARY 

 Section 98(1) and 98(2) of the Local Government Act 1989 (Act) provides for the 
Council and Chief Executive Officer by Instrument of Delegation, to delegate to a 
member of Council staff any power, duty or function of that office with some 
exceptions 

 In accordance with Regulation 12 of the Local Government (General) Regulations 
2015 a register must be kept which includes the dates on which Council last 
reviewed its Instruments of Delegation, and this register must be made available 
for public inspection. 

 The use of templates issued by Maddocks Lawyers inform all of Council’s 
Instruments of Delegation and is common practice across the local government 
sector. 

 While some Instruments of Delegation are still current, it is considered good 
practice to conduct a review of all delegations and reissue instruments annually at 
a minimum. 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Instrument of Delegation City Development Special Committee Effective from 26 
February 2013 ⇩   

2. C4 Instrument of Delegation Enterprise Maribyrnong Special Committee Effective 
from July 2017 ⇩   

3. S6 Instrument of Delegation - Council Staff ⇩      
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OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

That Council: 

1. In the exercise of the powers conferred by section 98(1) of the Local 
Government Act 1989 and the other legislation referred to in the attached S6 
Instrument of Delegation from Council to Members of Council Staff, 
Maribyrnong City Council resolves that: 

1.1. There be delegated to the members of Council staff holding, acting in or 
performing the duties of the offices or positions referred to in the 
attached S6 Instrument of Delegation to members of Council staff, the 
powers, duties and functions set out in the S6 Instrument of Delegation, 
subject to the conditions and limitations specified in the S6 Instrument 
of Delegation. 

1.2. The instrument comes into force immediately the Common Seal of 
Council is affixed to the S6 Instrument of Delegation. 

1.3. On the coming into force of this S6 Instrument of Delegation all 
previous S6 Instruments of Delegations to members of Council staff 
(other than the Chief Executive Officer) are revoked. 

1.4. The duties and functions set out in the S6 Instrument of Delegation 
must be performed, and the powers set out in the S6 Instrument of 
Delegation must be executed, in accordance with any guidelines or 
policies of Council that it may from time to time adopt. 
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BACKGROUND 

An Instrument of Delegation is a formal document that allows for certain duties, 
functions and decision-making powers to be delegated to a Council Officer or a Special 
Committee, as a means of reducing the operational decision-making workload upon the 
Council, allowing it to increase its strategic focus and deal with the issues and matters 
associated with the long term management of the City.  

Council may, by instrument of delegation, delegate to a member of its staff any power, 
duty or function of the Council under the Act or any other Act other than:  

Council’s power of delegation;  

 the power to declare a rate or charge;  

 the power to borrow money;  

 the power to approve any expenditure not contained in a budget approved by the 
council;  

 any power, duty or function of the council under Section 223; and  

 any prescribed power.  
 
Council last reviewed its delegations at its Ordinary Meeting held August 2017.  

DISCUSSION/KEY ISSUES 

1. Key Issues 

It is important that Council updates any Instruments of Delegation that it has in place so 
that changes made to legislatives requirements and alterations made to the 
organisational reporting structure are taken into consideration.  
 
As such, Council officers have prepared updated delegation documents that take 
account of legislative changes since the last delegations were prepared.  
 
The update undertook a further assessment of the delegations to determine whether 
there is a need to make further adjustments and refinements to enhance greater 
organisational efficiency and effectiveness, as well as incorporate any changes to 
organisational realignments that may have impacted on existing delegations. 
 
Instruments of Delegation to Council’s Special Committees  
In accordance with section 86(6) of the Act, the review included instruments to Council’s 
Special Committees established under section 86.  This included the City Development 
Special Committee (Attachment 1), the Enterprise Maribyrnong Special Committee 
(Attachment 2) and the Inner Melbourne Action Plan Implementation Committee, all of 
which incorporate the Special Committees’ terms of reference. 
 
Following the review, it is not considered necessary for Council to amend the Instrument 
for the City Development Special Committee or the Enterprise Maribyrnong Special 
Committee as the current instrument remains effective in its current form as well the 
terms of reference. 
 



Ordinary Council Meeting - 11 September 2018 Page 215 

Agenda Item 9.5 

 

The Instrument of Delegation to the Inner Melbourne Action Plan Implementation 
Committee was presented to Council at its meeting on 21 August 2017 and as such, 
there is no further requirement to review this delegation. 
 
Instrument of Delegation from Council to Council Staff 
This Instrument of Delegation to Council Staff is provided as Attachment 3. The 
schedule to this Instrument of Delegation describes in each case the duty, power or 
function being delegated, the source of power and lists the position to which the 
delegation is to be conferred. 
  
Although multiple delegations are listed for some functions (to ensure prompt 
administration can be taken during all periods of leave/absence etc.), it is generally 
envisaged that most delegated decisions will be exercised at the lowest “operational” 
area.  
 
The principle of organisation “line of responsibility” is also to be observed i.e. that for 
any employee routinely exercising delegated authority, the same delegated authority is 
also held (and able to be exercised) by the relevant supervising officer if required. 
 
Since the last review of this delegation in August 2017, amendments have been made 
to the Heritage Act 2017, the Local Government Act 1989 Planning and Environment 
Act 1987. Minor editorial amendments have also been made throughout the Instrument.  
 

2. Council Policy/Legislation 

Council Plan 2017-2021 

This report contributes to Council’s strategic objectives contained in the Council Plan 
2017-2021, by considering: 

 Strategic Objective: 
- Strong leadership - lead our changing city using strategic foresight, 

innovation, transparent decision making and well-planned, effective 
collaboration. 

Legislation 

Section 98(1) of the Local Government Act 1989 provides that Councils, by instrument 
of delegation, may delegate to a member of its staff any power, duty or function of a 
Council under this Act or any other Act.  

Conflicts of Interest 

No officer responsible for, or contributing to, this report has declared a direct or indirect 
interest in relation to this report. 

Human Rights Consideration 

This report complies with the rights listed in the Victorian Charter of Human Rights and 
Responsibilities Act 2006. 
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3. Engagement 

Business units affected by any legislative changes have been consulted in the 
preparation of this report, and amendments required to the instruments of delegations 
have been made. 

4. Resources 

Not applicable. 

5. Environment 

Not applicable.  

CONCLUSION 

The outcomes of the review of Council’s Instruments of Delegation are presented for 
Council’s consideration. 
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S6. Instrument of Delegation ─ Members of Staff 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Maribyrnong City Council 
 
 
 
 

Instrument of Delegation 
 

to 
 

Members of Council Staff 
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Instrument of Delegation 

In exercise of the power conferred by section 98(1) of the Local Government Act 1989 and the 
other legislation referred to in the attached Schedule, the Council: 

1. delegates each duty and/or function and/or power described in column 1 of the Schedule 
(and summarised in column 2 of the Schedule) to the member of Council staff holding, acting 
in or performing the duties of the office or position described opposite each such duty and/or 
function and/or power in column 3 of the Schedule; 

2. record that references in the Schedule are as follows: 

 Refer to attached Schedule of Delegates 

3. declares that: 

3.1 this Instrument of Delegation is authorised by a resolution of Council passed on 11 
September 2018; and 

3.2 the delegation comes into force immediately the common seal of Council is 
affixed to this Instrument of Delegation; 

3.2.1 remains in force until varied or revoked; 

3.2.2 is subject to any conditions and limitations set out in sub-paragraph 3.3, and 
the Schedule; and 

3.2.3 must be exercised in accordance with any guidelines or policies which Council 
from time to time adopts; and 

3.3 the delegate must not determine the issue, take the action or do the act or thing: 

3.3.1 if the issue, action, act or thing is an issue, action or thing which Council has 
previously designated as an issue, action, act or thing which must be the 
subject of a Resolution of Council; or 

3.3.2 if the determining of the issue, taking of the action or doing of the act or thing 
would or would be likely to involve a decision which is inconsistent with a 

(a) policy; or 

(b) strategy 

adopted by Council; or 

3.3.3 if the determining of the issue, the taking of the action or the doing of the act or 
thing cannot be the subject of a lawful delegation, whether on account of 
section 98(1)(a)-(f) (inclusive) of the Act or otherwise; or 

3.3.4 the determining of the issue, the taking of the action or the doing of the act or 
thing is already the subject of an exclusive delegation to another member of 
Council staff. 

THE COMMON SEAL OF MARIBYRNONG ) 
CITY COUNCIL pursuant to a Council  ) 
resolution of 11 September 2018 was affixed on ) 
     September 2018, in the presence of: ) 
 
 
_____________________________ 

Chief Executive Officer 

 

_____________________________ 

Witness
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SCHEDULE 

 

CEO and Executive Management Team 
CEO Chief Executive Officer 
DCOS Director Corporate Services 
DIS Director Infrastructure Services 
DPS Director Planning Services 
D  All Directors 
 
Planning Services 
AA/PP Appeals Administrator/Principal Planner 
CSP Coordinator Strategic Planning 
CUP Coordinator Urban Planning 
MMP Manager Major Projects and Strategic Relationships 
MUP Manager Urban Planning 
MCF Manager City Futures 
FMMP Facilitation Manager Major Projects 
PA Planning Assistant  
PIO Planning Investigations Officer 
PP Principal Planner 
PSO Planning Support Officer  
SAO Subdivision/Administration Officer 
SO Subdivision Officer 
SP Senior Planner 
STP Strategic Planner 
SSP Senior Strategic Planner 
UPO Urban Planning Officer 
 
Other 
BS Building Surveyor 
CEH Coordinator Environmental Health 
CP Coordinator Property 
CT Coordinator Transport 
EHO Environmental Health Officer 
MBS Municipal Building Surveyor 
MES Manager Engineering Services 
MGCS Manager Governance and Commercial Services 
MOM Manager Operations and Maintenance  
MRS Manager Regulatory Services  
MSAM Manager Strategic Asset Management 
RC Resilience Coordinator 
TLEH Team Leader Environmental Health 
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CEMETERIES AND CREMATORIA ACT 2003 
The provisions of this Act apply to Councils appointed as a cemetery trust under section 5 of this Act, and also apply to Councils appointed to manage a public 
cemetery under section 8(1)(a)(ii) as though it were a cemetery trust (see section 53) 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

s.8(1)(a)(ii) power to manage one or more public cemeteries DIS, MOM  

s.12(1) function to properly and efficiently manage and maintain each public 
cemetery for which responsible and carry out any other function conferred 
under this Act  

DIS, MOM where Council is a Class B cemetery trust  

s.12(2)  duty to have regard to the matters set out in paragraphs (a)-(c) in exercising 
its functions  

DIS, MOM where Council is a Class B cemetery trust  

s.12A(1) function to do the activities set out in paragraphs (a) – (n)  N/A where Council is a Class A cemetery trust  

s.12A(2)  duty to have regard to matters set out in paragraphs (a)-(e) in exercising its 
functions  

N/A where Council is a Class A cemetery trust  

s.13 duty to do anything necessary or convenient to enable it to carry out its 
functions   

DIS, MOM  

s.14 power to manage multiple public cemeteries as if they are one cemetery  N/A  

s.15(1) and (2) power to delegate powers or functions other than those listed  DIS  

s.15(4) duty to keep records of delegations  DIS, MOM  

s.17(1) power to employ any persons necessary N/A  

s.17(2) power to engage any professional, technical or other assistance considered 
necessary 

N/A  

s. 17(3) power to determine the terms and conditions of employment or engagement  DIS, MOM subject to any guidelines or directions of the 
Secretary  
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CEMETERIES AND CREMATORIA ACT 2003 
The provisions of this Act apply to Councils appointed as a cemetery trust under section 5 of this Act, and also apply to Councils appointed to manage a public 
cemetery under section 8(1)(a)(ii) as though it were a cemetery trust (see section 53) 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

s.18(3) duty to comply with a direction from the Secretary DIS, MOM  

s.18B(1) & (2) duty to establish governance committees within 12 months of becoming a 
Class A cemetery trust and power to establish other governance committees 
from time to time  

N/A where Council is a Class A cemetery trust  

s.18C power to determine the membership of the governance committee  N/A where Council is a Class A cemetery trust 

s.18D power to determine procedure of governance committee N/A where Council is a Class A cemetery trust 

s.18D(1)(a) duty to appoint community advisory committee for the purpose of liaising 
with communities   

N/A where Council is a Class A cemetery trust 

s.18D(1)(b) power to appoint any additional community advisory committees  N/A where Council is a Class A cemetery trust 

s.18D(2)  duty to establish a community advisory committee under section 18D(1)(a) 
within 12 months of becoming a Class A cemetery trust.  

N/A where Council is a Class A cemetery trust 

s.18D(3)  duty to include a report on the activities of the community advisory 
committees in its report of operations under Part 7 of the Financial 
Management Act 1994  

N/A where Council is a Class A cemetery trust 

s.18F(2)  duty to give preference to a person who is not a funeral director of a 
stonemason (or a similar position) when appointing a person to a community 
advisory committee 

N/A where Council is a Class A cemetery trust 

s.18H(1)  duty to hold an annual meeting before 30 December in each calendar year, 
in accordance with section 

N/A where Council is a Class A cemetery trust 
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CEMETERIES AND CREMATORIA ACT 2003 
The provisions of this Act apply to Councils appointed as a cemetery trust under section 5 of this Act, and also apply to Councils appointed to manage a public 
cemetery under section 8(1)(a)(ii) as though it were a cemetery trust (see section 53) 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

s.18I duty to publish a public notice of annual meeting in a newspaper, a 
reasonable time before the date of the annual meeting  

N/A where Council is a Class A cemetery trust 

s.18J duty to provide leadership, assistance and advice in relation to operational 
and governance matters relating to cemeteries (including the matters set out 
in section 18J(2) 

N/A where Council is a Class A cemetery trust 

s.18L(1)  duty to employ a person as the chief executive officer (by whatever title 
called) of the Class A cemetery trust 

N/A where Council is a Class A cemetery trust 

s.18N(1) duty to prepare an annual plan for each financial year that specifies the 
items set out in paragraphs (a)-(d)  

N/A where Council is a Class A cemetery trust 

s.18N(3)  duty to give a copy of the proposed annual plan to the Secretary on or 
before 30 September each year for the Secretary's approval 

N/A where Council is a Class A cemetery trust 

s.18N(5) duty to make amendments as required by the Secretary and deliver the 
completed plan to the Secretary within 3 months 

N/A where Council is a Class A cemetery trust  

s.18N(7)  duty to ensure that an approved annual plan is available to members of the 
public on request 

N/A where Council is a Class A cemetery trust 

s.18O(1) duty to prepare a strategic plan and submit the plan to the Secretary for 
approval  

N/A where Council is a Class A cemetery trust 

s.18O(4)  duty to advise the Secretary if the trust wishes to exercise its functions in a 
manner inconsistent with its approved strategic plan  

N/A where Council is a Class A cemetery trust 

s.18O(5)  duty to ensure that an approved strategic plan is available to members of the 
public on request 

N/A where Council is a Class A cemetery trust 
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CEMETERIES AND CREMATORIA ACT 2003 
The provisions of this Act apply to Councils appointed as a cemetery trust under section 5 of this Act, and also apply to Councils appointed to manage a public 
cemetery under section 8(1)(a)(ii) as though it were a cemetery trust (see section 53) 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

s.18Q(1)  duty to pay an annual levy on gross earnings as reported in the annual 
financial statements for the previous financial year. 

N/A where Council is a Class A cemetery trust 

s.19 power to carry out or permit the carrying out of works DIS, MOM  

s.20(1) duty to set aside areas for the interment of human remains N/A  

s.20(2) power to set aside areas for the purposes of managing a public cemetery N/A  

s.20(3) power to set aside areas for those things in paragraphs (a) – (e) N/A  

s.24(2) power to apply to the Secretary for approval to alter the existing distribution 
of land 

DIS, MOM 
 

s.36 power to grant licences to enter and use part of the land or building in a 
public cemetery in accordance with this section 

DIS, MOM 
subject to the approval of the Minister 

s.37 power to grant leases over land in a public cemetery in accordance with this 
section 

DIS 
subject to the Minister approving the purpose 

s.40 duty to notify Secretary of fees and charges fixed under section 39  DIS, MOM  

s.47 power to pay a contribution toward the cost of the construction and 
maintenance of any private street adjoining or abutting a cemetery 

N/A provided the street was constructed pursuant 
to the Local Government Act 1989 

s.57(1) duty to submit a report to the Secretary every financial year in respect of 
powers and functions under the Act 

N/A report must contain the particulars listed in 
s.57(2) 

s.59 duty to keep records for each public cemetery DIS, MOM  
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CEMETERIES AND CREMATORIA ACT 2003 
The provisions of this Act apply to Councils appointed as a cemetery trust under section 5 of this Act, and also apply to Councils appointed to manage a public 
cemetery under section 8(1)(a)(ii) as though it were a cemetery trust (see section 53) 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

s.60(1) duty to make information in records available to the public for historical or 
research purposes 

DIS, MOM  

s.60(2) power to charge fees for providing information DIS, MOM  

s.64(4) duty to comply with a direction from the Secretary under section 64(3) DIS, MOM  

s.64B(d) power to permit interments at a reopened cemetery DIS, MOM  

s.66(1) power to apply to the Minister for approval to convert the cemetery, or part of 
it, to a historic cemetery park 

DIS, MOM the application must include the requirements 
listed in s.66(2)(a)–(d) 

s.69 duty to take reasonable steps to notify of conversion to historic cemetery 
park  

DIS, MOM  

s.70(1) duty to prepare plan of existing places of interment and make a record of 
any inscriptions on memorials which are to be removed 

DIS, MOM  

s.70(2) duty to make plans of existing place of interment available to the public  DIS, MOM  

s.71(1) power to remove any memorials or other structures in an area to which an 
approval to convert applies 

DIS, MOM  

s.71(2) power to dispose of any memorial or other structure removed DIS, MOM  

s.72(2) duty to comply with request received under section 72 DIS, MOM  

s.73(1) power to grant a right of interment  DIS, MOM  
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CEMETERIES AND CREMATORIA ACT 2003 
The provisions of this Act apply to Councils appointed as a cemetery trust under section 5 of this Act, and also apply to Councils appointed to manage a public 
cemetery under section 8(1)(a)(ii) as though it were a cemetery trust (see section 53) 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

s.73(2) power to impose conditions on the right of interment DIS, MOM  

s.75 power to grant the rights of interment set out in subsections (a) and (b)  DIS, MOM  

s.76(3) duty to allocate a piece of interment if an unallocated right is granted DIS, MOM  

s.77(4) power to authorise and impose terms and conditions on the removal of 
cremated human remains or body parts from the place of interment on 
application 

DIS, MOM  

s.80(1) function of receiving notification and payment of transfer of right of interment DIS, MOM  

s.80(2) function of recording transfer of right of interment DIS, MOM  

s.82(2) duty to pay refund on the surrender of an unexercised right of interment DIS, MOM  

s.83(2) duty to pay refund on the surrender of an unexercised right of interment 
(sole holder) 

DIS, MOM  

s.83(3) power to remove any memorial and grant another right of interment for a 
surrendered right of interment 

DIS, MOM  

s.84(1) function of receiving notice of surrendering an entitlement to a right of 
interment 

DIS, MOM  

s.85(1) duty to notify holder of 25 year right of interment of expiration at least 12 
months before expiry 

N/A the notice must be in writing and contain the 
requirements listed in s.85(2) 

s.85(2)(b) duty to notify holder of 25 year right of interment of expiration of right at least 
12 months before expiry 

MOM does not apply where right of internment 
relates to remains of a deceased veteran.  
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CEMETERIES AND CREMATORIA ACT 2003 
The provisions of this Act apply to Councils appointed as a cemetery trust under section 5 of this Act, and also apply to Councils appointed to manage a public 
cemetery under section 8(1)(a)(ii) as though it were a cemetery trust (see section 53) 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

85(2)(c) power to leave interred cremated remains undistributed in perpetuity and 
convert right of interment to perpetual right of internment or; 

remove interred remains and re-inter at another location within cemetery 
grounds and remove any memorial at that place and re-establish at new or 
equivalent location. 

MOM may only be exercised where right of 
interment relates to cremated human 
remains of a deceased identified veteran, if 
right of internment is not extended or 
converted to a perpetual right of interment 

s.86 power to remove and dispose of cremated human remains and remove any 
memorial if no action taken by right holder within time specified 

DIS, MOM  

s.86(2) power to leave interred cremated human remains undisturbed or convert the 
right of internment to a perpetual right of interment 

DIS, MOM  

s.86(3)(a) power to leave interred cremated human remains undisturbed in perpetuity 
and convert the right of interment to a perpetual right of interment 

DIS, MOM  

s.86(3)(b) power to remove interred cremated human remains and take further action 
in accordance with s.86(3)(b) 

DIS, MOM  

s.86(4) power to take action under s.86(4) relating to removing and re-interring 
cremated human remains 

DIS, MOM  

s.86(5) duty to provide notification before taking action under s.86(4) DIS, MOM  

s 86A duty to maintain place of interment and any memorial at place of interment, if 
action taken under s.86(3) 

DIS, MOM  

s.87(3) duty, if requested, to extend the right for a further 25 years or convert the 
right to a perpetual right of interment 

DIS, MOM  



Maribyrnong City Council   
Ordinary Council Meeting - 11 September 2018 Page 233 

Agenda Item 9.5 - Attachment  3 

 

CEMETERIES AND CREMATORIA ACT 2003 
The provisions of this Act apply to Councils appointed as a cemetery trust under section 5 of this Act, and also apply to Councils appointed to manage a public 
cemetery under section 8(1)(a)(ii) as though it were a cemetery trust (see section 53) 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

s.88 function to receive applications to carry out a lift and re-position procedure at 
a place of interment 

DIS, MOM  

s.91(1) power to cancel a right of interment in accordance with this section DIS, MOM  

s.91(3) duty to publish notice of intention to cancel right of interment DIS, MOM  

s.92 power to pay refund or grant a right of interment in respect of another place 
of interment to the previous holder of the cancelled right of interment 

DIS, MOM  

s.98(1) function of receiving application to establish or alter a memorial or a place of 
interment 

DIS, MOM  

s.99 power to approve or refuse an application made under section 98, or to 
cancel an approval 

DIS, MOM  

s.99(4)  duty to make a decision on an application under section 98 within 45 days 
after receipt of the application or within 45 days of receiving further 
information where requested 

DIS, MOM  

s.100(1) power to require a person to remove memorials or places of interment DIS, MOM  

s.100(2) power to remove and dispose a memorial or place of interment or remedy a 
person's failure to comply with section 100(1) 

DIS, MOM  

s.100(3) power to recover costs of taking action under section 100(2) DIS, MOM  

s.101 function of receiving applications to establish or alter a building for 
ceremonies in the cemetery 

DIS, MOM  
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CEMETERIES AND CREMATORIA ACT 2003 
The provisions of this Act apply to Councils appointed as a cemetery trust under section 5 of this Act, and also apply to Councils appointed to manage a public 
cemetery under section 8(1)(a)(ii) as though it were a cemetery trust (see section 53) 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

s.102(1) power to approve or refuse  an application under section 101, if satisfied of 
the matters in (b) and (c) 

DIS, MOM  

s.102(2) & (3) power to set terms and conditions in respect of, or to cancel, an approval 
granted under section 102(1)  

DIS, MOM  

s.103(1) power to require a person to remove a building for ceremonies DIS, MOM  

s.103(2) power to remove and dispose of a building for ceremonies or remedy the 
failure to comply with section 103(1) 

DIS, MOM  

s.103(3) power to recover costs of taking action under section 103(2) DIS, MOM  

s.106(1) power to require the holder of the right of interment of the requirement to 
make the memorial or place of interment safe and proper or carry out 
specified repairs  

DIS, MOM  

s.106(2) power to require the holder of the right of interment to provide for an 
examination 

DIS, MOM  

s.106(3) power to open and examine the place of interment if section 106(2) not 
complied with 

DIS, MOM  

s.106(4) power to repair or – with the approval of the Secretary - take down, remove 
and dispose any memorial or place of interment if notice under section 
106(1) is not complied with 

DIS, MOM  

s.107(1) power to require person responsible to make the building for ceremonies 
safe and proper or carry out specified repairs 

DIS, MOM  



Maribyrnong City Council   
Ordinary Council Meeting - 11 September 2018 Page 235 

Agenda Item 9.5 - Attachment  3 

 

CEMETERIES AND CREMATORIA ACT 2003 
The provisions of this Act apply to Councils appointed as a cemetery trust under section 5 of this Act, and also apply to Councils appointed to manage a public 
cemetery under section 8(1)(a)(ii) as though it were a cemetery trust (see section 53) 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

s.107(2) power to repair or take down, remove and dispose any building for 
ceremonies if notice under section 107(1) is not complied with 

DIS, MOM  

s.108 power to recover costs and expenses DIS, MOM  

s.109(1)(a) power to open, examine and repair a place of interment  DIS, MOM where the holder of right of interment or 
responsible person cannot be found 

s.109(1)(b) power to repaid a memorial or, with the Secretary's consent, take down, 
remove and dispose of a memorial 

DIS, MOM where the holder of right of interment or 
responsible person cannot be found 

s.109(2) power to repair the building for ceremonies or, with the consent of the 
Secretary, take down, remove and dispose of a building for ceremonies 

DIS, MOM where the holder of right of interment or 
responsible person cannot be found 

s.110(1) power to maintain, repair or restore a memorial or place of interment from 
other funds if unable to find right of interment holder. with consent of the 
Secretary 

DIS, MOM  

s.110(2) power to maintain, repair or restore any building for ceremonies from other 
funds if unable to find responsible person and with consent of the Secretary 

DIS, MOM  

s. 110A power to use cemetery trust funds or other funds for the purposes of 
establishing, maintaining, repairing or restoring any memorial or place of 
interment of any deceased identified veteran 

DIS, MOM  

s.111 power to enter into agreement with a holder of the right of interment to 
maintain a memorial or place of interment 

DIS, MOM  

s.112 power to sell and supply memorials DIS, MOM  
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CEMETERIES AND CREMATORIA ACT 2003 
The provisions of this Act apply to Councils appointed as a cemetery trust under section 5 of this Act, and also apply to Councils appointed to manage a public 
cemetery under section 8(1)(a)(ii) as though it were a cemetery trust (see section 53) 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

s.116(4) duty to notify the Secretary of an interment authorisation granted DIS, MOM  

s.116(5) power to require an applicant to produce evidence of the right of interment 
holder's consent to application 

DIS, MOM  

s.118 power to grant an interment authorisation if satisfied that the requirements of 
Division 2 of Part 8 have been met 

DIS, MOM  

s.119 power to set terms and conditions for interment authorisations DIS, MOM  

s.131 function of receiving an application for cremation authorisation DIS, MOM  

s.133(1) duty not to grant a cremation authorisation unless satisfied that requirements 
of section 133 have been complied with  

DIS, MOM Subject to subsection (2) 

s.145 duty to comply with an order made by the Magistrates' Court or a coroner DIS, MOM  

s.146 power to dispose of bodily remains by a method other than interment or 
cremation  

DIS, MOM subject to the approval of the Secretary 

s.147 power to apply to the Secretary for approval to dispose of bodily remains by 
a method other than interment or cremation 

DIS, MOM  

s.149 duty to cease using method of disposal if approval revoked by the Secretary DIS, MOM  

s.150 & 152(1) power to authorise the interment or cremation of body parts if the 
requirements of Division 1 of Part 11 are met 

DIS, MOM  

s.151 function of receiving  applications to inter or cremate body parts DIS, MOM  
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CEMETERIES AND CREMATORIA ACT 2003 
The provisions of this Act apply to Councils appointed as a cemetery trust under section 5 of this Act, and also apply to Councils appointed to manage a public 
cemetery under section 8(1)(a)(ii) as though it were a cemetery trust (see section 53) 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

s.152(2) power to impose terms and conditions on authorisation granted under 
section 150. 

DIS, MOM  

Schedule 1  

clause 8(3)  

power to permit members to participate in a particular meeting by telephone, 
closed-circuit television or any other means of communication 

DIS, MOM  

Schedule 1  

clause 8(8) 

power to regulate own proceedings DIS, MOM subject to clause 8 

Schedule 1A  

clause 8(3) 

power to permit members to participate in a particular meeting by telephone, 
closed-circuit television or any other means of communication 

DIS, MOM where Council is a Class A cemetery trust  

Schedule 1A  

clause 8(8) 

power to regulate own proceedings DIS, MOM where Council is a Class A cemetery trust  

subject to clause 8 
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DOMESTIC ANIMALS ACT 1994 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS AND LIMITATIONS 

s.41A(1) power to declare a dog to be a menacing dog  DPS, MRS Council may delegate this power to a Council 
authorised officer 
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ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION ACT 1970 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

s.53M(3) power to require further information EHO  

s.53M(4) duty to advise applicant that application is not to be dealt with EHO  

s.53M(5) duty to approve plans, issue permit or refuse permit EHO refusal must be ratified by Council or it is of no effect 

s.53M(6) power to refuse to issue septic tank permit EHO refusal must be ratified by Council or it is of no effect 

s.53M(7) duty to refuse to issue a permit in circumstances in (a)-(c) EHO refusal must be ratified by Council or it is of no effect 
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FOOD ACT 1984 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

s.19(2)(a) power to direct by written order that the food premises be put 
into a clean and sanitary condition 

EHO If section 19(1) applies 

s.19(2)(b) power to direct by written order that specified steps be taken 
to ensure that food prepared, sold or handled is safe and 
suitable 

EHO If section 19(1) applies 

s.19(4)(a) power to direct that an order made under section 19(3)(a) or 
(b), (i) be affixed to a conspicuous part of the premises, and 
(ii) inform the public by notice in a published newspaper or 
otherwise 

EHO If section 19(1) applies 

s.19(6)(a) duty to revoke any order under section 19 if satisfied that an 
order has been complied with 

EHO  If section 19(1) applies 

s.19(6)(b) duty to give written notice of revocation under section 19(6)(a) 
if satisfied that an order has been complied with 

EHO  If section 19(1) applies 

s.19AA(2) power to direct, by written order, that a person must take any 
of the actions described in (a)-(c). 

CEH, EHO, 
TLEH 

where Council is the registration authority 

s.19AA(4)(c) power to direct, in an order made under s.19AA(2) or a 
subsequent written order, that a person must ensure that any 
food or class of food is not removed from the premises 

CEH, TLEH, 
EHO 

Note: the power to direct the matters under s.19AA(4)(a) 
and (b) not capable of delegation and so such directions 
must be made by a Council resolution 

s.19AA(7) duty to revoke order issued under s.19AA and give written 
notice of revocation, if satisfied that that order has been 
complied with 

CEH where council is the registration authority 

s.19CB(4)(b) power to request copy of records EHO where council is the registration authority 

s.19E(1)(d) power to request a copy of the food safety program EHO where Council is the registration authority 
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FOOD ACT 1984 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

s.19GB power to request proprietor to provide written details of the 
name, qualification or experience of the current food safety 
supervisor 

EHO  where Council is the registration authority 

s.19M(4)(a) 
& (5) 

power to conduct a food safety audit and take actions where 
deficiencies are identified 

EHO where Council is the registration authority 

s.19NA(1) power to request food safety audit reports EHO where Council is the registration authority 

s.19U(3) power to waive and vary the costs of a food safety audit if 
there are special circumstances 

CEH, TLEH  

s.19UA power to charge fees for conducting a food safety 
assessment or inspection 

CEH, TLEH except for an assessment required by a declaration 
under section 19C or an inspection under sections 
38B(1)(c) or 39. 

s.19W power to direct a proprietor of a food premises to comply with 
any requirement under Part IIIB 

EHO where Council is the registration authority 

s.19W(3)(a) power to direct a proprietor of a food premises to have staff at 
the premises undertake training or instruction 

EHO where Council is the registration authority 

s.19W(3)(b) power to direct a proprietor of a food premises to have details 
of any staff training incorporated into the minimum records 
required to be kept or food safety program of the premises 

EHO where Council is the registration authority 

--- power to register, renew or transfer registration EHO, CEH, 
TLEH  

where council is the registration authority  

refusal to grant/renew/transfer registration must be 
ratified by Council or the CEO (see section 58A(2)) 
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FOOD ACT 1984 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

s.38AA(5) power to (a) request further information; or (b) advise the 
proprietor that the premises must be registered if the 
premises are not exempt 

EHO where Council is the registration authority  

s.38AB(4) power to fix a fee for the receipt of a notification under section 
38AA in accordance with a declaration under subsection (1) 

EHO where Council is the registration authority  

s.38A(4)  power to request a copy of a completed food safety program 
template  

EHO where Council is the registration authority  

s.38B(1)(a) duty to assess the application and determine which class of 
food premises under section 19C the food premises belongs 

EHO where Council is the registration authority 

s.38B(1)(b) duty to ensure proprietor has complied with requirements of 
section 38A 

EHO where Council is the registration authority  

s.38B(2) duty to be satisfied of the matters in section 38B(2)(a)-(b) EHO where Council is the registration authority  

s.38D(1) duty to ensure compliance with the applicable provisions of 
section 38C and inspect the premises if required by section 
39 

EHO where Council is the registration authority  

s.38D(2) duty to be satisfied of the matters in section 38D(2)(a)-(d) EHO where Council is the registration authority  

s.38D(3) power to request copies of any audit reports EHO where Council is the registration authority  

s.38E(2) power to register the food premises on a conditional basis EHO where Council is the registration authority; 

not exceeding the prescribed time limit defined under 
subsection (5). 
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FOOD ACT 1984 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

s.38E(4) duty to register the food premises when conditions are 
satisfied 

EHO where Council is the registration authority 

s.38F(3)(b) power to require proprietor to comply with requirements of 
this Act 

EHO where Council is the registration authority 

s.39A power to register, renew or transfer food premises despite 
minor defects 

 EHO where Council is the registration authority 

only if satisfied of matters in subsections (2)(a)-(c)  

s.40(2) power to incorporate the certificate of registration in one 
document with any certificate of registration under Part 6 of 
the Public Health and Wellbeing Act 2008 

 EHO   

s.40C(2) power to grant or renew the registration of food premises for a 
period of less than 1 year 

EHO where Council is the registration authority  

s.40D(1) power to suspend or revoke the registration of food premises EHO, CEH, 
TLEH  

where Council is the registration authority 

s.43F(6) duty to be satisfied that registration requirements under 
Division 3 have been met prior to registering, transferring  or 
renewing registration of a component of a food business 

EHO, CEH, 
TLEH 

where Council is the registration authority 

s.43F(7) power to register the components of the food business that 
meet requirements in Division 3 and power to refuse  to 
register the components that do not meet the requirements  

EHO, CEH, 
TLEH 

where Council is the registration authority 
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FOOD ACT 1984 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

s.46(5) power to institute proceedings against another person where 
the offence was due to an act or default by that other person 
and where the first person charged could successfully defend 
a prosecution, without proceedings first being instituted 
against the person first charged 

EHO, CEH, 
TLEH  

 where Council is the registration authority  
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HERITAGE ACT 2017 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

s.116 power to sub-delegate Executive Director's functions, duties 
or powers 

 DPS must first obtain Executive Director's written consent  

Council can only sub-delegate if the instrument of 
delegation from the Executive Director authorises sub-
delegation 
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LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1989 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

s.181H power to enter into an environmental upgrade agreement on 
behalf of Council and declare and levy an environmental 
upgrade charge 

CEO7  

 
 
 
 
 
  

                                            
7 The only member of staff who can be a delegate in Column 3 is the CEO. If a CEO wishes to sub-delegate these powers, he or she must use the S13 Instrument Delegation of 
CEO powers, duties and functions to Members of Council Staff.  
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PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT ACT 1987 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

s.4B power to prepare an amendment to the Victoria Planning 
Provisions 

DPS, MCF, MMP   if authorised by the Minister 

s.4G function of receiving prescribed documents and a copy of the 
Victoria Planning Provisions from the Minister 

MUP, MCF, MMP  

s.4H duty to make amendment to Victoria Planning Provisions  
available 

 MUP, MCF, 
MMP 

  

s.4I duty to keep Victoria Planning Provisions and other 
documents available 

DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP, 
CSP, FMMP  

  

s.8A(2) power to prepare amendment to the planning scheme where 
the Minister has given consent under s.8A  

DPS, MCF, MMP  

s. 8A(3) power to apply to Minister to prepare an amendment to the 
planning scheme 

CEO, DPS  

s.8A(5) function of receiving notice of the Minister's decision DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MRS, MMP 

 

s.8A(7) power to prepare the amendment specified in the application 
without the Minister's authorisation if no response received 
after 10 business days 

DPS, MCF, MMP  

s.8B(2) power to apply to the Minister for authorisation to prepare an 
amendment to the planning scheme of an adjoining municipal 
district 

CEO, DPS  
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PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT ACT 1987 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

s.12(3) power to carry out studies and do things to ensure proper use 
of land and consult with other persons to ensure co-ordination 
of planning scheme with these persons 

DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP, 
CSP, FMMP, 
CUP 

 

s 12A(1) duty to prepare a municipal strategic statement (including 
power to prepare a municipal strategic statement under 
section 19 of the Planning and Environment (Planning 
Schemes) Act 1996) 

DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP  

 

s.12B(1) duty to review planning scheme DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP 

 

s.12B(2) duty to review planning scheme at direction of Minister DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP 

 

s.12B(5) duty to report findings of review of planning scheme to 
Minister without delay 

DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP, 
CSP, FMMP 

 

s.14 duties of a Responsible Authority as set out in subsections (a) 
to (d) 

DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP, 
CSP, FMMP  

 

s.17(1) duty of giving copy amendment to the planning scheme DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP, 
CSP, FMMP, 
CUP, UPO, SP, 
STP, SSP  
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PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT ACT 1987 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

s.17(2) duty of giving copy s.173 agreement DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP, 
CSP, FMMP, 
CUP, UPO, SP, 
STP, SSP  

 

s.17(3) duty of giving copy amendment, explanatory report and 
relevant documents to the Minister within 10 business days 

DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP, 
CSP, FMMP, 
CUP, UPO, SP, 
STP, SSP 

 

s.18 duty to make amendment etc. available DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP, 
CSP, FMMP, 
CUP, UPO, SP, 
STP, SSP  

 

s.19 power to give notice, to decide not to give notice, to publish 
notice of amendment to a planning scheme and to exercise 
any other power under section 19 to a planning scheme 

CEO, DPS, MUP, 
MCF, MMP  

 

s.19 function of receiving notice of preparation of an amendment 
to a planning scheme 

CEO, DPS, MUP, 
MCF, MMP 

where Council is not the planning authority and the 
amendment affects land within Council's municipal 
district; or  

where the amendment will amend the planning scheme 
to designate Council as an acquiring authority. 

s.20(1) power to apply to Minister for exemption from the 
requirements of section 19 

CEO, DPS, MUP, 
MCF, MMP  
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PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT ACT 1987 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

s.21(2) duty to make submissions available DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP, 
CSP, FMMP, 
CUP, UPO, SP, 
STP, SSP  

 

s.21A(4) duty to publish notice in accordance with section DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP, 
CSP, FMMP, 
CUP, UPO, SP, 
STP, SSP 

 

s.22 duty to consider all submissions DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP, 
CSP, FMMP, 
CUP, UPO, SP, 
STP, SSP  

except submissions which request a change to the items 
in s.22(5)(a) and (b) 

s.23(1)(b) duty to refer submissions which request a change to the 
amendment to a panel 

CEO, DPS, MCF, 
MMP 

 

s.23(2)  power to refer to a panel submissions which do not require a 
change to the amendment 

DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP  

 

s.24 function to represent council and present a submission at a 
panel hearing (including a hearing referred to in section 96D) 

DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP, 
CSP, FMMP, 
CUP, UPO, SP, 
SSP  
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PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT ACT 1987 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

s.26(1) power to make report available for inspection DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP, 
CSP, FMMP, 
CUP, UPO, SP, 
SSP 

 

s.26(2) duty to keep report of panel available for inspection  DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP, 
CSP, FMMP, 
CUP, UPO, SP, 
SSP  

 

s.27(2) power to apply for exemption if panel's report not received DPS   

s.28 duty to notify the Minister if abandoning an amendment DPS Note: the power to make a decision to abandon an 
amendment cannot be delegated 

s.30(4)(a) duty to say if amendment has lapsed DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP  

 

s.30(4)(b) duty to provide information in writing upon request DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP, 
CSP, FMMP, 
CUP, UPO, SP, 
SSP  

 

s.32(2) duty to give more notice if required DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP, 
CSP, FMMP, 
CUP, UPO, SP, 
SSP  
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PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT ACT 1987 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

s.33(1) duty to give more notice of changes to an amendment DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP, 
CSP, FMMP, 
CUP, UPO, SP, 
SSP  

 

s.36(2) duty to give notice of approval of amendment DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP, 
CSP, FMMP, 
CUP, UPO, SP, 
SSP  

 

s.38(5) duty to give notice of revocation of an amendment DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP, 
CSP, FMMP, 
CUP, UPO, SP, 
SSP  

 

s.39 function of being a party to a proceeding commenced under 
section 39 and duty to comply with determination by VCAT 

DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP, 
CSP, FMMP, 
CUP, UPO, SP, 
SSP  

 

s.40(1) function of lodging copy of approved amendment DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP, 
CSP, FMMP, 
CUP, UPO, SP, 
SSP  
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PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT ACT 1987 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

s.41 duty to make approved amendment available DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP, 
CSP, FMMP, 
CUP, UPO, SP, 
SSP  

  

s.42 duty to make copy of planning scheme available DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP, 
CSP, FMMP, 
CUP, UPO, SP, 
SSP  

  

s.46AS(ac) power to request the Victorian Planning Authority (VPA) to 
provide advice on any matter relating to land in Victoria or an 
objective of planning in Victoria 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

Note: when the Victorian Planning Authority Act 2017 

comes into force on 1 July 2017, the Growth Areas 
Authority will be superseded by the Victorian Planning 
Authority 

s.46AW function of being consulted by the Minister CEO, DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is a responsible public entity 

s.46AX function of receiving a draft Statement of Planning Policy and 
written direction in relation to the endorsement of the draft 
Statement of Planning Policy 

power to endorse the draft Statement of Planning Policy 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is a responsible public entity 

s.46AZC(2) d 

to prepare an amendment to a declared area planning 
scheme that is inconsistent with a Statement of Planning 
Policy for the declared area that is expressed to be binding on 
the responsible public entity 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is a responsible public entity 
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PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT ACT 1987 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

s.46AZK d 

duty not to act inconsistently with any provision of the 
Statement of Planning Policy that is expressed to be binding 
on the public entity when performing a function or duty or 
exercising a power in relation to the declared area 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is a responsible public entity 

s.46GI(2)(b)(i
) 

p  

power to agree to a lower rate of standard levy for a class of 
development of a particular type of land than the rate 
specified in a Minister's direction 

DPS w 

where Council is the planning authority, the municipal 
Council of the municipal district in which the land is 
located and/or the development agency  

 

s.46GJ(1) function of receiving written directions from the Minister in 
relation to the preparation and content of infrastructure 
contributions plans 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

 

s.46GK duty to comply with a Minister’s direction that applies to 
Council as the planning authority 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

 

s.46GN(1) duty to arrange for estimates of values of inner public purpose 
land 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

 

s.46GO(1) duty to give notice to owners of certain inner public purpose 
land 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

 

s.46GP function of receiving a notice under s.46GO DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the collecting agency  
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PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT ACT 1987 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

s.46GQ function of receiving a submission from an affected owner 
who objects to the estimated value per hectare (or other 
appropriate unit of measurement) of the inner public purpose 
land  

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

 

s.46GR(1) duty to consider every submission that is made by the closing 
date for submissions included in the notice under s.46GO 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

 

s.46GR(2) power to consider a late submission  

duty to consider a late submission if directed to do so by the 
Minister 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

 

s.46GS(1) power to accept or reject the estimate of the value of the inner 
public purpose land in a submission made under s.46GQ 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

 

s.46GS(2) duty, if Council rejects the estimate of the value of the inner 
public purpose land in the submission, to refer the matter to 
the valuer-general, and notify the affected owner of the 
rejection and that the matter has been referred to the valuer-
general 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

 

s.46GT(2) duty to pay half of the fee fixed by the valuer-general for 
arranging and attending the conference 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

 

s.46GT(4) function of receiving, from the valuer-general, written 
confirmation of the agreement between the planning 
authority's valuer and the affected owner's valuer as to the 
estimated value of the inner public purpose land 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

 

s.46GT(6) function of receiving, from the valuer-general, written notice of 
a determination under s.46GT(5) 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 
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s.46GU duty not to adopt an amendment under s.29 to an 
infrastructure contributions plan that specifies a land credit 
amount or a land equalisation amount that relates to a parcel 
of land in the ICP plan area of the plan unless the criteria in 
s.46GU(1)(a) and (b) are met 

DPS  

s.46GV(3) function of receiving the monetary component and any land 
equalisation amount of the infrastructure contribution  

power to specify the manner in which the payment is to be 
made 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the collecting agency 

 

s.46GV(3)(b) power to enter into an agreement with the applicant DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the collecting agency 

 

s.46GV(4)(a) function of receiving the inner public purpose land in 
accordance with s.46GV(5) and (6) 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the development agency  

 

s.46GV(4)(b) function of receiving the inner public purpose land in 
accordance with s.46GV(5) and (6) 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the collecting agency 

 

s.46GV(7) duty to impose the requirements set out in s.46GV(3) and (4) 
as conditions on the permit applied for by the applicant to 
develop the land in the ICP plan area 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

 

s.46GV(9) power to require the payment of a monetary component or 
the provision of the land component of an infrastructure 
contribution to be secured to Council’s satisfaction 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the collecting agency 
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s.46GX(1) power to accept works, services or facilities in part or full 
satisfaction of the monetary component of an infrastructure 
contribution payable 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the collecting agency 

 

s.46GX(2) duty, before accepting the provision of works, services or 
facilities by an applicant under s.46GX(1), to obtain the 
agreement of the development agency or agencies specified 
in the approved infrastructure contributions plan 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the collecting agency 

 

s.46GY(1) duty to keep proper and separate accounts and records  DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the collecting agency 

 

s.46GY(2) duty to keep the accounts and records in accordance with the 
Local Government Act 1989 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the collecting agency 

s.46GZ(2)(a) duty to forward any part of the monetary component that is 
imposed for plan preparation costs to the planning authority 
that incurred those costs 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the collecting agency under an 
approved infrastructure contributions plan 

this duty does not apply where Council is that planning 
authority 

 

s.46GZ(2)(a) function of receiving the monetary component DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where the Council is the planning authority  

this duty does not apply where Council is also the 
collecting agency  
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s.46GZ(2)(b) uty to forward any part of the monetary component that is 
imposed for the provision of works, services or facilities to the 
development agency that is specified in the plan as 
responsible for those works, services or facilities 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the collecting agency under an 
approved infrastructure contributions plan 

this provision does not apply where Council is also the 
relevant development agency 

 

s.46GZ(2)(b) function of receiving the monetary component DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the development agency under an 
approved infrastructure contributions plan 

this provision does not apply where Council is also the 
collecting agency 

 

s.46GZ(4) duty to use any land equalisation amounts to pay land credit 
amounts under s.46GZ(7), except any part of those amounts 
that are to be forwarded to a development agency under 
s.46GZ(5) 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the collecting agency under an 
approved infrastructure contributions plan 

 

s.46GZ(5) uty to forward any part of a land equalisation amount required 
for the acquisition of outer public purpose land by a 
development agency specified in the approved infrastructure 
contributions plan to that development agency 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

m 

where Council is the collecting agency under an 
approved infrastructure contributions plan 

this provision does not apply where Council is also the 
relevant development agency 

s.46GZ(5) function of receiving any part of a land equalisation amount 
required for the acquisition of outer public purpose land 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the development agency specified in the 
approved infrastructure contributions plan 

this provision does not apply where Council is also the 
collecting agency 
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s.46GZ(7) duty to pay to each person who must provide an infrastructure 
contribution under the approved infrastructure contributions 
plan any land credit amount to which the person is entitled 
under s.46GW 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the collecting agency under an 
approved infrastructure contributions plan 

 

s.46GZ(9) duty to transfer the estate in fee simple in the land to the 
development agency specified in the approved infrastructure 
contributions plan as responsible for the use and 
development of that land 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

if any inner public purpose land is vested in Council 
under the Subdivision Act 1988 or acquired by Council 
before the time it is required to be provided to Council 
under s.46GV(4)  

where Council is the collecting agency under an 
approved infrastructure contributions plan 

this duty does not apply where Council is also the 
development agency  

 

s.46GZ(9) function of receiving the fee simple in the land DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the development agency under an 
approved infrastructure contributions plan 

this duty does not apply where Council is also the 
collecting agency  

 

s.46GZA(1) duty to keep proper and separate accounts and records  DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is a development agency under an 
approved infrastructure contributions plan 

 

s.46GZA(2) duty to keep the accounts and records in accordance with the 
Local Government Act 1989 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is a development agency under an 
approved infrastructure contributions plan 
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s.46GZB(3) duty to follow the steps set out in s.46GZB(3)(a) – (c) DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is a development agency under an 
approved infrastructure contributions plan 

 

ss.46GZB duty, in accordance with the requirements of the VPA, to 
report on the use of the infrastructure contribution in the 
development  agency’s annual report and provide reports on 
the use of the infrastructure contribution to the VPA 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

if the VPA is the collecting agency under an approved 
infrastructure contributions plan 

where Council is a development agency under an 
approved infrastructure contributions plan 

 

s.46GZD(2) duty, within 6 months after the date on which the approved 
infrastructure contributions plan expires, to follow the steps 
set out in s.46GZD(2)(a) and (b) 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the development agency under an 
approved infrastructure contributions plan 

 

s.46GZD(3) duty to follow the steps set out in s.46GZD(3)(a) and (b) DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the collecting agency under an 
approved infrastructure contributions plan 

 

s.46GZ(5) duty to make payments under s.46GZD(3) in accordance with 
ss.46GZD(5)(a) and 46GZD(5)(b)  

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the collecting agency under an 
approved infrastructure contributions plan 

s.46GZE(2) p duty to forward the land equalisation amount back to the 
collecting agency within 6 months after the expiry date if any 
part of a land equalisation amount paid or forwarded to a 
development agency for acquiring outer public purpose land 
has not been expended by the development agency to 
acquire that land at the date on which the approved 
infrastructure contributions plan expires 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the development agency under an 
approved infrastructure contributions plan 

this duty does not apply where Council is also the 
collecting agency 
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s.46GZE(2) function of receiving the unexpended land equalisation 
amount 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the collecting agency under an 
approved infrastructure contributions plan 

this duty does not apply where Council is also the 
development agency 

s.46GZE(3) duty, within 12 months after the date on which the approved 
infrastructure contributions plan expires, to follow the steps 
set out in s.46GZE(3)(a) and (b) 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the collecting agency under an 
approved infrastructure contributions plan 

s.46GZF(2) duty, within 12 months after the date on which the approved 
infrastructure contributions plan expires, to use the public 
purpose land for a public purpose approved by the Minister or 
sell the public purpose land 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the development agency under an 
approved infrastructure contributions plan 

s.46GZF(3) duty, if land is sold under s.46GZF(2)(b), to follow the steps in 
s.46GZF(3)(a) and (b) 

 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the development agency under an 
approved infrastructure contributions plan 

s.46GZF(3) s.46GZF(3)(a) function of receiving proceeds of sale DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the collection agency under an 
approved infrastructure contributions plan 

this provision does not apply where Council is also the 
development agency  

s.46GZF(4) duty to divide the proceeds of the public purpose land among 
the current owners of each parcel of land in the ICP plan area 
and pay each current owner a portion of the proceeds in 
accordance with s.46GZF(5) 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the collecting agency under an 
approved infrastructure contributions plan 

s.46GZF(6) duty to make the payments under s.46GZF(4) in accordance 
with s.46GZF(6)(a) and (b) 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the collecting agency under an 
approved infrastructure contributions plan 
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s.46GZH power to recover the monetary component, or any land 
equalisation amount of the land component, payable under 
Part 3AB as a debt in any court of competent jurisdiction 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the collecting agency under an 
approved infrastructure contributions plan 

s.46GZI duty to prepare  and give a report to the Minister at the times 
required by the Minister 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is a collecting agency or development 
agency 

 

s.46GZK power to deal with public purpose land which has vested in, 
been acquired by, or transferred to, Council 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is a collecting agency or development 
agency 

s.46LB(3) duty to publish, on Council’s Internet site, the payable 
dwelling amount for a financial year on or before 1 July of 
each financial year for which the amount is adjusted under 
s.46LB (2) 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

 

s.46N(1) duty to include condition in permit regarding payment of 
development infrastructure levy 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP  

  

s.46N(2)(c) function of determining time and manner for receipt of 
development contributions levy 

DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP 

  

s.46N(2)(d) power to enter into an agreement with the applicant regarding 
payment of development infrastructure levy 

DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP 

  

s.46O(1)(a) 
& (2)(a) 

power to ensure that community infrastructure levy is paid, or 
agreement is in place, prior to issuing building permit 

DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP, 
CSP, FMMP 
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s.46O(1)(d) 
& (2)(d) 

power to enter into agreement with the applicant regarding 
payment of community infrastructure levy 

DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP, 
CSP, FMMP 

  

s.46P(1) power to require payment of amount of levy under section 
46N or section 46O to be satisfactorily secured 

DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP, 
CSP, FMMP, 
CUP, UPO, SP, 
STP, SSP 

  

s.46P(2) power to accept provision of land, works, services or facilities 
in part or full payment of levy payable 

DPS   

s.46Q(1) duty to keep proper accounts of levies paid DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP, SAO 

  

s.46Q(1A) duty to forward to development agency part of levy imposed 
for carrying out works, services, or facilities on behalf of 
development agency or plan preparation costs incurred by a 
development agency 

DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP, SAO 

 

s.46Q(2) duty to apply levy only for a purpose relating to the provision 
of plan preparation costs or the works, services and facilities 
in respect of which the levy was paid etc  

DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP 

  

s.46Q(3) power to refund any amount of levy paid if it is satisfied the 
development is not to proceed 

DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP 

only applies when levy is paid to Council as a 
'development agency' 
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s.46Q(4)(c) duty to pay amount to current owners of land in the area if an  
amount of levy has been paid to a municipal Council as a 
development agency for plan preparation costs incurred by 
the Council or for the provision by the Council of works, 
services or facilities in an area under s.46Q(4)(a) 

DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP 

must be done within six months of the end of the period 
required by the development contributions plan and with 
the consent of, and in the manner approved by, the 
Minister 

s.46Q(4)(d) duty to submit to the Minister an amendment to the approved 
development contributions plan 

DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP 

must be done in accordance with Part 3 

s46Q(4)(e) duty to expend that amount on other works etc. DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP 

with the consent of, and in the manner approved by, the 
Minister 

s.46QC power to recover any amount of levy payable under Part 3B DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP 

  

s.46QD duty to prepare report and give a report to the Minister DPS where Council is a collecting agency or development 
agency 

s.46V(3) duty to make a copy of the approved strategy plan (being the 
Melbourne Airport Environs Strategy Plan) and any 
documents lodged with it available 

DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP, 
CSP, FMMP, 
CUP, UPO, SP, 
STP, SSP 

  

s.46Y duty to carry out works in conformity with the approved 
strategy plan 

DPS,  MUP, 
MCF, MMP 

  

s.47 power to decide that an application for a planning permit does 
not comply with that Act 

MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UPO, SO  
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s.49(1) duty to keep a register of all applications for permits and 
determinations relating to permits 

MUP, , CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, 
PA, PSO  

 

s.49(2) duty to make register available for inspection MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, 
PA, PSO  

  

s.50(4) duty to amend application  DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP,  SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

 

s.50(5) power to refuse to amend application  DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO  

 

s.50(6) duty to make note of amendment to application in register  MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

 

s.50A(1) power to make amendment to application  DPS, MUP,  
CUP, AA/PP, PP, 
SP, STP, UP, SO 

 

s.50A(3) power to require applicant to notify owner and make a 
declaration that notice has been given 

MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, 
PA, PSO 
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s.50A(4) duty to note amendment to application in register  DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, 
PA, PSO 

 

s.51 duty to make copy of application available for inspection MUP, MUP, 
CUP, AA/PP, PP, 
SP, STP, UP, 
SO, PA, PSO  

  

s.52(1)(a) duty to give notice of the application to owners/occupiers of 
adjoining allotments unless satisfied that the grant of permit 
would not cause material detriment to any person 

MUP, MUP,CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO  

  

s.52(1)(b) duty to give notice of the application to other municipal 
Councils where appropriate 

MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO  

  

s.52(1)(c) duty to give notice of the application to all persons required by 
the planning scheme 

MUP, MUP,  
CUP, AA/PP, PP, 
SP, STP, UP, SO  

  

s.52(1)(ca) duty to give notice of the application to owners and occupiers 
of land benefited by a registered restrictive covenant if may 
result in breach of covenant 

MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO  

  

s.52(1)(cb) duty to give notice of the application to owners and occupiers 
of land benefited by a registered restrictive covenant if 
application is to remove or vary the covenant 

MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO  
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s.52(1)(d) duty to give notice of the application to other persons who 
may be detrimentally effected 

MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO  

  

s.52(1AA) duty to give notice of an application to remove or vary a 
registered restrictive covenant 

MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO 

 

s.52(3) power to give any further notice of an application where 
appropriate 

MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO  

  

s.53(1) power to require the applicant to give notice under section 
52(1) to persons specified by it 

MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO  

  

s.53(1A) power to require the applicant to give the notice under section 
52(1AA) 

MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO  

  

s.54(1) power to require the applicant to provide more information  MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA  

  

s.54(1A)  duty to give notice in writing of information required under 
section 54(1) 

MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO 

 

s.54(1B) duty to specify the lapse date for an application MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 
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s.54A(3) power to decide to extend time or refuse to extend time to 
give required information 

MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

 

s.54A(4) duty to give written notice of decision to extend or refuse to 
extend time und section 54A(3) 

MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

 

s.55(1) duty to give copy application, together with the prescribed 
information, to every referral authority specified in the 
planning scheme 

MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA  

 

s.57(2A) power to reject objections considered made primarily for 
commercial advantage for the objector 

CEO, DPS, MUP    

s.57(3) function of receiving name and address of persons to whom 
notice of decision is to go 

MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, 
PA, PSO  

  

s.57(5) duty to make available for inspection copy of all objections MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, 
PA, PSO  

  

s.57A(4) duty to amend application in accordance with applicant's 
request, subject to section 57A(5) 

MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA  
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s.57A(5)  power to refuse to amend application MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, 
PA, PSO 

 

s.57A(6) duty to note amendments to application in register MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, 
PA, PSO 

 

s.57B(1) duty to determine whether and to whom notice should be 
given 

MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

 

s.57B(2) duty to consider certain matters in determining whether notice 
should be given 

MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO,  

 

s.57C(1) duty to give copy of amended application to referral authority MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

 

s.58 duty to consider every application for a permit  MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA  

 

s.58A power to request advice from the Planning Application 
Committee 

DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP 
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s.60 duty to consider certain matters DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA  

 

 

 

s60(1A) duty to consider certain matters. DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

 

s.60(1B) duty to consider number of objectors in considering whether 
use or development may have significant social effect 

MUP, CUP   

s.61(1) power to determine permit application, either to decide to 
grant a permit, to decide to grant a permit with conditions or 
to refuse a permit application 

 DPS, MUP, 
CUP, AA/PP, PP, 
SP, STP, UP, 
SO, PA  

the permit must not be inconsistent with a cultural 
heritage management plan under the Aboriginal Heritage 
Act 2006 

s.61(2) duty to decide to refuse to grant a permit if a relevant 
determining referral authority objects to grant of permit 

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

 

s.61(2A) power to decide to refuse to grant a permit if a relevant 
recommending referral authority objects to the grant of permit 

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

 

s.61(3)(a) duty not to decide to grant a permit to use coastal Crown land 
without Minister’s consent 

DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP  

  

s.61(3)(b) duty to refuse to grant the permit without the Minister's 
consent 

CEO, DPS    
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s.61(4) duty to refuse to grant the permit if grant would authorise a 
breach of a registered restrictive covenant 

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

 

s.62(1) duty to include certain conditions in deciding to grant a permit DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA  

  

s.62(2) power to include other conditions DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA  

  

s.62(4) duty to ensure conditions are consistent with paragraphs 
(a),(b) and (c) 

MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA  

 

s.62(5)(a) power to include a permit condition to implement an approved 
development contributions plan or an approved infrastructure 
contributions plan 

DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP  

  

s.62(5)(b) power to include a permit condition that specified works be 
provided on or to the land or paid for in accordance with 
section 173 agreement 

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP  

  

s.62(5)(c) power to include a permit condition that specified works be 
provided or paid for by the applicant 

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP  

  

s.62(6)(a) duty not to include a permit condition requiring a person to 
pay an amount for or provide works except in accordance 
with  ss.46N(1), 46GV(7) or 62(5) 

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
SO  
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s.62(6)(b) duty not to include a permit condition requiring a person to 
pay an amount for or provide works except a condition that a 
planning scheme requires to be included as referred to in 
section 62(1)(a) 

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
SO  

  

s.63 duty to issue the permit where made a decision in favour of 
the application (if no one has objected) 

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

  

s.64(1) duty to give notice of decision to grant a permit to applicant 
and objectors 

MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

this provision applies also to a decision to grant an 
amendment to a permit  - see section 75   

s.64(3) duty not to issue a permit until after the specified period DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

this provision applies also to a decision to grant an 
amendment to a permit  - see section 75  

s.64(5) duty to give each objector a copy of an exempt decision DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

this provision applies also to a decision to grant an 
amendment to a permit  - see section 75   

s.64A duty not to issue permit until the end of a period when an 
application for review may be lodged with VCAT or until 
VCAT has determined the application, if a relevant 
recommending referral authority has objected to the grant of a 
permit 

MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

this provision applies also to a decision to grant an 
amendment to a permit  - see section 75A   

 

s.65(1) duty to give notice of refusal to grant permit to applicant and 
person who objected under section 57 

DPS MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 
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s.66(1) duty to give notice under section 64 or section 65 and copy 
permit to relevant determining referral authorities 

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA  

 

s.66(2) duty to give a recommending referral authority notice of its 
decision to grant a permit  

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

if the recommending referral authority objected to the 
grant of the permit or the responsible authority decided 
not to include a condition on the permit recommended by 
the recommending referral authority 

s.66(4) duty to give a recommending referral authority notice of its 
decision to refuse a permit  

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

if the recommending referral authority objected to the 
grant of the permit or the recommending referral authority 
recommended that a permit condition be included on the 
permit 

s.66(6) duty to give a recommending referral authority a copy of any 
permit which Council decides to grant and a copy of any 
notice given under section 64 or 65  

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

if the recommending referral authority did not object to 
the grant of the permit or the recommending referral 
authority did not recommend a condition be included on 
the permit 

s.69(1) function of receiving application for extension of time of permit MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

  

s.69(1A) function of receiving application for extension of time to 
complete development 

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

 

s.69(2) power to extend time MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

In accordance with the Urban Planning Delegation 
Protocols – February 2013  
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s.70 duty to make copy permit available for inspection MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, 
PA, PSO 

  

s.71(1) power to correct certain mistakes DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

  

s.71(2) duty to note corrections in register MUP, MUP, 
CUP, AA/PP, PP, 
SP, STP, UP, 
SO, PA, PSO  

  

s.73 power to decide to grant amendment subject to conditions DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

In accordance with the Urban Planning Delegation 
Protocols – February 2013 

s.74 duty to issue amended permit to applicant if no objectors DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

 

s.76 duty to give applicant and objectors notice of decision to 
refuse to grant amendment to permit 

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, 
PA, PSO  

 

s.76A(1) duty to give relevant determining referral authorities copy of 
amended permit and copy of notice  

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, 
PA, PSO 
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s.76A(2) duty to give a recommending referral authority notice of its 
decision to grant an amendment to a permit  

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

if the recommending referral authority objected to the 
amendment of the permit or the responsible authority 
decided not to include a condition on the amended permit 
recommended by the recommending referral authority 

s.76A(4) duty to give a recommending referral authority notice of its 
decision to refuse a permit  

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

if the recommending referral authority objected to the 
amendment of the permit or the recommending referral 
authority recommended that a permit condition be 
included on the amended permit 

s.76A(6) duty to give a recommending referral authority a copy of any 
amended permit which Council decides to grant and a copy of 
any notice given under section 64 or 76  

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

if the recommending referral authority did not object to 
the amendment of the permit or the recommending 
referral authority did not recommend a condition be 
included on the amended permit 

s.76D duty to comply with direction of Minister to issue amended 
permit  

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

 

s.83 function of being respondent to an appeal DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

  

s.83B duty to give or publish notice of application for review MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

  

s.84(1) power to decide on an application at any time after an appeal 
is lodged against failure to grant a permit 

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 
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s.84(2) duty not to issue a permit or notice of decision or refusal after 
an application is made for review of a failure to grant a permit 

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

  

s.84(3) duty to tell principal registrar if decide to grant a permit after 
an application is made for review of its failure to grant a 
permit 

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

  

s.84(6) duty to issue permit on receipt of advice within 3 working days DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

  

s.84AB power to agree to confining a review by the Tribunal DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

 

s.86 duty to issue a permit at order of Tribunal within 3 working 
days 

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

  

s.87(3) power to apply to VCAT for the cancellation or amendment of 
a permit 

DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP  

  

s.90(1) function of being heard at hearing of request for cancellation 
or amendment of a permit 

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA  

  

s.91(2) duty to comply with the directions of VCAT DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA  
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s.91(2A) duty to issue amended permit to owner if Tribunal so directs DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA 

 

s.92 duty to give notice of cancellation/amendment of permit by 
VCAT to persons entitled to be heard under section 90 

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA  

 

s.93(2) duty to give notice of VCAT order to stop development DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP, PIO  

  

s.95(3) function of referring certain applications to the Minister DPS, MUP, CUP     

s.95(4) duty to comply with an order or direction DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA  

  

s.96(1) duty to obtain a permit from the Minister to use and develop 
its land 

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, PA  

  

s.96(2) function of giving consent to other persons to apply to the 
Minister for a permit to use and develop Council land 

DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP  

  

s.96A(2) power to agree to consider an application for permit 
concurrently with preparation of proposed amendment 

DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP  

  

s.96C power to give notice, to decide not to give notice, to publish 
notice and to exercise any other power under section 96C 

DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP  
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s.96F duty to consider the panel's report under section 96E DPS, MUP, MUP, 
CUP, AA/PP, PP, 
SP, STP, UP, 
SO, PA 

 

s.96G(1) power to determine to recommend that a permit be granted or 
to refuse to recommend that a permit be granted and power 
to notify applicant of the determination (including power to 
give notice under section 23 of the Planning and Environment 
(Planning Schemes) Act 1996) 

DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP  

  

s.96H(3) power to give notice in compliance with Minister's direction DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP, CSP, 
FMMP  

  

s.96J power to issue permit as directed by the Minister DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP, CSP, 
FMMP, AA/PP, 
PP, SP, STP, 
UP, SP, STP, 
SSP  

  

s.96K duty to comply with direction of the Minister to give notice of 
refusal 

DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP, CSP, 
FMMP  

  

s. 96Z duty to keep levy certificates given to it under ss. 47 or 96A 
for no less than 5 years from receipt of the certificate  

MUP, MCF, MMP  

s.97C power to request Minister to decide the application DPS    
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s.97D(1) duty to comply with directions of Minister to supply any 
document or assistance relating to application 

DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP, CSP, 
FMMP, AA/PP, 
PP, SP, STP, 
UP, SP, STP, 
SSP  

  

s.97G(3) function of receiving from Minister copy of notice of refusal to 
grant permit or copy of any permit granted by the Minister 

MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP, CSP, 
FMMP, AA/PP, 
PP, UP, SP, 
STP, SSP  

  

s.97G(6) duty to make a copy of permits issued under section 97F 
available for inspection 

MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP, CSP, 
FMMP, AA/PP, 
PP, UP, SP, 
STP, SSP  

  

s.97L duty to include Ministerial decisions in a register kept under 
section 49 

MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP, CSP, 
FMMP, AA/PP, 
PP, UP, SP, 
STP, SSP  

  

s.97MH duty to provide information or assistance to the Planning 
Application Committee 

DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP, CSP, 
FMMP 

 

s.97MI duty to contribute to the costs of the Planning Application 
Committee or subcommittee 

DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP  
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s.97O duty to consider application and issue or refuse to issue 
certificate of compliance 

MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP, CSP, 
FMMP, AA/PP, 
PP, UP, SP, 
STP, SSP  

  

s.97P(3) duty to comply with directions of VCAT following an 
application for review of a failure or refusal to issue a 
certificate 

DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP, CSP, 
FMMP, AA/PP, 
PP, UP, SP, 
STP, SSP  

  

s.97Q(2) function of being heard by VCAT at hearing of request for 
amendment or cancellation of certificate 

DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP, CSP, 
FMMP, AA/PP, 
PP, UP, SP, 
STP, SSP  

  

s.97Q(4) duty to comply with directions of VCAT DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP, CSP, 
FMMP, AA/PP, 
PP, UP, SP, 
STP, SSP  

  

s.97R duty to keep register of all applications for certificate of 
compliance and related decisions 

MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP, CSP, 
FMMP, AA/PP, 
PP, UP, SP, 
STP, SSP  

  

s.98(1)&(2) function of receiving claim for compensation in certain 
circumstances 

DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP,   
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s.98(4) duty to inform any person of the name of the person from 
whom compensation can be claimed 

DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP, CSP, 
FMMP  

  

s.101 function of receiving claim for expenses in conjunction with 
claim 

DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP, CSP, 
FMMP  

  

s.103 power to reject a claim for compensation in certain 
circumstances 

DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP  

  

s.107(1) function of receiving claim for compensation DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP, CSP, 
FMMP  

  

s.107(3) power to agree to extend time for making claim DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP, CSP, 
FMMP,  

 

s.114(1) power to apply to the VCAT for an enforcement order DPS, MUP, , 
CUP, AA/PP, PIO  

  

s.117(1)(a) function of making a submission to the VCAT where 
objections are received 

DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP, CSP, 
FMMP, CUP, 
UPO,  PIO  

  

s.120(1) power to apply for an interim enforcement order where 
section 114 application has been made 

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PIO  

  

s.123(1) power to carry out work required by enforcement order and 
recover costs 

DPS, MUP,  
CUP, PIO  
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s.123(2) power to sell buildings, materials, etc salvaged in carrying out 
work under section 123(1) 

DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP  

except Crown Land 

s.129 function of recovering penalties DPS, MUP, CUP, 
PIO  

  

s.130(5) power to allow person served with an infringement notice 
further time 

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
PIO 

 

s.149A(1) 
power to refer a matter to the VCAT for determination DPS, MUP, CUP  

  

s.149A(1A) 
power to apply to VCAT for the determination of a matter 
relating to the interpretation of a s.173 agreement 

DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP, 
AA/PP 

 

s.156  
duty to pay fees and allowances (including a payment to the 
Crown under subsection (2A)), and payment or 
reimbursement for reasonable costs and expenses incurred 
by the panel in carrying out its functions unless the Minister 
directs otherwise under subsection (2B)power to ask for 
contribution under subsection (3) and power to abandon 
amendment or part of it under subsection (4) 

DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP  

where Council is the relevant planning authority 

s.171(2)(f) 
power to carry out studies and commission reports DPS, MUP, MCF, 

MMP, CUP, CSP, 
FMMP, SP, STP, 
SSP  

  

s.171(2)(g) 
power to grant and reserve easements DPS, DCOS, 

MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP, CSP, 
FMMP  
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s.172C 
power to compulsorily acquire any outer public purpose land 
that is specified in the approved infrastructure contributions 
plan 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is a development agency specified in an 
approved infrastructure contributions plan  

s.172D(1) 
power to compulsorily acquire any inner public purpose land 
that is specified in the plan before the time that the land is 
required to be provided to Council under s.46GV(4) 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is a collecting agency specified in an 
approved infrastructure contributions plan  

s.172D(2) 
power to compulsorily acquire any inner public purpose land, 
the use and development of which is to be the responsibility 
of Council under the plan, before the time that the land is 
required to be provided under s.46GV(4) 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the development agency specified in an 
approved infrastructure contributions plan  

s.173(1) 
power to enter into agreement covering matters set out in 
section 174 

DPS, DCOS, 
MUP, MCF, 
MMP, MGCS, CP  

  

s.173(1A) 
power to enter into an agreement with an owner of land for 
the development or provision of land in relation to affordable 
housing 

DPS, MCF, 
MMP, MUP 

where Council is the relevant responsible authority 
 
note: this provision is not yet in force and will commence 
on 1 June 2018, if not proclaimed earlier 

--- 
power to decide whether something is to the satisfaction of 
Council, where an agreement made under section 173 of the 
Planning and Environment Act 1987 requires something to be 
to the satisfaction of Council or Responsible Authority 

DPS, DCOS, 
MUP, MCF, 
MMP, MGCS, 
CP, CSP, FMMP, 
CUP 
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--- 
power to give consent on behalf of Council, where an 
agreement made under section 173 of the Planning and 
Environment Act 1987 requires that something may not be 
done without the consent of Council or Responsible Authority 

CEO, DPS, 
DCOS, MUP, 
MCF, MMP, 
MGCS, CP, CUP 

 

s.177(2) 
power to end a section 173 agreement with the agreement of 
all those bound by any covenant in the agreement or 
otherwise in accordance with Division 2 of Part 9 

DPS, DCOS, 
MUP, MCF, 
MMP, MGCS, CP 

In consultation with DPS, MUP, MGCS or CP 

s.178 
power to amend a s.173 agreement with the agreement of all 
those bound by any covenant in the agreement or otherwise 
in accordance with Division 2 of Part 9 

DPS, DCOS, 
MUP, MCF, 
MMP, MGCS, 
CP, CUP  

  

s.178A(1) 
function of receiving application to amend or end an 
agreement 

DPS, DCOS, 
MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP 

 

s.178A(3) 
function of notifying the owner as to whether it agrees in 
principle to the proposal under s.178A(1) 

DPS, DCOS, 
MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP 

 

s.178A(4) 
function of notifying the applicant and the owner as to 
whether it agrees in principle to the proposal 

DPS, DCOS, 
MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP 
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s.178A(5) 
power to propose to amend or end an agreement DPS, DCOS, 

MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP 

 

s.178B(1) 
duty to consider certain matters when considering proposal to 
amend an agreement 

DPS, DCOS, 
MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP 

 

s.178B(2) 
duty to consider certain matters when considering proposal to 
end an agreement 

DPS, DCOS, 
MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP 

 

s.178C(2) 
duty to give notice of the proposal to all parties to the 
agreement and other persons who may be detrimentally 
affected by decision to amend or end 

DPS, DCOS, 
MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP 

 

s.178C(4) 
function of determining how to give notice under s.178C(2) DPS, DCOS, 

MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP 

 

s.178E(1) 
duty not to make decision until after 14 days after notice has 
been given 

DPS, DCOS, 
MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP 
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s.178E(2)(a) 
power to amend or end the agreement in accordance with the 
proposal 

DPS, DCOS, 
MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP 

If no objections are made under s.178D 
Must consider matters in s.178B 
 
 

s.178E(2)(b) 
power to amend or end the agreement in a manner that is not 
substantively different from the proposal 

DPS, DCOS, 
MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP 

If no objections are made under s.178D 
Must consider matters in s.178B 
 
 

s.178E(2)(c) 
power to refuse to amend or end the agreement DPS, DCOS, 

MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP 

If no objections are made under s.178D 
Must consider matters in s.178B 
 
 

s.178E(3)(a) 
power to amend or end the agreement in accordance with the 
proposal 

DPS, DCOS, 
MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP 

After considering objections, submissions and matters in 
s.178B 
 
 

s.178E(3)(b) 
power to amend or end the agreement in a manner that is not 
substantively different from the proposal 

DPS, DCOS, 
MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP 

After considering objections, submissions and matters in 
s.178B 
 
 

s.178E(3)(c) 
power to amend or end the agreement in a manner that is 
substantively different from the proposal 

DPS, DCOS, 
MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP 

After considering objections, submissions and matters in 
s.178B 
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s.178E(3)(d) 
power to refuse to amend or end the agreement DPS, DCOS, 

MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP 

After considering objections, submissions and matters in 
s.178B 
 
 

s.178F(1) 
duty to give notice of its decision under s.178E(3)(a) or (b) DPS, DCOS, 

MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP 

 

s.178F(2) 
duty to give notice of its decision under s.178E(2)(c) or (3)(d) DPS, DCOS, 

MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP 

 

s.178F(4) 
duty not to proceed to amend or end an agreement under 
s.178E until at least 21 days after notice has been given or 
until an application for review to the Tribunal has been 
determined or withdrawn 

DPS, DCOS, 
MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP 

 

s.178G 
duty to sign amended agreement and give copy to each other 
party to the agreement 

DPS, DCOS, 
MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP 

 

s.178H 
power to require a person who applies to amend or end an 
agreement to pay the costs of giving notices and preparing 
the amended agreement 

DPS, DCOS, 
MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP 
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s.178I(3) 
duty to notify, in writing, each party to the agreement of the 
ending of the agreement relating to Crown land 

DPS, DCOS, 
MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP 

 

s.179(2) 
duty to make available for inspection copy agreement MUP, MCF, 

MMP, CSP, 
FMMP, CUP, 
CUP, UPO,SAO, 
SP, STP, SSP.    

 

s.181 
duty to apply to the Registrar of Titles to record the 
agreement and to deliver a memorial to Registrar-General 

DPS, DCOS, 
MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP  

 

s.181(1A)(a) 
power to apply to the Registrar of Titles to record the 
agreement 

DPS, DCOS, 
MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP 

 

s.181(1A)(b) 
duty to apply to the Registrar of Titles, without delay, to 
record the agreement 

DPS, DCOS, 
MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP 

 

s.182 
power to enforce an agreement DPS, MUP, MCF, 

MMP, CUP,  PIO, 
MGCS, CP  
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s.183 
duty to tell Registrar of Titles of ending/amendment of 
agreement 

MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CSP, 
FMMP, CUP,  
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, 
MGCS, CP, SP, 
STP, SSP.  

 

s.184F(1) 
power to decide to amend or end an agreement at any time 
after an application for review of the failure of Council to make 
a decision 

DPS, DCOS, 
MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP 

 

s.184F(2) 
duty not to amend or end the agreement or give notice of the 
decision after an application is made to VCAT for review of a 
failure to amend or end an agreement 

DPS, DCOS, 
MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP 

 

s.184F(3) 
duty to inform the principal registrar if the responsible 
authority decides to amend or end an agreement after an 
application is made for the review of its failure to end or 
amend the agreement 

DPS, DCOS, 
MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP 

 

s.184F(5) 
function of receiving advice from the principal registrar that 
the agreement may be amended or ended in accordance with 
Council's decision 

DPS, DCOS, 
MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP 

 

s.184G(2) 
duty to comply with a direction of the Tribunal DPS, DCOS, 

MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP 
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s.184G(3) 
duty to give notice as directed by the Tribunal DPS, DCOS, 

MUP, MCF, 
MMP, CUP,  
MGCS, CP 

 

s.198(1) 
function to receive application for planning certificate MUP, CUP, 

AA/PP, PP, UP, 
SO, PA, MCF, 
MMP, CSP, 
FMMP, CUP, SP, 
STP, SSP  

  

s.199(1) 
duty to give planning certificate to applicant MUP, CUP, 

AA/PP, PP, UP, 
SO, PA, MCF, 
MMP, CSP, 
FMMP, CUP, SP, 
STP, SSP  

  

s.201(1) 
function of receiving application for declaration of underlying 
zoning 

MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, UP, 
SO, PA, MCF, 
MMP, CSP, 
FMMP, CUP, SP, 
STP, SSP  

  

s.201(3) 
duty to make declaration DPS, MUP, CUP, 

AA/PP, PP, UP, 
SO, PA, MCF, 
MMP, CSP, 
FMMP, CUP, SP, 
STP, SSP  
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- 
power to decide, in relation to any planning scheme or permit, 
that a specified thing has or has not been done to the 
satisfaction of Council 

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, UP, 
SO, PA, MCF, 
MMP, CSP, 
FMMP, CUP, SP, 
STP, SSP 

 

 
power, in relation to any planning scheme or permit, to 
consent or refuse to consent to any matter which requires the 
consent or approval of Council 

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, UP, 
SO, PA, MCF, 
MMP, CSP, 
FMMP, CUP, SP, 
STP, SSP 

 

 power to approve any plan or any amendment to a plan or 
other document in accordance with a provision of a planning 
scheme or condition in a permit 

DPS, MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, UP, 
SO, PA, MCF, 
MMP, CSP, 
FMMP, CUP, SP, 
STP, SSP 

 

- 
power to give written authorisation in accordance with a 
provision of a planning scheme 

MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, UP, 
SO, PA, MCF, 
MMP, CSP, 
FMMP, CUP, SP, 
STP, SSP 
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s.201UAB(1) function of providing the Growth Areas Authority with 
information relating to any land within municipal district  

MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, UP, 
SO, PA, MCF, 
MMP, CSP, 
FMMP, CUP, SP, 
STP, SSP 

 

s.201UAB(2) duty to provide the Growth Areas Authority with information 
requested under subsection (1) as soon as possible  

MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, UP, 
SO, PA, MCF, 
MMP, CSP, 
FMMP, CUP, SP, 
STP, SSP 
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s.33 duty to comply with a direction of the Safety Director under 
this section 

DIS, MES, 
MSAM, MOM  

where Council is a utility under section 3 

s.33A duty to comply with a direction of the Safety Director to give 
effect to arrangements under this section 

DIS, MES, 
MSAM, MOM  

duty of Council as a road authority under the Road 
Management Act 2004 

s.34 duty to comply with a direction of the Safety Director to alter, 
demolish or take away works carried out contrary to a 
direction under section 33(1) 

DIS, MES, 
MSAM, MOM  

where Council is a utility under section 3 

s.34C(2) function of entering into safety interface agreements with rail 
infrastructure manager  

DIS, MES, 
MSAM, MOM 

where Council is the relevant road authority  

s.34D(1) function of working in conjunction with rail infrastructure 
manager in determining whether risks to safety need to be 
managed  

DIS, MES, 
MSAM, MOM 

where Council is the relevant road authority 

s.34D(2) function of receiving written notice of opinion   DIS, MES, 
MSAM, MOM 

where Council is the relevant road authority 

s.34D(4) function of entering into safety interface agreement with 
infrastructure manager 

DIS, MES, 
MSAM, MOM 

where Council is the relevant road authority 

s.34E(1)(a) duty to identify and assess risks to safety  DIS, MES, 
MSAM, MOM 

where Council is the relevant road authority 

s.34E(1)(b) duty to determine measures to manage any risks identified 
and assessed having regard to items set out in section 
34E(2)(a)-(c) 

DIS, MES, 
MSAM, MOM 

where Council is the relevant road authority 

s.34E(3) duty to seek to enter into a safety interface agreement with 
rail infrastructure manager  

DIS, MES, CT where Council is the relevant road authority 



Maribyrnong City Council   
Ordinary Council Meeting - 11 September 2018 Page 294 

Agenda Item 9.5 - Attachment  3 

 

RAIL SAFETY (LOCAL OPERATIONS) ACT 2006 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS AND LIMITATIONS 

s.34F(1)(a) duty to identify and assess risks to safety, if written notice has 
been received under section 34D(2)(a)  

DIS, MES, CT where Council is the relevant road authority 

s.34F(1)(b) duty to determine measures to manage any risks identified 
and assessed, if written notice has been received under 
section 34D(2)(a)  

DIS, MES, CT where Council is the relevant road authority 

s.34F(2)  duty to seek to enter into a safety interface agreement with 
rail infrastructure manager  

DIS, MES, CT where Council is the relevant road authority 

s.34H power to identify and assess risks to safety as required under 
sections 34B, 34C, 34D, 34E or 34F in accordance with 
subsections (a)-(c)  

DIS, MES, CT where Council is the relevant road authority 

s.34I function of entering into safety interface agreements  DIS, MES, CT where Council is the relevant road authority 

s.34J(2) function of receiving notice from Safety Director  DIS, MES, CT where Council is the relevant road authority 

s.34J(7)  duty to comply with a direction of the Safety Director given 
under section 34J(5)  

DIS, MES, CT where Council is the relevant road authority 

s.34K(2) duty to maintain a register of items set out in subsections (a)-
(b)  

DIS, MES, CT where Council is the relevant road authority 
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s.142D function of receiving notice regarding an unregistered 
rooming house 

EHO, BS  

s.142G(1) duty to enter required information in Rooming House Register 
for each rooming house in municipal district 

EHO, BS  

s. 142G(2) power to enter certain information in the Rooming House 
Register 

EHO, BS  

s.142I(2) power to amend or revoke an entry in the Rooming House 
Register if necessary to maintain the accuracy of the entry 

EHO, BS  

s.252 power to give tenant a notice to vacate rented premises if 
subsection (1) applies 

D where Council is the landlord  

s.262(1) power to give tenant a notice to vacate rented premises D where Council is the landlord  

s.262(3) power to publish its criteria for eligibility for the provision of 
housing by council 

D  

s.518F power to issue notice to caravan park regarding emergency 
management plan if determined that the plan does not comply 
with the requirements 

EHO, BS, MRS. 
RC 

 

s.522(1) power to give a compliance notice to a person EHO  

s.525(2) power to authorise an officer to exercise powers in section 
526 (either generally or in a particular case) 

EHO, MRS  

s.525(4) duty to issue identity card to authorised officers EHO  
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s.526(5) duty to keep record of entry by authorised officer under 
section 526 

EHO  

s.526A(3) function of receiving report of inspection EHO, BS  

s.527 power to authorise a person to institute proceedings (either 
generally or in a particular case) 

EHO  
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s.11(1) power to declare a road by publishing a notice in the 
Government Gazette 

DIS, DPS, DCOS obtain consent in circumstances specified in section 
11(2) 

s.11(8) power to name a road or change the name of a road by 
publishing notice in Government Gazette 

DIS, DPS, DCOS  

s.11(9)(b) duty to advise Registrar DIS, DPS, 
DCOS, MGCS, 
CP 

 

s.11(10) duty to inform Secretary to Department of Environment, 
Land, Water and Planning of declaration etc.  

DIS, DPS, 
DCOS, MGCS, 
CP 

clause subject to section 11(10A) 

s.11(10A) duty to inform Secretary to Department of Environment, 
Land, Water and Planning or nominated person 

DIS, DPS, 
DCOS, MGCS, 
CP, MUP, MES, 
MSAM 

where Council is the coordinating road authority 

s.12(2) power to discontinue road or part of a road DIS, DPS, 
DCOS, MGCS, 
CP, MUP, MES, 
MSAM 

were Council is the coordinating road authority 

s.12(4) power to publish, and provide copy, notice of proposed 
discontinuance 

DIS, DPS, 
DCOS, MGCS, 
CP, MUP, MES, 
MSAM 

power of coordinating road authority where it is the 
discontinuing body 

unless subsection (11) applies 
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s.12(5) duty to consider written submissions received within 28 days 
of notice 

DIS, DPS, 
DCOS, MGCS, 
CP, MUP, MES, 
MSAM 

duty of coordinating road authority where it is the 
discontinuing body 

unless subsection (11) applies 

s.12(6) function of hearing a person in support of their written 
submission 

Council function of coordinating road authority where it is the 
discontinuing body 

unless subsection (11) applies 

s.12(7) duty to fix day, time and place of meeting under subsection 
(6) and to give notice 

DIS, DPS, 
DCOS, MGCS, 
CP, MUP, MES, 
MSAM 

duty of coordinating road authority where it is the 
discontinuing body 

unless subsection (11) applies 

s.12(10) duty to notify of decision made DIS, DPS, 
DCOS, MGCS, 
CP, MUP, MES, 
MSAM 

duty of coordinating road authority where it is the 
discontinuing body 

does not apply where an exemption is specified by the 
regulations or given by the Minister 

s.13(1) power to fix a boundary of a road by publishing notice in 
Government Gazette 

DIS power of coordinating road authority and obtain consent 
under section 13(3) and section 13(4) as appropriate 

s.14(4) function of receiving notice from VicRoads DIS  

s.14(7) power to appeal against decision of VicRoads DIS  

s.15(1) power to enter into arrangement with another road authority, 
utility or a provider of public transport to transfer a road 
management function of the road authority to the other road 
authority, utility or provider of public transport 

DIS  
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s.15(1A) power to enter into arrangement with a utility to transfer a 
road management function of the utility to the road authority 

DIS  

s.15(2) duty to include details of arrangement in public roads register DIS, DPS, MUP, 
MES, MSAM 

 

s.16(7) power to enter into an arrangement under section 15 DIS  

s.16(8) duty to enter details of determination in public roads register DIS, DPS, MUP, 
MES, MSAM 

 

s.17(2) duty to register public road in public roads register DIS, DPS, MUP, 
MES, MSAM 

where Council is the coordinating road authority 

s.17(3) power to decide that a road is reasonably required for 
general public use 

DIS, DPS, MUP, 
MES, MSAM 

where Council is the coordinating road authority 

s.17(3) duty to register a road reasonably required for general public 
use in public roads register 

DIS, DPS, MUP, 
MES, MSAM 

where Council is the coordinating road authority 

s.17(4) power to decide that a road is no longer reasonably required 
for general public use 

DIS where Council is the coordinating road authority 

s.17(4) duty to remove road no longer reasonably required for 
general public use from public roads register 

DIS, DPS, MUP, 
MES, MSAM 

where Council is the coordinating road authority 

s.18(1) power to designate ancillary area DIS, DPS, MUP, 
MES, MSAM 

where Council is the coordinating road authority, and 
obtain consent in circumstances specified in section 
18(2) 

s.18(3) duty to record designation in public roads register  DIS, DPS, MUP, 
MES, MSAM 

where Council is the coordinating road authority 
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s.19(1) duty to keep register of public roads in respect of which it is 
the coordinating road authority 

DIS, DPS, MUP, 
MES, MSAM 

 

s.19(4) duty to specify details of discontinuance in public roads 
register 

DIS, DPS, MUP, 
MES, MSAM 

 

s.19(5) duty to ensure public roads register is available for public 
inspection 

DIS, DPS, MUP, 
MES, MSAM 

 

s.21 function of replying to request for information or advice DIS obtain consent in circumstances specified in section 
11(2) 

s.22(2) function of commenting on proposed direction DIS  

s.22(4) duty to publish a copy or summary of any direction made 
under section 22 by the Minister in its annual report. 

DIS  

s.22(5) duty to give effect to a direction under this section. DIS  

s.40(1) duty to inspect, maintain and repair a public road. MOM  

s.40(5) power to inspect, maintain and repair a road which is not a 
public road 

DIS, MOM  

s.41(1) power to determine the standard of construction, inspection, 
maintenance and repair 

DIS, MOM  

s.42(1) power to declare a public road as a controlled access road DIS power of coordinating road authority and Schedule 2 also 
applies 

s.42(2) power to amend or revoke declaration by notice published in 
Government Gazette 

DIS, DCOS power of coordinating road authority and Schedule 2 also 
applies 
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s.42A(3) duty to consult with VicRoads before road is specified DIS where Council is the coordinating road authority  

if road is a municipal road or part thereof 

s.42A(4) power to approve Minister's decision to specify a road as a 
specified freight road 

DIS where Council is the coordinating road authority 

if road is a municipal road or part thereof and where road 
is to be specified a freight road 

s.48EA duty to notify the owner or occupier of land and provider of 
public transport on which rail infrastructure or rolling stock is 
located (and any relevant provider of public transport) 

DIS where Council is the responsible road authority, 
infrastructure manager or works manager 

s.48M(3) function of consulting with the relevant authority for purposes 
of developing guidelines under section 48M 

DIS  

s.49 power to develop and publish a road management plan DIS  

s.51 power to determine standards by incorporating the standards 
in a road management plan 

DIS  

s.53(2) power to cause notice to be published in Government 
Gazette of amendment etc of document in road management 
plan 

DIS  

s.54(2) duty to give notice of proposal to make a road management 
plan 

DIS  

s.54(5) duty to conduct a review of road management plan at 
prescribed intervals 

DIS  

s.54(6) power to amend road management plan DIS  
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s.54(7) duty to incorporate the amendments into the road 
management plan 

DIS  

s.55(1) duty to cause notice of road management plan to be 
published in Government Gazette and newspaper 

DIS  

s.63(1) power to consent to conduct of works on road DIS, DPS, MUP, 
MES, MSAM 

where Council is the coordinating road authority 

s.63(2)(e) power to conduct or to authorise the conduct of works in, on, 
under or over a road in an emergency 

DIS where Council is the infrastructure manager 

s.64(1) duty to comply with clause 13 of Schedule 7 DIS where Council is the infrastructure manager or works 
manager 

s.66(1) power to consent to structure etc DIS, DPS, MUP, 
MES, MSAM 

where Council is the coordinating road authority 

s.67(2) function of receiving the name & address of the person 
responsible for distributing the sign or bill 

DIS, DPS, MUP, 
MES, MSAM 

where Council is the coordinating road authority 

s.67(3) power to request information DIS, DPS, MUP, 
MES, MSAM, 
MRS, MOM 

where Council is the coordinating road authority 

s.68(2) power to request information DIS, DPS, MUP, 
MES, MSAM, 
MRS, MOM 

where Council is the coordinating road authority 

s.71(3) power to appoint an authorised officer DIS, DCOS  

s.72 duty to issue an identity card to each authorised officer DIS, DCOS  
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s.85 function of receiving report from authorised officer DIS, DCOS  

s.86 duty to keep register re section 85 matters DIS, DCOS  

s.87(1) function of receiving complaints DIS, DCOS  

s.87(2) duty to investigate complaint and provide report DIS, DCOS  

s.112(2) power to recover damages in court DIS, DCOS  

s.116 power to cause or carry out inspection DIS  

s.119(2) function of consulting with VicRoads DIS  

s.120(1) power to exercise road management functions on an arterial 
road (with the consent of VicRoads) 

DIS  

s.120(2) duty to seek consent of VicRoads to exercise road 
management functions before exercising power in section 
120(1) 

DIS  

s.121(1) power to enter into an agreement in respect of works DIS, MOM, MES, 
MSAM 

 

s.122(1) power to charge and recover fees DIS, MOM, MES, 
MSAM 

 

s.123(1) power to charge for any service DIS, MOM, MES, 
MSAM 
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Schedule 2 
Clause 2(1) 

power to make a decision in respect of controlled access 
roads  

DIS  

Schedule 2 
Clause 3(1) 

duty to make policy about controlled access roads DIS  

Schedule 2 
Clause 3(2) 

power to amend, revoke or substitute policy about controlled 
access roads 

DIS  

Schedule 2 
Clause 4 

function of receiving details of proposal from VicRoads DIS, MOM, MES, 
MSAM 

 

Schedule 2 
Clause 5 

duty to publish notice of declaration DIS  

Schedule 7, 
Clause 7(1) 

duty to give notice to relevant coordinating road authority of 
proposed installation of non-road infrastructure or related 
works on a road reserve 

DIS where Council is the infrastructure manager or works 
manager 

Schedule 7, 
Clause 8(1) 

duty to give notice to any other infrastructure manager or 
works manager responsible for any non-road infrastructure in 
the area, that could be affected by any proposed installation 
of infrastructure or related works on a road or road reserve of 
any road 

DIS, MES, 
MSAM 

where Council is the infrastructure manager or works 
manager 

Schedule 7, 
Clause 9(1) 

duty to comply with request for information from a 
coordinating road authority, an infrastructure manager or a 
works manager responsible for existing or proposed 
infrastructure in relation to the location of any  non-road 
infrastructure and technical advice or assistance in conduct 
of works  

DIS, MES, 
MSAM 

where Council is the infrastructure manager or works 
manager responsible for non-road infrastructure 
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Schedule 7, 
Clause 9(2) 

duty to give information to another infrastructure manager or 
works manager where becomes aware any infrastructure or 
works are not in the location shown on records, appear to be 
in an unsafe condition or appear to need maintenance 

DIS, MES, 
MSAM 

where Council is the infrastructure manager or works 
manager 

Schedule 7, 
Clause 10(2) 

where Schedule 7 Clause 10(1) applies, duty to, where 
possible, conduct appropriate consultation with persons likely 
to be significantly affected 

DIS, MES, 
MSAM 

where Council is the infrastructure manager or works 
manager 

Schedule 7 
Clause 12(2) 

power to direct infrastructure manager or works manager to 
conduct reinstatement works 

DIS, MES, 
MSAM 

where Council is the coordinating road authority 

Schedule 7 
Clause 12(3) 

power to take measures to ensure reinstatement works are 
completed 

DIS, MES, 
MSAM 

where Council is the coordinating road authority 

Schedule 7 
Clause 12(4) 

duty to ensure that works are conducted by an appropriately 
qualified person 

DIS where Council is the coordinating road authority 

Schedule 7 
Clause 12(5) 

power to recover costs DIS, MES, 
MSAM 

where Council is the coordinating road authority 

Schedule 7, 
Clause 13(1) 

duty to notify relevant coordinating road authority within 7 
days that works have been completed, subject to Schedule 
7, Clause 13(2)  

DIS where Council is the works manager 

Schedule 7 
Clause 13(2) 

power to vary notice period DIS where Council is the coordinating road authority 

Schedule 7, 
Clause 13(3) 

duty to ensure works manager has complied with obligation 
to give notice under Schedule 7, Clause 13(1) 

DIS, MES, 
MSAM 

where Council is the infrastructure manager 
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ROAD MANAGEMENT ACT 2004 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

Schedule 7 
Clause 16(1) 

power to consent to proposed works DIS where Council is the coordinating road authority 

Schedule 7 
Clause 16(4) 

duty to consult  DIS where Council is the coordinating road authority, 
responsible authority or infrastructure manager 

Schedule 7 
Clause 16(5) 

power to consent to proposed works DIS where Council is the coordinating road authority 

Schedule 7 
Clause 16(6) 

power to set reasonable conditions on consent DIS where Council is the coordinating road authority 

Schedule 7 
Clause 16(8) 

power to include consents and conditions DIS where Council is the coordinating road authority 

Schedule 7 
Clause 17(2) 

power to refuse to give consent and duty to give reasons for 
refusal 

DIS where Council is the coordinating road authority 

Schedule 7 
Clause 18(1) 

power to enter into an agreement DIS, MES, 
MSAM, MOM 

where Council is the coordinating road authority 

Schedule 7 
Clause 19(1) 

power to give notice requiring rectification of works DIS, MES, 
MSAM, MOM 

where Council is the coordinating road authority 

Schedule 7 
Clause 19(2) 
& (3) 

power to conduct the rectification works or engage a person 
to conduct the rectification works and power to recover costs 
incurred 

DIS where Council is the coordinating road authority 

Schedule 7 
Clause 20(1) 

power to require removal, relocation, replacement or upgrade 
of existing non-road infrastructure 

DIS, MES, 
MSAM, MOM, 
MRS 

where Council is the coordinating road authority 
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ROAD MANAGEMENT ACT 2004 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

Schedule 7A 
Clause 2 

power to cause street lights to be installed on roads 

 

DIS, MES, CT, 
MOM 

power of responsible road authority where it is the 
coordinating road authority or responsible road authority 
in respect of the road 

Schedule 7A 
Clause 
3(1)(d)  

duty to pay installation and operation costs of street lighting  - 
where road is not an arterial road 

DIS, MES, CT, 
MOM 

where Council is the responsible road authority 

Schedule 7A 
Clause 
3(1)(e) 

duty to pay installation and operation costs of street lighting – 
where road is a service road on an arterial road and adjacent 
areas 

DIS, MES, CT, 
MOM 

where council is the responsible road authority 

Schedule 7A 
Clause 
(3)(1)(f),  

duty to pay installation and percentage of operation costs of 
street lighting – for arterial roads in accordance with clauses 
3(2) and 4 

DIS, MES, CT, 
MOM 

duty of Council as responsible road authority that 
installed the light (re: installation costs) and where 
Council is relevant municipal Council (re: operating costs) 
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CEMETERIES AND CREMATORIA REGULATIONS 2015 
These provisions apply to Councils appointed as a cemetery trust under section 5 of the Cemeteries and Crematoria Act 2003, and also apply to 

Councils appointed to manage a public cemetery under section 8(1)(a)(ii) as though it were a cemetery trust (see section 53)  
 

Column 1 
 

Column 2 
 

Column 3 
 

Column 4 

 

PROVISION 
 

THING DELEGATED 
 

DELEGATE 
 

CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

 

r.24 
 

duty to ensure that cemetery complies with depth of burial 
requirements 

DIS, MOM 
 

 

r.25 
 

duty to ensure that the cemetery complies with the 
requirements for interment in concrete-lined graves 

DIS, MOM 
 

 

r.27 
 

power to inspect any coffin, container or other receptacle if 
satisfied of the matters in paragraphs (a) and (b) 

DIS, MOM 
 

 

r.28(1) 
 

power to remove any fittings on any coffin, container or other 
receptacle if the fittings may impede the cremation process 
or damage the cremator 

DIS, MOM 
 

 

r.28(2) 
 

duty to ensure any fittings removed of are disposed in an 
appropriate manner 

DIS, MOM 
 

 

r.29 
 

power to dispose of any metal substance or non-human 
substance recovered from a cremator 

DIS, MOM 
 

 

r.30(2) 
 

power to release cremated human remains to certain 
persons 

DIS, MOM 
 

subject to any order of a court 

 

r.31(1) 
 

duty to make cremated human remains available for 
collection within 2 working days after the cremation 

DIS, MOM 
 

 

r.31(2) 
 

duty to hold cremated human remains for at least 12 
months from the date of cremation 

DIS, MOM 
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CEMETERIES AND CREMATORIA REGULATIONS 2015 
These provisions apply to Councils appointed as a cemetery trust under section 5 of the Cemeteries and Crematoria Act 2003, and also apply to 

Councils appointed to manage a public cemetery under section 8(1)(a)(ii) as though it were a cemetery trust (see section 53)  
 

Column 1 
 

Column 2 
 

Column 3 
 

Column 4 

 

PROVISION 
 

THING DELEGATED 
 

DELEGATE 
 

CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

 

r.31(3) 
 

power to dispose of cremated human remains if no person 
gives a direction within 12 months of the date of cremation 

DIS, MOM 
 

 

r.31(4) 
 

duty to take reasonable steps notify relevant people of 
intention to dispose of remains at expiry of 12 month period 

DIS, MOM 
 

 

r.32 
 

duty to ensure a mausoleum is constructed in 
accordance with paragraphs (a)-(d) 

DIS, MOM 
 

 

r.33(1) 
 

duty to ensure that remains are interred in a coffin, container 
or receptacle in accordance with paragraphs (a)-(c) 

DIS, MOM 
 

 

r.33(2) 
 

duty to ensure that remains are interred in accordance with 
paragraphs (a)-(b) 

DIS, MOM 
 

 

r.34 
 

duty to ensure that a crypt space in a mausolea is 
sealed in accordance with paragraphs (a)-(b) 

DIS, MOM 
 

 

r.36 
 

duty to provide statement that alternative vendors or 
supplier of monuments exist 

DIS, MOM 
 

 

r. 40 
 

power to approve a person to play sport within a public 
cemetery 

DIS, MOM 
 

 

r. 41(1) 
 

power to approve fishing and bathing within a public 
cemetery 

DIS, MOM 
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CEMETERIES AND CREMATORIA REGULATIONS 2015 
These provisions apply to Councils appointed as a cemetery trust under section 5 of the Cemeteries and Crematoria Act 2003, and also apply to 

Councils appointed to manage a public cemetery under section 8(1)(a)(ii) as though it were a cemetery trust (see section 53)  
 

Column 1 
 

Column 2 
 

Column 3 
 

Column 4 

 

PROVISION 
 

THING DELEGATED 
 

DELEGATE 
 

CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

 

r. 42(1) 
 

power to approve hunting within a public cemetery DIS, MOM 
 

 

r. 43 
 

power to approve camping within a public cemetery DIS, MOM 
 

 

r. 45(1) 
 

power to approve the removal of plants within a public 
cemetery 

DIS, MOM 
 

 

r.46 
 

power to approve certain activities under the 
Regulations if satisfied of regulation (1)(a)-(c) 

DIS, MOM 
 

 

r. 47(3) 
 

power to approve the use of fire in a public cemetery DIS, MOM 
 

 

r.48(2) 
 

power to approve a person to drive, ride or use a 
vehicle on any surface other than a road, track or 
parking area 

DIS, MOM 
 

 

Note: Schedule 2 contains Model Rules – only applicable if the cemetery trust has not made its own cemetery trust rules 

 

Schedule 2, 
clause 
4 

 

power to approve the carrying out of an activity referred to in 
rules 8, 16, 17 and 18 of Schedule 2 
 

DIS, MOM 
 

see note above regarding model rules 

 

Schedule 2, 
clause 
5(1) 

 

duty to display the hours during which pedestrian 
access is available to the cemetery 

DIS, MOM see note above regarding model rules 

 

Schedule 2, 
clause 
5(21) 

 

duty to notify the Secretary of, (a)display the hours 
during which pedestrian access is available to the 
cemetery; and (b) any changes to those hours 

DIS, MOM see note above regarding model rules 
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CEMETERIES AND CREMATORIA REGULATIONS 2015 
These provisions apply to Councils appointed as a cemetery trust under section 5 of the Cemeteries and Crematoria Act 2003, and also apply to 

Councils appointed to manage a public cemetery under section 8(1)(a)(ii) as though it were a cemetery trust (see section 53)  
 

Column 1 
 

Column 2 
 

Column 3 
 

Column 4 

 

PROVISION 
 

THING DELEGATED 
 

DELEGATE 
 

CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

 

Schedule 2, 
clause 
6(1) 

 

power to give directions regarding the manner in which a 
funeral is to be conducted 

DIS, MOM see note above regarding model rules 

 

Schedule 2, 
clause 
7(1) 

 

power to give directions regarding the dressing of 
places of interment and memorials 

DIS, MOM see note above regarding model rules 

 

Schedule 2, 
clause 
8 

 

power to approve certain mementos on a memorial DIS, MOM see note above regarding model rules 

 

Schedule 2, 
clause 
11(1) 

 

power to remove objects from a memorial or place of 
interment 

DIS, MOM see note above regarding model rules 

 

Schedule 2, 
clause 
11(2) 

 

duty to ensure objects removed under sub rule (1) are 
disposed of in an appropriate manner 

DIS, MOM see note above regarding model rules 

 

Schedule 2, 
clause 
12 

 

power to inspect any work being carried out on 
memorials, places of interment and buildings for 
ceremonies 

DIS, MOM see note above regarding model rules 

 

Schedule 2, 
clause 
14 

 

power to approve an animal to enter into or remain in a 
cemetery 

DIS, MOM see note above regarding model rules 

 

Schedule 2, 
clause 
16(1) 

 

power to approve construction and building within a 
cemetery 

DIS, MOM see note above regarding model rules 

 

Schedule 2, 
clause 
17(1) 

 

power to approve action to disturb or demolish property of the 
cemetery trust 

DIS, MOM see note above regarding model rules 
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CEMETERIES AND CREMATORIA REGULATIONS 2015 
These provisions apply to Councils appointed as a cemetery trust under section 5 of the Cemeteries and Crematoria Act 2003, and also apply to 

Councils appointed to manage a public cemetery under section 8(1)(a)(ii) as though it were a cemetery trust (see section 53)  
 

Column 1 
 

Column 2 
 

Column 3 
 

Column 4 

 

PROVISION 
 

THING DELEGATED 
 

DELEGATE 
 

CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

 

Schedule 2, 
clause 
18(1) 

 

power to approve digging or planting within a cemetery 
DIS, MOM see note above regarding model rules 
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PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT REGULATIONS 2015 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS AND LIMITATIONS 

r. 6 function of receiving notice, under section 19(1)(c) of the Act, 
from a planning authority of its preparation of an amendment 
to a planning scheme 

MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, 
PA, PSO,  MCF, 
MMP, CSP, 
FMMP, CUP, SP, 
STP, SSP 

where Council is not the planning authority and the 
amendment affects land within its municipal district; or  

where the amendment will amend the planning scheme 
to designate Council as an acquiring authority.  

r.21 power of responsible authority to require a permit applicant to 
verify  information (by statutory declaration or other written 
confirmation satisfactory to the responsible authority) in an 
application for a permit or to amend a permit or any 
information provided under section 54 of the Act 

MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, 
PA, PSO 

 

r.25(a) duty to make copy of matter considered under section 
60(1A)(g) available for inspection free of charge  

MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, 
PA, PSO 

where Council is the responsible authority 

r.25(b)) function of receiving a copy of any document considered 
under section 60(1A)(g) by the responsible authority and duty 
to make the document available for inspection free of charge 

MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, 
PA, PSO 

where Council is not the responsible authority but the 
relevant land is within Council's municipal district 

r.42 function of receiving notice under section 96C(1)(c) of the Act 
from a planning authority of its preparation of a combined 
application for an amendment to a planning scheme and 
notice of a permit application 

MUP, CUP, 
AA/PP, PP, SP, 
STP, UP, SO, 
PA, PSO, MCF, 
MMP, CSP, 
FMMP, CUP, SP, 
STP, SSP 

where Council is not the planning authority and the 
amendment affects land within Council's municipal 
district; or  

where the amendment will amend the planning scheme 
to designate Council as an acquiring authority. 
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PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENT (FEES) REGULATIONS 2016 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS AND LIMITATIONS 

r.19 power to waive or rebate a fee relating to an amendment to a 
planning  scheme 

DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP 

 

r.20 power to waive or rebate a fee other than a fee relating to an 
amendment to a planning scheme 

DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP 

 

r.21 duty to record matters taken into account and which formed 
the basis of a decision to waive or rebate a fee under r.19 or 
20 

DPS, MUP, MCF, 
MMP 
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RESIDENTIAL TENANCIES (CARAVAN PARKS AND MOVABLE DWELLINGS REGISTRATION AND STANDARDS)  REGULATIONS 2010  

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

r.7 function of entering into a written agreement with a caravan 
park owner  

MRS, EHO, MBS  

r.11 function of receiving application for registration EHO  

r.13(1)  duty to grant the registration if  satisfied that the caravan park 
complies with these regulations 

EHO  

r.13(2) duty to renew the registration if satisfied that the caravan park 
complies with these regulations 

EHO  

r.13(2) power to refuse to renew the registration if not satisfied that 
the caravan park complies with these regulations 

EHO  

r.13(4) & (5) duty to issue certificate of registration EHO  

r.15(1) function of receiving notice of transfer of ownership EHO  

r.15(3) power to determine where notice of transfer is displayed EHO  

r.16(1) duty to transfer registration to new caravan park owner EHO  

r.16(2) duty to issue a certificate of transfer of registration EHO  

r.17(1) power to determine the fee to accompany applications for 
registration or applications for renewal of registration 

EHO  

r.18 duty to keep register of caravan parks  EHO  

r.19(4) power to determine where the emergency contact person's 
details are displayed 

EHO, MBS  
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RESIDENTIAL TENANCIES (CARAVAN PARKS AND MOVABLE DWELLINGS REGISTRATION AND STANDARDS)  REGULATIONS 2010  

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

r.19(6) power to determine where certain information is displayed MRS, EHO, BS, 
RC 

 

r.22A(1) duty to notify a caravan park owner of the relevant emergency 
services agencies for the caravan park, on the request of the 
caravan park owner 

MRS, EHO, BS, 
RC 

 

r.22A(2) duty to consult with relevant emergency services agencies EHO, MBS, 
MRS, RC 

 

r.23 power to determine places in which caravan park owner must 
display a copy of emergency procedures 

EHO, MRS, 
MBS, RC 

 

r.24 power to determine places in which caravan park owner must 
display copy of public emergency warnings  

EHO,  MRS, 
CEH, RC 

 

r.25(3)  duty to consult with relevant floodplain management authority  MRS, CEH, RC  

r.26 duty to have regard to any report of the relevant fire authority  MRS, MBS, CEH, 
RC 

 

r.28(c)  power to approve system for the collection, removal and 
disposal of sewage and waste water from a movable dwelling  

MRS, EHO  

r.39 function of receiving notice of proposed installation of 
unregistrable movable dwelling or rigid annexe  

EHO, MRS, MBS  

r.39(b) power to require notice of proposal to install unregistrable 
movable dwelling or rigid annexe  

EHO, MBS, MRS  

r.40(4) function of receiving installation certificate EHO, TLEH, 
MRS 
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RESIDENTIAL TENANCIES (CARAVAN PARKS AND MOVABLE DWELLINGS REGISTRATION AND STANDARDS)  REGULATIONS 2010  

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

r.42 power to approve use of a non-habitable structure as a 
dwelling or part of a dwelling  

BS, MBS, MRS  

Schedule 3    
clause 4(3) 

power to approve the removal of wheels and axles from 
unregistrable movable dwelling  

EHO, MRS, MBS  
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ROAD MANAGEMENT (GENERAL) REGULATIONS 2016  
 

 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

r.8(1) duty to conduct reviews of road management plan  DIS  

r.9(2)  duty to produce written report of review of road management 
plan and make report available  

DIS  

r.9(3) Duty to give notice where road management review is 
completed and no amendments will be made (or no 
amendments for  which notice is required) 

DIS where Council is the coordinating road authority 

r.10 duty to give notice of amendment which relates to standard of 
construction, inspection, maintenance or repair under section 
41 of the Act 

DIS  

r.13(1) Duty to publish notice of amendments to road management 
plan  

DIS where Council is the coordinating road authority 

r.13(3) duty to record on road management plan the substance and 
date of effect of amendment 

DIS  

r.16(3) power to issue permit DIS, MSAM, 
MOM, MES 

where Council is the coordinating road authority 

r.18(1) power to give written consent re damage to road DIS, MSAM, 
MOM, MES 

where Council is the coordinating road authority 

r.23(2) power to make submission to Tribunal DIS where Council is the coordinating road authority 

r.23(4) power to charge a fee for application under section 66(1) 
Road Management Act 

DIS where Council is the coordinating road authority 
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ROAD MANAGEMENT (GENERAL) REGULATIONS 2016  
 

 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

r.25(1) power to remove objects, refuse, rubbish or other material 
deposited or left on road 

DIS, MSAM, 
MOM, MES 

where Council is the responsible road authority 

r.25(2) power to sell or dispose of things removed from road or part 
of road (after first complying with regulation 25(3) 

DIS, MOM where Council is the responsible road authority 

r.25(5) power to recover in the Magistrates' Court, expenses from 
person responsible 

DIS, MOM  
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ROAD MANAGEMENT (WORKS AND INFRASTRUCTURE) REGULATIONS 2015 

 

Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 

PROVISION THING DELEGATED DELEGATE CONDITIONS & LIMITATIONS 

r.15 power to exempt a person from requirement under clause 
13(1) of Schedule 7 of the Act to give notice as to the 
completion of those works 

MOM where Council is the coordinating road authority and 
where consent given under section 63(1) of the Act 

r.22(2) power to waive whole or part of fee in certain circumstances MOM where Council is the coordinating road authority 
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COUNCILLOR SUPPORT AND EXPENSES MAY 2018 TO AUGUST 2018  

Director: Stephen Wall  
Chief Executive Officer  

Author: Renu Naicker 
Executive Assistant to Mayor and Councillors 

 

PURPOSE  

To present the Councillor support and expenses for the period May 2018 to July 2018. 
 

ISSUES SUMMARY 

 Council’s Councillor Support and Expenses Policy - 2017, requires details of 
Councillors’ support and expenses to be reported to an Ordinary Council Meeting, 
and to be made available on Council’s website for the term of the Council. 

 The reporting period is May 2018 to July 2018. 
 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Councillor Support and Expenses Q3 ⇩      
 

OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

That Council notes the Councillor Support and Expenses Report for May 2018 to 
July 2018 which will be made available via Council’s website for the term of the 
current Council.  
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BACKGROUND 

As part of Council’s commitment to open and transparent governance, Council’s 
Councillor Support and Expenses Policy - 2017 requires details of Councillors’ 
expenses to be reported to an Ordinary Council Meeting. 

DISCUSSION/KEY ISSUES 

1. Key Issues 

Under the Local Government Act 1989, Councillors are entitled to resources and 
facilities support and reimbursements of expenses, related to their duties as a 
Councillor. 
 
In carrying out civic and statutory functions, Councillors are required to attend both 
statutory committee and sector based meetings, attend seminars, functions and other 
information meetings, in order to be kept informed of issues facing the municipality, 
wards, and local government in general. 
 
Details of Councillor support and expenses in relation to the following support items, are 
reported to Council on a quarterly basis: 
 

 Councillor Development/Training 

 Conferences/Seminars 

 Events 

 Memberships 

 Child/Family Care 

 Photocopy use 

 Mobile/Data 

 Travel. 

2. Council Policy/Legislation 

Council Plan 2017-2021 

This report contributes to Council’s strategic objectives contained in the Council Plan 
2017-2021, by considering: 

 Strategic Objective: 
- Strong leadership - lead our changing city using strategic foresight, 

innovation, transparent decision making and well-planned, effective 
collaboration. 

Legislation 

 Councillor Support and Expenses Policy – 2017 

 Local Government Act 1989 

 Council Plan 2017-2021. 
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Conflicts of Interest 

No officer responsible for, or contributing to, this report has declared a direct or indirect 
interest in relation to this report. 

Human Rights Consideration 

This report complies with the rights listed in the Victorian Charter of Human Rights and 
Responsibilities Act 2006. 
 

3. Engagement 

Not applicable. 

4. Resources 

All Councillor support and expenses are within existing budgetary allocations. 

5. Environment 

Not applicable. 

CONCLUSION 

The Councillor support and expenses from May 2018 to July 2018 are presented for 
noting. 
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ASSEMBLY OF COUNCILLORS - AUGUST 2018  

Director: Celia Haddock  
Director Corporate Services  

Author: Lisa King 
Manager Governance and Commercial Services 

 

PURPOSE 

To receive and note the record of Assemblies of Councillors for August 2018. 
 

ISSUES SUMMARY 

Section 80A of the Local Government Act 1989 requires that the written record of an 
assembly of Councillors is, as soon as practicable, reported at an ordinary meeting of 
the Council and incorporated in the minutes of that Council meeting. 
 
An assembly of Councillors is: 

 A meeting of an advisory committee of the Council if at least 1 Councillor is 
present; or 

 A planned/scheduled meeting of at least half of the Councillors and 1 member of 
staff which considers matters that are intended/likely to be the subject of a 
decision of the Council or subject to the exercise of a function, duty or power of the 
Council that has been delegated to a person/committee. 

 
An assembly of Councillors does not include: 

 A meeting of the Council 

 A special committee of the Council 

 An audit committee 

 A club, association, peak body, political party or other organisation. 
 
The attached record of Assemblies of Councillors is reported to Council in accordance 
with this requirement. 
 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Assembly of Councillors - August 2018 ⇩      
 

OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

That Council notes the record of Assemblies of Councillors for August 2018. 
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August 2018 

Meeting and Date Councillor Attendees Council Staff Attendees Matters Considered 
Conflict of 

Interest 
Disclosures 

Councillor Strategic 
Briefing 

7 August 2018 

 

 

Cr Simon Crawford 

Cr Catherine Cumming 

Cr Gina Huynh 

Cr Cuc Lam 

Cr Martin Zakharov 

 

Stephen Wall (Chief Executive Officer) 

Celia Haddock (Director Corporate Services) 

Steve Hamilton (Director Infrastructure 
Services) 

Clem Gillings (Director Community Services)  

Nigel Higgins (Director Planning Services) 

Lisa King (Manager Governance and 
Commercial Services) 

Daniel Ligtvoet (Corporate Systems Project 
Officer) 

 Governance Update 

 Maribyrnong Defence Site Update 

 Delegates Report – July 2018 

 Assembly of Councillors – July 2018 

 Confirmation of the Minutes of the Previous Council 
Meeting – 24 July 2018 

Nil 

Councillor Strategic 
Briefing 

14 August 2018 

 

 

Cr Sarah Carter 

Cr Catherine Cumming 

Cr Gina Huynh 

Cr Cuc Lam 

Cr Martin Zakharov 

 

Stephen Wall (Chief Executive Officer) 

Celia Haddock (Director Corporate Services) 

Steve Hamilton (Director Infrastructure 
Services) 

Clem Gillings (Director Community Services)  

Nigel Higgins (Director Planning Services) 

Patrick Jess (Manager Leisure, Health and 
Wellbeing) 

Jason Cox (Service Desk & Desktop Support 
Officer) 

 M102 Water Main Renewal 

 RecWest Footscray Update 

 Festival City Update 

 Significant Development Site Update 

 Ombudsman Report Recommendations Update 

 40K Zone Implementation Update 

 Major Projects Update 

 Upcoming Openings and Events 

 Pick my Project 

 MAV State Council Motions 

 Investment Policy 2018 

 Feasibility Study – Single Use Plastics 

Nil 
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August 2018 

Meeting and Date Councillor Attendees Council Staff Attendees Matters Considered 
Conflict of 

Interest 
Disclosures 

NeXT Project 
Meeting 

20 August 2018 

Cr Sarah Carter 

Cr Simon Crawford 

Cr Catherine Cumming 

Cr Gina Huynh 

Cr Cuc Lam 

Cr Mia McGregory 

Cr Martina Zakharov 

Celia Haddock (Director Corporate Services) 

Steve Hamilton (Director Infrastructure 
Services) 

Clem Gillings (Director Community Services) 

Nigel Higgins (Director Planning Services) 

Gabrielle Castellen (Senior Strategic 
Projects and Planning Advisor) 

Michael Byrne (Manager Arts, Learning and 
Libraries) 

 NeXT Project (Footscray Library Community and 
Cultural Hub 

Nil 
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DELEGATES REPORTS - AUGUST 2018 
  

Director: Celia Haddock  
Director Corporate Services  

Author: Lisa King 
Manager Governance and Commercial Services 

 

PURPOSE 

To present the Councillor delegates’ reports for the period August 2018. 
 

ISSUES SUMMARY 

 The Councillor delegates’ reports demonstrate Council’s commitment to open and 
transparent governance. Details of Councillor Delegates Reports are presented to 
an Ordinary Council Meeting on a monthly basis, and made available on Council’s 
website.  

 As part of their governance and representations obligations, individual Councillors 
represent Council on a range of committees. The committees operate outside of 
the section 86 (of the Local Government Act 1989) Committees established by 
Council. 

 Councillor participation in peak associations, local and regional forums and 
specific issues committees is an important part of effective governance and 
representation. 

 Attached are the Councillor delegates’ reports for August 2018.  
 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Delegates Reports August 2018 ⇩      
 

OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

That Council notes the Councillor delegates’ reports August 2018 which will be 
made available on Council’s website for the term of the current Council. 
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Delegates Reports June 2018 
 
 
Delegate 
 

 
Committee 

 
Meeting Date 

 
Items Discussed 

Cr Mia McGregor 
Older Persons 
Reference Group 1 August 2018 

 CHSP/NDIS update 

 Seniors Festival 2018 

 Community Perception of Pokie Machines Research Project – Report 

 Arts and Culture Photography Project 

 Women’s Participation in Sport and Recreation in Melbourne’s West 

Cr Martin Zakharov 

Cr Sarah Carter 

Metropolitan 
Transport Forum 1 August 2018 

 Presentation: Michel Masson, CEO Infrastructure Victoria 

 MTF Strategic Public Transport Advocacy 

 Other advocacy 

 Council Information Sharing 

 Regular reports 

 General Business 

Cr Cuc Lam 

Maribyrnong 
Reconciliation 
Action Plan 
Advisory Committee 

2 August 2018 

 Review the draft Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP) 

 Other Business 

Cr Simon Crawford 

Cr Catherine Cumming 

Metropolitan Local 
Government Waste 
Forum 

9 August 2018 

 MWRRG Update 

 Recycling Industry Strategic Plan 

 Long term visions for waste and resource recovery 

 TARG update 

 SPAG update 

 Forum Operating Guidelines Review 

Cr Simon Crawford 

 

Maribyrnong Active 
Transport Advisory 
Committee 

 

13 August 2018 

 Terms of Reference 

 Strategy Overview 

o Bicycle Strategy 2014 

o Bicycle Strategy Refresh 

o Bike Day Outcomes – March 2018 

o Walking Strategy update 

 5 year and 10 year capital planning – cycling projects 

 Group Discussion 

 Council Projects Update 

o Maribyrnong River Trails 

o Shared User Paths – West Gate Tunnel Project 

o 2018/19 Cycling and Walking capital projects 

 Other Business 
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Delegate 
 

 
Committee 

 
Meeting Date 

 
Items Discussed 

Cr Mia McGregor 
RoadSafe 
WestGate  15 August 2018 

 Matters arising 

 Treasurer’s report 

o Financial report 

o Accounts for payment 

 Secretary’s Report 

o Correspondence 

o Other matters 

 Program Development/Information 

 Reports/Updates 

o VicRoads Update and Information 

o Council reports 

 Hobsons Bay 
 Maribyrnong 
 Melton 
 Wyndham 

o Program Reports 

 Older Drivers, Young Drivers, LAOM, Speeding, RoadSafety Messages 

 Police Reports 

 Advocacy 

 General Business 

o Annual General Meeting 

o 2017-2018 RoadSafe Westgate Annual Report 

Cr Simon Crawford 

Cr Catherine Cumming 

LeadWest Board 
Meeting 

15 August 2018 
 Process for agreeing future advocacy priorities 

 LeadWest’s Governance Report 

 Large-scale Renewal Energy Project 

 LeadWest’s Environment, Planning and Sustainability Group update 

 LeadWest’s Health and Wellbeing Group update 

 LeadWest’s Transport Group update 

 LeadWest’s Education and Economic Development Group update 

Cr Martin Zakharov 

MAV Arts and 
Culture Committee 

16 August 2018 
 Holistic approach to a strategic future 

 Local Government Live Music Toolkit feedback session 

 APRA AMCOS/PPCA proposed OneMusic Australia blanket licence fee scheme – Report 
and proposed way forward 

 MAV Update: Forum, Council Survey, 2019 Work Plan 

 Council reports 

 General Business 

o Update on Committee arrangements 

o Committee meetings for 2018 
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Delegate 
 

 
Committee 

 
Meeting Date 

 
Items Discussed 

Cr Cuc Lam 

Cr Sarah Carter 

Cr Simon Crawford 

Audit and Risk 
Committee 

21 August 2018 
 Draft Strategic Internal Audit Plan 2012-2021 

 Maribyrnong City Council 2017/2018 Financial Statements and Performance Statement 

 Interim Management Letter 

Cr Sarah Carter 
MAV Planning 
Committee 

23 August 2018 
 Native vegetation reforms 

 Environment Protection Reform 

 Strategic Planning Workload Survey 

 MAV Update and other discussion 

Cr Gina Huynh 

Cr Mia McGregor 

MAV Human 
Services Committee 

31 August 2018 
 MAV Key Issues Update and Standing items 

o Tripartite Agreement (Aged and Disability) 

o Call to Parties 

 Aged Care and Disability Services Reform 

 Crime Statistics Agency – crime data at the local level and information to assist councils 

 MAV WorkCover Scheme 

 Social Housing update 

 Council Reports 

 General Business 
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